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Foreword

Simon Banks, Chief Officer

Dr Sue Wells, Chair

We are very pleased to introduce the Annual Report for the year
2016/17.
2016/17 has seen a time of unprecedented challenges facing the NHS and Wirral is no
exception to this. With ever increasing demand, the CCG has faced difficult decisions in
order to manage its resources whilst retaining high quality and equitable services for the
people of Wirral.
Whilst the CCG has not achieved its statutory duty to deliver financial balance at year end,
as can be seen in the ‘service development’ section, the CCG has continued to focus on
reviewing and improving clinical pathways for the population it serves. In addition, in order
to ensure that Wirral resources are used in the most effective way, the CCG has made
significant strides in promoting closer collaboration with its health and social care partners,
both within Wirral and with its neighbours across Cheshire and Merseyside.
In order to develop a stronger grip on the CCG’s financial position, the CCG’s constitution
has been updated to ensure there is a clearer financial governance approach that is
embedded across the organisation.
We would like to take this opportunity to thank our staff and member practices as well as
our partners in health and social care.
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Publication Arrangements
The Annual Report and a full copy of the Annual Accounts will be
published on the Department of Health Website.
Paper copies and summary versions of (and alternative formats of) the Annual Report are
also available upon request to members of the public free of charge through the Corporate
Affairs Team.
If you would like to request a paper copy or a copy in an alternative format please contact:
• Paul Edwards, Director of Corporate Affairs – 0151 651 0011 pauledwards4@nhs.net
• Laura Wentworth, Corporate Affairs Manager – 0151 651 0011 l.wentworth@nhs.net
• Electronic copies of the Annual Report are also available on the CCG’s website https://
www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/about-us/plans-publications-and-reports/

Introduction
NHS Wirral CCG commissions services for people registered with 53 general practices
listed within the CCG area and this aligns with that of Wirral Borough Council.
Wirral has many strengths which include a growing economy, a narrowing productivity gap
between the Wirral and the North West as well as being strategically placed to take advantage
of its role within the Liverpool City Region and the Northern Powerhouse. It has a proven
record of supporting businesses and has a dynamic small business economy coupled with
a strong visitor economy.
Despite this there are significant inequalities, especially in relation to deprivation which is
most prevalent in Eastern Wirral which has some of the most deprived wards in England.
This drives poorer health outcomes and in these areas more people are likely to smoke,
have low levels of physical activity and poor diets. This is further exacerbated by low levels
of economic activity and productivity. In addition, the Wirral has an older age profile when
compared to the national average, especially those aged 65+, one in three of whom live
alone. This equates to around 24,000 older people in Wirral living alone.
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) commissions health care services for
people registered with 53 general practices listed within the CCG area and this aligns with
that of Wirral Borough Council.
As of 31st October 2016 we are responsible for a population of 335,198 (this figure represents
those registered with a GP practice).
The CCG is a membership organisation and all GP Practices on Wirral are signed up to the
CCG constitution which outlines the key duties and structures of the organisation. Further
details of our GP member practices can be found on our public website and on page 49 of
this report:
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-gp-practices/
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Mission and Values
We have a bold mission and vision statement which is supported by values that were
developed by our staff and members of the Governing Body.
Our mission is: “To commission high quality services which enable the people of Wirral
to improve their own health and well being”
Our vision is that: “People will have the opportunity to live longer healthier lives
regardless of where they live on Wirral.” This vision is underpinned by our values, which
are:

Our objectives are to:
• To empower the people of Wirral to improve their physical, mental health and general
well being
• To reduce health inequalities across the Wirral
• To adopt a health and well being approach in the way services are both commissioned
and provided
• To commission and contract for services that:
◦◦ Demonstrate improved person centred outcomes
◦◦ Are high quality and seamless for the patient
◦◦ Are safe and sustainable
◦◦ Are evidence based
◦◦ Demonstrate value for money
• To be known as one of the leading Clinical Commissioning Groups in the country
• Provide systems leadership in shaping the Wirral health and social care system so as to
be fit for purpose both now and in five years time
2

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Wirrals Joint Strategic Needs Assessment highlights a number of significant challenges to
the Health and Social Care System in respect of its resident population.
Some of the key population features are provided below:
Further information regarding the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment is available on our
website: http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/ourjsna/

Health Economy Profile
Wallasey
Birkenhead

West Kirby
Heswall

Bromborough

Using population estimates for
the Wirral Clinical Commissioning
Group area, Wirrals overall
population is projected to
increase by 3% between 2016
and 2035, from an estimated
321,300 in 2015 to 330,800 in
2028. Wirral has a relatively high
older population and a relatively
low proportion of people in their
twenties and thirties compared to
England and Wales as a whole.

The largest percentage increase is expected in the over 90s, where a 142% increase is
projected (an increase from around 3,000 people in 2015, to 8,000 people in 2035 (Wirral
Statistical Compendium, 2016). The biggest decreases will be in people in their forties and
fifties, where decreases of around 20% are likely.

Population Health Issues
As highlighted above, persistent inequalities have led to a wide range of local health and
social issues. However, the key areas of specific concern for the Wirral include:
• Alcohol is a major issue for Wirral, particularly hospital admissions related to alcohol
For example, the rate of alcohol-specific related admissions to hospital is double the
national average (689 per 100,000 in Wirral compared to 364 per 100,000 in England
in 2014/15 according to the Local Alcohol Profiles, 2017)
• It is estimated that there are around 4,200 adults with undiagnosed heart disease
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• The prevalence of hypertension (high blood pressure) is around one in seven of the
Wirral population, (15% or around 50,000 people), which is higher than the national
average. However, estimates suggest that the true figure could be much higher, and
that there could be a further 40,000 people in Wirral who do not know they are have
high blood pressure (Wirral CVD Profile, 2017)

• Teenage conceptions and breastfeeding rates both compare poorly to the national
average and hospital admissions due to injuries and deliberate self-harm in
younger people aged 15-24 years old are significantly higher than the national
average (Wirral Health Profile 2016)
• Around 34,000 people aged 65 or over reported that they had a Limiting LongTerm Illness, which is projected to increase to 46,000 by 2030 (POPPI, 2017)
• Around 650 people die in Wirral each year from smoking related causes, which is
significantly higher than the national rate (Tobacco Profile, 2017)
• Premature mortality (deaths in those aged under 75) is an issue locally, with
significantly higher rates of mortality from almost all the major causes of death
(cancer, liver disease, heart disease and respiratory disease) in Wirral compared
to England
• The number of new cases of female lung cancer outnumbered those in men in
2013 (144 cases versus 133 cases in men). Around 240 people die each year
from lung cancer in Wirral
• Almost 19,000 people currently have diagnosed diabetes in Wirral (6.5% of the
adult population), but there are estimated to be around 3,000 people who have
diabetes, but are not yet diagnosed, putting them at increased risk of complications
such as amputations and visual impairment. The number of patients with diabetes
is projected to reach 9.3% by 2030 if current levels of obesity continue (Diabetes
Profile, 2017)
• The number of people with a long-standing health condition caused by stroke is
projected to increase by a third (32%) by 2030 (POPPI, 2017)
• The most recent estimates suggest there are around 4,800 people (aged 65 or
over) living with dementia (POPPI, 2017)
Further information about the population of Wirral can be accessed via the Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment, which is available on: http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/ourjsna/
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Wirral Registered Population by Age Band
Mid 2015 Population Pyramid for Wirral
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As the figure below
shows, Wirrals
population structure is
weighted toward the
older age groups, with
large percentages of
the population aged
between 40 and 69.
This gives our local
pyramid shape typical
of developed countries
(i.e. not very pyramid
shaped).
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Wirral IMD Rank - Index of Multiple
Deprivation 2015
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 shows that Wirral was the 66th most deprived
of the 326 districts in England, compared to 60th in the 2010 IMD. This means that compared
to other areas of England, deprivation on Wirral has reduced over the last 5 years.
Demands for services are changing due to the changes in demography, lifestyle choices and
expectations of the public, below are the key challenges which are highlighted in the Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). With the information available, it is predicted that the
biggest burdens of ill health for the people of Wirral and the areas of challenge for the CCG
and wider health and social care economy are:
• Addressing the health inequalities within the Borough
• Respiratory disease
• Alcohol and alcohol related diseases
• Cancer
• Diabetes
• Heart disease and stroke
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1. Statement from Accountable
Officer
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England appointed Simon Banks to be the
Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group on 3rd April 2017.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping
proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in
the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, change in taxpayers’ equity and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with
the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the financial statements; and,
• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

Simon Banks
Accountable Officer

23/05/2017
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2. Performance Report

Over the past year, the CCG has developed processes and systems in order to track
the progress of its service providers (e.g. local hospitals, community services and
other providers) against a number of national outcomes indicators, and strives to
ensure that patients’ rights within the NHS Constitution are maintained.
The NHS Constitution gives patients specific rights, and these include:
• The right to begin treatment within 18 weeks of a GP referral (or within 62 days if
the referral is for cancer)
• The right to be seen, discharged or admitted to A&E within 4 hours of arrival
• In urgent cases, the right to an ambulance within 19 minutes of a 999 call
• Where an operation is cancelled at the last minute for non-clinical reasons, the
right to an operation within 28 days of the cancellation
The table below details what we have achieved in 2016/17 against these standards
(based on most recent intelligence):
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Target

2016/17
Full Year
Performance

92%

88.3%

0
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Patients waiting for a diagnostic test should be waiting less than
6 weeks from referral
A&E Waits

99%

99.5%

Patients should be admitted, transferred or discharged within 4
hours of their arrival at an A&E department
Cancer waits – 2 week wait

95%

85.7%

Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointments for
patients referred urgently with suspected cancer by a GP
Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointments for
patients referred urgently with breast symptoms (where cancer
was not initially suspected)
Cancer waits – 31 days

93%

95.7%

93%

96.2%

Maximum one month (31 day) wait from diagnosis to first
definitive treatment for all cancers
Maximum one month (31 day) wait for subsequent treatment
where that treatment is surgery
Maximum one month (31 day) wait for subsequent treatment
where that treatment is an anti-cancer drug regime
Maximum one month (31 day) wait for subsequent treatment
where that treatment is a course of radiotherapy
Cancer waits – 62 days

96%

98.2%

94%

97.5%

98%

99.6%

94%

97.9%

Maximum two month (62 days) wait from urgent GP referral to
first definitive treatment for cancer
Maximum two month (62 days) wait from referral from an NHS
Screening Service to first definitive treatment for all cancers
Ambulance calls

85%

82.9%

90%

94.6%

Red 1 calls resulting in an emergency response within 8 minutes

75%

68.6%

Red 2 calls resulting in an emergency response within 8 minutes

75%

64.6%

Category A calls with conveying ambulance on scene within 19
minutes
Mixed sex accommodation breaches

95%

92.2%

NHS Constitution Support Measures
Referral To Treatment waiting times for non-urgent
consultant-led treatment
Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start
treatment) should have been waiting no more than 18 weeks
from referral
Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start
treatment) should have been waiting no more than 52 weeks
from referral
Diagnostic test waiting times

Minimise breaches to zero

0

2016/17
Full Year
RAG
Rating

51

Cancelled operations
All patients who have operations cancelled on or after the day of 0
admission, for non-clinical reasons to be offered another binding
date within 28 days, or the patients treatment to be funded at the
time and hospital of the patients choice.

207
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Mental Health
Care programme approach (CPA): The proportion of people under 95%
adult mental illness specialities on CPA who were followed up
within 7 days of discharge from psychiatric in-patient care during
the period.
Ambulance Handover
Average Ambulance handover to clear within 30 minutes
30 mins

99.3%

35 mins

IAPT
Total percentage of patient population to access IAPT Services

15%

11.10%

Patients to be treated within 18 weeks of referral
Patients to be treated within 6 weeks of referral
Patients to be moved to recovery at discharge
Patients to be treated within 18 weeks of referral
Early Intervention Psychosis
Patients seen within 2 weeks of referral
Healthcare acquired infections
MRSA
Cdiff
Delayed Transfer of Care
Reduction when comparing against the previous year

95%
75%
50%
95%

95.72%
69.3%
41.1%
95.72%

50%

82%

0
0

3
76

1.49%

14.7%
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Performance Analysis
Referral to treatment waiting times increased across a number of specialities. This mirrors
the increased pressure on the health system which we are seeing nationally. A number
of consultant vacancies in Dermatology and Orthopaedics at Wirral University Teaching
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust contributed to increased waiting times. Following winter
pressures there has been a small improvement in incomplete pathways but an underlying
system and data issue at the Trust, which NHS Improvement are assisting them in correcting,
will continue to disrupt waiting times until April 2018.
The CCG is pro-actively working on a number of transformational projects which will
considerably reduce waiting times across a number of specialities.
In partnership with NHS England, the CCG has developed a detailed demand management
plan to assist in easing pressures on secondary by ensuring only appropriate referrals are
sent to consultant-led services. The demand management plan includes;
• The introduction of a Musculoskeletal Triage Service, which will see, assess and treat
patients in the community, improving the areas surgical conversion rates.
• The on-going development of the procedures of limited clinical priority tool (PLCP).
• On-going promotion of the Consultant Connect scheme which enables GPs to ring
directly through to a secondary care consultant for an opinion prior to referring.
• A secondary care, follow up appointment cap, which ensures providers are not missallocating clinic slots.
• The Gastrointestinal ‘Right Care’ Pathway review, which seeks to bring Wirral pathways
in-line with best national practice.
• Primary Care quality scheme, which incentivises GPs to explore all appropriate
interventions prior to a secondary care referral.
Those providers breaching a 52 week wait undergo a detailed root cause analysis. It has
been investigated and confirmed that all 6 breaches were due to patients refusing to accept
earlier appointments for treatment.
Diagnostic services across Wirral continue to improve with standards continuously being
achieved since August 2016. A new prime provider contract for direct access to diagnostic
services has been awarded to Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust,
making all diagnostic services accountable under a single contract.
The A&E 4 hour wait target has not been achieved this year.
This is reflective of the increased pressure on the department. A&E attendances are up 1%
(around 1000 more attendances than planned), with the demographic of increased attendees
being the elderly with more complex health requirements.
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The CCG is undertaking a number of work streams to improve access and efficiency of our
urgent care services, these include:
• Development of the urgent care recovery group, which focusses on streamlining existing
services, introducing initiatives such as ambulance corridor management, deflection to
walk in centres and nurse handover to release crews
• Urgent care transformation work stream, which builds on work from the value stream
analysis events, this process will seek to engage the Wirral community on how it best
uses its urgent care resources
• Better care fund (BCF) schemes, which include improvement schemes around patient
discharge. The BCF has commissioned additional green car ambulance support which
assists in admission prevention and the on-going development of tele-triage for care
homes
All two week and one month cancer targets are being achieved consistently by the CCG.
The CCG is failing one 62 day referral to first definitive treatment standard.
A detailed root cause analysis has been undertaken and has identified a blockage in the
pathway around the use of specialist robotic equipment.
This has been addressed with the Trust and a number of training and utilisation improvements
are currently being implemented to resolve this issue.
Ambulance conveyances are at an unprecedented high with a 24 hour period in March
seeing over 120 ambulance uses, which in an increase in conveyances of over 25%.
The matter was raised and reported to both the County-wide Governance Group and Wirral
Urgent Care Recovery Group, data analysis and investigation identified that the system is
operating at full capacity and the general rise in activity that follows the traditional winter
pressure trend has further impacted on an already stretched resource.
The impact of NHS 111 calls being transferred to 999 urgent Care Desk was analysed and
there is no evidence or suggestion that increased pressures are solely the result of the
change to NHS 111 for Out of Hours call handling and decision making by non-clinical staff.
The NWAS Respond & Refer Car known as the Green Car has had its hours extended and
now offers a 7 day service, closer work links are too be established with Single Integrated
Gateway and the Rapid Community Response Service to provide greater access to alternative
services at weekends with the expressed target of helping to reduce the number of weekend
ambulance conveyances to WUTH.
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A recovery group has been established to ensure the risk posed by excessive waiting
times is mitigated. NHS England and NHS Improvement are both assisting the CCG
within its review of the current service and have taken a decision to not renew the contract
with the current provider.
Commissioned out of hospital Care is a service hosted by South and Vale Royal
CCG’s on behalf of Wirral CCG
In 2016/17:
• The service had a 20% increase in referrals
• 13% more patients were assessed for Continuing Health Care/Complex Care
• There was a 17% increase in patients who were in receipt of continuing health care/
complex care
• In addition to dealing with the increase in demand into the service, waiting times
have reduced
• The performance for “fastrack” patients has increased form 72% to 91%, Fastrack
patients are often those who are approaching their end of life and so this important
to support someone who wishes to die at home
• The service has facilitated a 23% increase in Personal Health Budgets. Personal
Health Budgets offer patients greater control and flexibility have have been shown
to bring improved health outcomes
• Enhanced transition arrangements have been brought into place for young people
who are moving form Children’s Continuing Health care to adult services
• A patient advisory group has been established for the service to received guidance
and feedback from patients and members of the public on service changes that will
help the patient experience
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My NHS Ratings
The Five Year Forward View (October 2014) and the Planning Guidance set out
national ambitions for transformation in six vital clinical priorities:
1. Cancer
2. Dementia
3. Diabetes
4. Learning Disabilities
5. Maternity and mental health
To reinforce the collective efforts in these areas, independent panels have been
established and these panels have defined their approaches to creating an assessment for each clinical priority area for 2016/17 year end.
As part of the new Clinical Commissioning Group Improvement and Assessment
Framework (CCGIAF) for 2016/17, an initial baseline rating for the six clinical
priority areas has been published on My NHS. The rating has been derived from
the indicators in the new framework looking at CCGs’ baseline performance
using the most recent data available as at the end of June 2016. The baseline
rating will then provide a starting point for future assessments.
For the 2016/17 year-end ratings, these will be published in June 2017, and the
CCG will address any areas that need improvement once the results have been
published.
The overall baseline rating published in 2016 (see table below) provides only a
snapshot, based on using the most recent data available for the CCGIAF indicators
as at the end of June 2016. It is a snapshot of whether CCGs are meeting national
ambitions where relevant, or how their performance in other respects compares
with other CCGs. Many are directly relevant to clinical outcomes, such as cancer
early diagnosis. With that in mind, the CCG has utilised the data in supporting it
to drive improvements in care and support and accessing any appropriate tools
/ offers available to support the achievement against these measures. Some of
this work is evidenced in the service improvements section and demonstrates
that the CCG is actively addressing areas where improvement may be required.
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NHS Wirral CCG
Clinical
Priority Area

Overall
Rating

Indicator Ratings
48.3%

Needs
Improvement
Cancer

84.7%

Of people with
New of cases of
an urgent GP
cancer diagnosed
referral having
at stage 1 and 2
first definitive
as a proportion
treatment for
of all new
cancer within
cases of cancer
62 days of
diagnosed
referral

68.8%
Of adults
diagnosed with any
type of cancer in a
year who are still
alive one year after
diagnosis.

69.5 %

Needs
Improvement

91.0%
Of responses,
which were
positive to the
question “Overall,
how would you
rate your care?”

76.7%

Estimated diagnosis rate for
people with dementia

Of patients diagnosed with dementia
whose care plan has been received a
face-to-face review in the preceding 12
months

Dementia
Less then 25% participation

Diabetes

Greatest
need for
improvement
- Poor
Participation

Of diabetes patients have
achieved all the NICErecommended treatment targets

Less then 25%
participation
Of people with
diabetes diagnosed
for less than a
year who attended
a structured
education course

64

Needs
improvement
Learning Disabilities

85.7

Performing
well
Maternity

Needs
improvement
Mental Health

Of GP practices
that participated
in the National
Diabetes
Audit

63%

Rate of inpatients per million
GP registered adult population
for each Transforming Care
Partnership. CCGs are then
assigned the score of the TCP
they belong to
71.6

The score out of
100 for women’s
experience
of maternity
services based
on the 2015
CQC National
Maternity
Services
Survey

7.3%

The score
out of 100
for choices
offered to
women in
maternity
services
based on
the National
Maternity
Services
Survey

Of people with a learning disability who
are on the GP register and receiving an
annual health check during the year.
Measured as a percentage of the CCG’s
registered learning disability population
6.5

10.3%

The rate of
stillbirths and
deaths within 28
days of birth per
1,000 live births
and stillbirths,
reported at CCG of
residence level by
calendar year.

Of women who
were smokers at
the time of delivery

42.0%

94.7%

Of people who were initially
assessed as ‘at caseness’
attended at least two treatment
contacts, are coded as
discharged, and are assessed as
moving to recovery

Of people with first episode of psychosis
starting treatment with a NICErecommended package of care and
treated within 2 weeks of referral
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Financial Performance
The 2016/17 financial statements (year-end accounts) have been prepared under
a direction as issued by NHS England under the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended by 14Z15 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 Reports by clinical
commissioning groups) and in accordance with appropriate accounting standards.

Statutory Financial Duties
The financial statements included within this annual report highlight another challenging
year for the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), the statutory financial duties are
outlined below:
Revenue Resource Limit
• The CCG has a statutory duty to contain its revenue expenditure within its notified
revenue resource limit
• The CCG received a revenue resource limit of £492.518 million for the 2016/17
financial year but reported a deficit of £7.128 million against this resource (1.45%
away from a break-even position)
• NHS England Business Rules required CCG’s to plan for a minimum 1% surplus
and the CCG did not meet this requirement
Capital Resource Limit
• The CCG has a statutory duty to contain any capital expenditure within its notified
capital resource limit
• The CCG received no capital resource during 2016/17 and incurred no capital
expenditure
Expenditure not to exceed income received
• The CCG has a statutory duty for expenditure not to exceed income. The CCG
did not meet this requirement
• The CCG expenditure for 2016/17 was £499.646 million, compared to income of
£492.518 (million)
Running Costs Allocation
• The CCG has a statutory duty not to exceed its running cost allocation via
expenditure on administration costs
• The CCG administration expenditure for 2016/17 was £5.435 million against an
allocation of £7.107 million
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Supporting Requirements
Cash Management

The CCG must ensure that it does not exceed its approved level of cash available within the
financial year.
The CCG has had an effective cash management approach in 2016/17 financial year,
achieving its target of holding a minimal cash balance at the end of each financial period.
The CCG held a minimal cash balance of £16k at the end of the financial year which was
below the target set by NHS England for CCG’s to hold a maximum 1.25% month end cash
balance of the main cash draw-down (circa £464k).

Better Payment Practice Code

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay
all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is
later.
The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within agreed
contract terms.
Details of compliance with the code are given in the notes to the financial statements. In
addition to the statutory duties, all NHS organisations were required to make payments
to their creditors within 30 days (unless other terms have been agreed). The target is for
CCG’s to pay 95% of invoices within this time-scale.
The CCG is an approved signatory of the Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was devised
by the government with The Institute of Credit Management (ICM) to tackle the crucial issue
of late payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have confidence in any company
that signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms, and that there is
a proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.
Approved signatories undertake to:
• Pay suppliers on time
• Give clear guidance to suppliers, and
• Encourage good practice
Further information on the code can be found at www.Promptpaymentcode.org.uk
Measure of Compliance

2016/2017
Number

£m

10,336
10,169
98.38%

78,125,783
77,540,213
99.25%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year

2,843

359,393,754

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target

2,826

359,032,958

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

99.40%

99.90%

NHS non payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid
within target

The CCG has consistently met the target of 95% throughout 2016/17
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Summary of Financial
Performance

Financial Resources and Deficit Position

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group received a final resource allocation of
£492.518 million for the 2016/17 financial year which was made of £7.107 million for
running costs (admin) and £485.411 million for programme expenditure.
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Groups expenditure for 2016/17 financial year
was £494.211 million programme expenditure and £5.435 million on running costs
(admin). The resulting performance was that the CCG did not achieve its planned
surplus figure of £0.394 million but posted a deficit of £7.128 million.
As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCG’s were required to hold a
1 percent reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside
the monies that CCG’s were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was
intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation
priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively
mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS
England has been unable to allow CCG’s 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent.
Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS Wirral CCG has released its 1%
reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year of £4.9m.
This additional surplus has been offset against other cost pressures from the current
financial year.
It had become clear during the year that the planned surplus of £0.394m was not
going to be achievable, as the Quality Innovation Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)
programme required to achieve this would have been in the region of £17.5m, and
the CCG did not have scheme plans in place to deliver QIPP on this scale. Following
discussions with NHS England, a revised forecast of £7.130m deficit (after release
of 1% headroom) was agreed. The actual deficit posted of £7.128m is within this
revised forecast. During the year there have been significant pressures against
Commissioned out of Hospital expenditure (Packages of Care) as well as increased
activity across a number of expenditure areas, NHS Providers, Spire Murrayfield and
Locally Commissioned Services.
2016-17 Resource
Allocation £million

2016-17 Actual
Expenditure £million

Variance £million

Programme

485.411

494.211

8.80

Running Costs

7.107

5.435

(1.67)

Total

492.518

499.646

7.13
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CCG 2016/2017 Expenditure
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group spent its resources as follows:
2016-17 Planned
Expenditure £million
345.964
16.907

2016-17 Actual
Expenditure £million
347.247
17.393

Variance
£million
1.28
0.49

Prescribing
Commissioned out of
Hospital
Primary Care

61.457
34.361

60.867
38.738

(0.59)
4.38

4.591

4.186

(0.40)

Better Care Fund

24.943

24.622

(0.32)

Other

(3.205)

1.158

4.363

Total Programme
Expenditure
Running costs

485.017

494.211

9.194

7.107

5.435

(1.664)

Planned Surplus
Total

0.394
492.518

0
499.646

(0.394)
7.128

NHS contracts
Non NHS contracts

An analysis of 2016/17 programme expenditure shows that the majority of the CCG expenditure
relates to services commissioned with NHS Providers (70%), with prescribing expenditure
(12%) and commissioned out of hospital care (for example Continuing Healthcare, Fully /
Joint Funded packages of care) (8%) resulting in 90% of overall resources being utilised
in these areas. The remaining 10% consists of expenditure with other non-NHS providers
(4%), Better Care Fund (5%) and other commissioning expenditure (1%).
70% NHS Contracts
4% Non NHS Contracts

12% Prescribing

8%

Commissioned out of
hospital

1% Primary Care
5% Better Care Fund
0% Other
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NHS Contracts
The 2016/17 expenditure with NHS provider organisations of £347.25 million is shown in
the table below:
Provider

Type of Service

£Million

%

Wirral University Teaching
Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust*

Acute services

228.16

65.7%

Wirral Community NHS
Foundation Trust (WCT) *
Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust (CWP) *
North West Ambulance
Service NHS Trust (NWAS)
Non-Wirral ‘Acute’ /
‘Secondary Care’ Providers
Non-Contracted Activity
(NCA)
Total NHS Contracts

Community Services

43.21

12.4%

Mental Health and
Learning Disability
services
Ambulance

32.94

9.5%

12.32

3.5%

Various

27.98

8.1%

Various

2.64

0.8%

347.25

100%

*Excludes Better Care Fund expenditure
65.7% of the CCGs expenditure is with our local acute provider Wirral University Teaching Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust. A detailed breakdown of ‘Acute’ / ‘Secondary Care’ Providers (Non-Wirral)
Activity £27.98 million (8.1% of total expenditure) is illustrated below:
Royal Liverpool and
27% Broadgreen University
Teaching Hospital NHS Trust
11%

Aintree University Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

16%

Countess of Chester Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

10% Liverpool Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust
8%

Alder Hey Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust

South Staffordshire and
9% Shropshire Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust
Liverpool Heart and Chest
6% Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
14%Other non Wirral providers
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NHS Contracts Commentary
The main performance issues with commissioned services from NHS providers are highlighted
below:

Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (WUTH)

The 2016/17 contract with WUTH was set based on a block contract value of £229 million,
(including Better Care Fund) with a cap of £230.5 million.
This was designed to support the Trust in its clinical transformation and to ensure the delivery
of the NHS constitutional standards through the re- investment of penalties and sanctions.
The £1.5m to reach the cap was not utilised and the final amount recorded in the accounts
was £229m (including Better Care Fund).
In order to monitor and manage performance during the year, the CCG monitored the contract
as if it were a payment by results contract, and the performance at the end of the financial
year is split as illustrated in the table below:
2016-17
Contract plan
£million

2016-17 Actual
Expenditure
£million

Variance
(£million)

Elective and Day Case

42.80

42.47

(0.33)

Outpatient Attendances

26.54

26.00

(0.53)

Outpatient Procedures

5.88

5.62

(0.26)

Accident & Emergency

10.16

9.99

(0.17)

Non-Elective

69.64

71.66

2.01

8.24

7.90

(0.34)

Maternity

5.37

5.42

0.05

Diagnostic Imaging

2.12

2.20

0.08

Non-PbR (incl CQUIN)

57.24

56.12

(1.11)

Contract Sanctions &
Penalties

0.00

(4.49)

(4.49)

Better Care Fund

1.02

1.00

(0.02)

Subtotal

229.00

223.89

(5.11)

Reinvestment

0.00

5.11

5.11

Total

229.00

229.00

0.00

Planned Care

Unplanned Care

Non-Elective NonEmergency
Other
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Other NHS Providers

There has been significant activity over performance across a number of other NHS contracts.
In particular, Wirral Community NHS Foundation Trust (£0.278m), Liverpool Heart & Chest
NHS Foundation Trust (£0.255m), Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS
Trust (£0.253m), Countess of Chester Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (£0.192m), Liverpool
Women’s NHS Foundation Trust (£0.189m) and Aintree University Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust (£0.179m).

Non-NHS Contracts

For non-NHS providers, 2016/17 expenditure of £17.4 million, the main providers are set out
below:
• Spire Murrayfield (£6.367 million)
• Locally Commissioned Services (£2.909 million)
• Peninsula Health LLP (£1.887 million)
• Spa Media (£1.383 million)
• One 2 One Midwives (£0.825 million)
Expenditure in the Spire Murrayfield contract is predominantly within the elective (48%) and
day case (33%) points of delivery based on referrals into the provider. The activity covers
various specialties in particular trauma and orthopaedics which accounts for 66% of the total
expenditure.
Locally Commissioned Services are various providers for cost per case community services.
The main areas of expenditure are Physiotherapy 31% (of total expenditure), Ophthalmology
20% and Audiology 19%.
There are numerous services provided under the Peninsula contract. The main areas
of expenditure are Ear Nose and Throat 19% (of the total expenditure), Podiatry 14%,
Physiotherapy 14% and Audiology 14%.
Non-NHS Contracts have seen over performance in year against planned expenditure with
the highest variances being at Spire Murrayfield, Spire Liverpool and Extended Choice
Networks.

Commissioned Out Of Hospital

Expenditure relating to Commissioned Out of Hospital care consists in the main of Continuing
Healthcare and Fully funded / Jointly funded packages of healthcare with partners in Adult
Social Services.
Expenditure within this category continues to be a significant growth area of expenditure for
the clinical commissioning group and has increased over the last few financial years on a
consistent basis.

21

Prescribing

The Prescribing expenditure
year end position, based on
February EPACT data was
£60.87 million, which is a 1%
favourable under spend of
£0.6 million against plan.
There has been an improved
and
effective
working
relationship with the Medicines
Management team from the
Midlands and Lancashire
Commissioning
Support
Unit, in conjunction with the
continued
and
improved
practice reporting from the
Business Intelligence team.
This has resulted in the ability to enhance the assessment and understanding of the previous
year’s prescribing cost and volume growth, identify and monitor potential recurrent QIPP
opportunities and assess and manage associated financial risks.

Other Expenditure Areas

The CCG held a contingency of £2.470 million as part of its agreed financial plan in respect
of any potential variances against planned levels of activity. Given the pressures highlighted
regarding Commissioned out of Hospital, NHS contracts and Non-NHS contracts, the
contingency has been fully utilised, and also slippage against planned commitments within
both recurrent and non-recurrent budgeted expenditure has contributed to the financial
position described above.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

The CCG’s financial statements have been prepared based on International Financial
Reporting Standards (see accounting policy note within financial statements).
Losses and Special Payments
The CCG recorded £37k of losses in 2016/17 and no special payments. These losses
related to the write off of outstanding debts in relation to five organisations/individuals where
recovery was not possible, in a number of circumstances due to the organisation concerned
being in liquidation. There were no losses due to theft or damage, but should any occur the
CCG as part of its risk management processes, would follow up all thefts of equipment and
damage to buildings, and endeavours to minimise such incidents in the future. All amounts
identified for write-off are scrutinised and formally approved by the Audit Committee.
Accounting policies
There were no significant changes to accounting policies used during the financial year, other
than some minor changes of disclosure which do not impact the financial values recorded in
the primary statements. Where minor changes have been made these are fully recorded in
the notes to the financial statements.
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Sustainable Development
NHS Wirral CCG takes its responsibilities to the environment very seriously. It undertakes a
range of measures that are mindful of the future environment and these include:
• Recycling paper and plastics regularly
• Lighting is motion operated and hence when rooms are not utilised, lights automatically
switch off
• Staff are actively encouraged to turn off their computers at the end of each working day
• All procurements require potential providers to describe their approach to sustainability
• Operating the majority of business from a single site that reduced usage of cars
• Encouraging car sharing when attending off-site meetings
• Purchasing new, more efficient and environmentally friendly printers
• Promoting back to back printing where paper copies are required (for example,
Governing Body papers for members of the public)
• Using tablet computers for staff who frequently attend meetings, reducing the need for
hard paper copies
• Storing scanned documents electronically where legally appropriate
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s Headquarters are currently located in Old
Market House, Birkenhead and is based on rental lease agreement with NHS Property
Services. The CCG is not the sole tenant of this building and occupies approximately 20%.
Therefore, data supplied below shows Old Market House in its entirety:

Utility Usage and Cost

Financial Data (Spend):
Total Energy Cost (all energy supplies)
Electricity Cost
Gas Cost
Water Cost
Resource Use:
Electricity Consumed
Gas Consumed
Water/Sewerage Consumed

Units
£

Units
kWh
m3

2016/17
15,451
11,006
1,478
2,967
2016/17
99,208
51,576
522

2016/2017 Building Breakdown

Building Breakdown

Building Name
Tenant Occupancy
Total Tenant Area (m2)
Electricity Cost 16/17
Electricity Consumption 16/17
Gas Cost 16/17
Gas Consumption 16/17
Water Cost 16/17
Water Consumption 16/17

Old Market House
19.78%
1033.86
11006.02
99207.81
1478.23
51576.40
2967.24
521.98
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Improve Quality
As outlined in the Health and Social Care Act 2013, the CCG has a duty to ensure improvement
in the quality of services, and as such must exercise its functions with a view to securing
continuous improvement in the quality of services provided to individuals for or in connection
with the prevention, diagnosis or treatment of illness. In order to fulfil this requirement, during
2016/17 Wirral CCG has ensured that the mechanisms that have been established remain
robust so ensure that high quality and safe care is commissioned and maintained. NHS
Wirral CCG has a number of mechanisms by which it ensures it addressed the quality of
services. These are listed below:

Clinical Quality Review Meetings
As part of the contractual process, quality review meetings are held with each acute,
community and mental health provider organisation. In 2016/17 this has included hospices
and independent providers. These meetings that focus on quality providing an opportunity to
review areas for improvement and good practice and to monitor any improvement activities.
These meeting provide a robust mechanism where commissioners and providers can work
together to identify and strive to meet standards that will serve to deliver services and improve
quality. Relationships have been established to support local accountability and response to
local needs and requirements.
Improvements have been made in a number of areas following the work undertaken in these
meetings including ensuring that all providers have a robust process for identifying and
dealing with adverse incidents, including informing the patient. There is a well-established
process for learning across the Health and Social Care System when a Health Care Acquired
Infection (HCAI) occurs in order to prevent further infections and a process established to
eliminate use of inappropriate mixed sex accommodation.

Quality Review Meetings

These are undertaken on an ad-hoc basis within provider organisations and provide
intelligence to gain assurance that there are robust measures in place within an organisation
to ensure that high quality care is in place, or to identify areas where improvement is required.
The reviews are conducted by a small clinical team from the CCG using a defined criteria
based on Care Quality Commission (CQC) standards to assess the standard of care, staffing
and patient experience.
Visits that have taken place in 2016/17 have included Wirral University Teaching Hospital
Emergency Department, One to One (Northwest) midwives, and Inclusion Matters Wirral.
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Quality and Performance Committee

This sub-committee of the CCG Governing Body provides members with assurance in
relation to the systems and processes that have been put in place with regard to quality by
the organisation. This includes regular reports on complaints, serious incidents and never
events to identify trends and themes across commissioned services. The committee also
reviews inspection reports from regulatory bodies e.g. Care Quality Commission (CQC).

Quality Surveillance Group (QSG)
A network of Quality Surveillance Groups has been established across the country to bring
together different parts of health and care systems locally and in each region of England to
routinely share information and intelligence to protect the quality of care patients receive.
Over the past year, Wirral CCG has played an active role in the Cheshire, Warrington and
Wirral Quality Surveillance Group which is held on alternate months. Through 2016/17, the
Quality Surveillance Group has undertaken thematic reviews in a number of areas, including
Maternity Services and Mental Health Services.
The local health economy still has challenges to meet to improve the quality of patients care.
These are to:
• Reduce levels of harm in the event of serious incidents in particular never events
• Reduce Healthcare Acquired Infections (HCAI’s)
• Prevent Pressure Ulcers
• Consistently achieving against the four hour A&E standard

Single Item Quality Surveillance Group (QSG)
If quality concerns arise within a single organisation based on an outcome of a review or
soft intelligence, the CCG with support from NHS England will convene a Single Item Quality
Surveillance Group. The aim of the meeting is :
• To gain a collective understanding of issues
• To gain assurance that the organisation will develop a coherent, robust and sustainable
plan to tangible mitigate risks and progress improvements at pace
• To discuss and agree any offers of support from commissioners
• Consider any additional implications
During 2016/17, there have not been any Single Item Quality Surveillance Group’s undertaken
with any providers, however the CCG has undertaken a Quality Risk Profile in order to
assess quality and risks of a provider.

Safeguarding Boards
CCG’s are also required to demonstrate that they have appropriate systems in place for
discharging their statutory duties in terms of safeguarding vulnerable adults and children.
These include:
• A clear line of accountability for safeguarding, properly reflected in the CCG governance
arrangements, i.e. a named executive lead to take overall leadership responsibility for
the organisation’s safeguarding arrangements
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• Clear policies setting out their commitment, and approach, to safeguarding including
safe recruitment practices and arrangements for dealing with allegations against people
who work with children and adults as appropriate
• Training their staff in recognising and reporting safeguarding issues, appropriate
supervision and ensuring that their staff are competent to carry out their responsibilities
for safeguarding
• Effective inter-agency working with local authorities, the police and this sector
organisations which includes appropriate arrangements to cooperate with local
authorities in the operation of Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards, Safeguarding
Adults Boards and Health and Wellbeing Boards
• Ensuring effective arrangements for information sharing
• Employing, or securing, the expertise of Designated Doctors and Nurses for Safeguarding
Children and for Looked After Children and a Designated Paediatrician for review of
unexpected deaths in childhood
• Having a Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults (DNSA) which should include the
Adult Safeguarding lead role and a lead for the Mental Capacity Act, supported by the
relevant policies and training
• Effective systems for responding to abuse and neglect of adults
• Supporting the development of a positive learning culture across partnerships for
safeguarding adults to ensure that organisations are not unduly risk averse
During 2016/17, the CCG remains an active member of the Adult and Children’s Safeguarding
Boards and sub-groups. During this period, the Adults board has had a focus on self-neglect
and has participated in a research programme in this area.
Children’s Services and the Children’s Safeguarding Board underwent OFSTED visits in July
2016. The Services and Board were rated inadequate. The CCG is part of the improvement
board which has been developed to oversee the implementation of the recommendations.
In 2016/17 the CCG has undertaken specific quality work on the following areas:
Care Homes
Integrated work is undertaken with the Local Authority to ensure that there is a consistent
approach with to the management of quality within Care homes. Over the past year 10
care homes in Wirral have signed up to the national initiative ‘React to Red’. This is a
national pressure ulcer prevention campaign that is committed to educating as many people
as possible about the dangers of pressure ulcers. It is expected that this initiative will reduce
the incidents in pressure ulcers within the care home setting.
Health Care Acquired Infections (HCAI)
The reduction in HCAI remains a priority for the CCG and a number of work-streams have
been established. A post infection review panel is undertaken for every C-difficle and MRSA
case identified. This role of the panel is to ensure that the case is assigned to the responsible
organisation, areas of good practice identified and lapses in care fed back to the provider/
practice. This approach ensures that there is shared learning across the economy. The
outcome of this process in 2016/17 has seen a decrease in MRSA cases. In 2015/16 there
were 7 cases and in 2016/17 there were 3 cases. The Community Infection prevention
& control team’s service specification has been strengthened in order to support the
achievement of outcomes in 2017/18.
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Continuing Health Care/Complex Care
Commissioned out of hospital Care is a service hosted by South and Vale Royal CCG’s on
behalf of Wirral CCG.
In 2016/17:
• The service had a 20% increase in referrals
• 13% more patients were assessed for Continuing Health Care/Complex Care
• There was a 17% increase in patients who were in receipt of continuing health care/
complex Care
In addition to dealing with the increase in demand into the service, waiting times have
reduced:
• The performance for “fastrack” patients has increased form 72% to 91%, “fastrack”
patients are often those who are approaching their end of life and so this important to
support someone who wishes to die at home.
• The service has facilitated a 23% increase in Personal Health Budgets. Personal Health
Budgets offer patients greater control and flexibility have been shown to bring improved
health outcomes.
• Enhanced transition arrangements have been brought into place for young people who
are moving form Children’s Continuing Health care to adult services.
• A patient advisory group has been established for the service to received guidance and
feedback from patients and members of the public on service changes that will help the
patient experience.
Serious Incidents - Maternity Reporting
The CCG was part of a project team to improve incident reporting across maternity providers,
improve learning and sharing, reduce variation and develop more consistency for serious
incident reporting across Cheshire and Merseyside. Three additional categories have been
added to the incident list which have led to an increase in reporting.
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Patient and Public Involvement
Involvement/Engagement and Consultation
NHS Wirral CCG fully recognises its duty to involve and engage its stakeholders in the
planning and delivery of services that it commissions.
Our stakeholders are wide ranging and include patients who currently use services and
the wider community on Wirral. All GP practices are members of the CCG and recognising
this we have progressed a comprehensive range of engagement activity to build a strong
foundation with our membership. This has included regular members meeting and a clinical
education programme for GP members and nurses. There is also a Lay Member, Patient
Champion the CCG’s Governing Body.
We have put in place a new Communications and Engagement Strategy which seeks to
enhance awareness of our work, how we develop new services and importantly how we
engage people in the change that is necessary as the NHS nationally and locally deals with
ever increasing demands on its services and resources. The primary aim of our approach
is to be open, honest and transparent about what we do and to seek views from as many
people as possible. In addition, we have worked more with our local NHS organisations on
joint initiatives over the last year with the increasing aim of speaking as ‘one NHS’ to the
people of Wirral.
Our engagement over the last year has been varied, ranging from the development of new
strategies and services to us undertaking formal consultations about proposed changes.
We have further developed the ways in which we communicate and engage by significantly
increasing the use of social media and this has positively improved engagement and
participation. The use of on line methods to engage and consult is increasingly important
and we have ensured that our new website is fully accessible to people with hearing or visual
impairments and to those whose first language isn’t English. We have also developed our
capability in producing Easy Read versions of our important publications such as consultation
proposals.
Some of the highlights of our involvement, engagement and consultation activity are
summarised below:

Learning Disability Strategy
As part of this important strategy development we completed a number of engagement
events at Adult Day Centres on Wirral for people with a learning disability as well as a
service user group at Wirral MENCAP.
These events were fun and participative and focussed on three themes, Staying Healthy,
Staying Active and Staying Safe.
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The participation of those who attended helped tailor the priorities prior to this strategy being
approved by NHS Wirral CCG and Wirral Borough Council. We are proud of our partnership
with ‘Together all are able’ which is a local self-advocacy group made up of people with a
learning disability or autism, they are acting as a critical friend to us as we begin to implement
the strategy.

Stay Well This Winter Campaign
The winter period is always a difficult time for the NHS as more people need to use its
services and this creates increased demand.
We built on the national Stay Well campaign by developing a more tailored engagement
approach for the Wirral which included a ‘Self Care’ video, encouraging people to make the
right choice when feeling unwell with common conditions as cold/flu.
We will be building on this approach next year by featuring local staff from the NHS and the
public in our awareness campaigns.

Patient Voice Group
The General Practitioner (GP) practices on Wirral have active participation from patients by
facilitating Patient Participation Groups. Representatives from a number of these groups
form the Patient Voice Group which meets regularly and during the last year has received a
number of presentations and briefings from the CCG.
Some of these have been during our formal consultation periods as an established stakeholder
group and some have been responsive to emerging issues that have been identified
through GP practices. In particular, it was identified that the Community Phlebotomy service
commissioned by the CCG was not meeting the needs of all patients and the group fed this
back to the CCG. We were responsive to this and the group were actively been involved in
putting in place an interim service model prior to a full procurement process taking place in
2017/18.

Formal Consultations
The NHS is operating in an increasingly challenging environment and this means that as a
CCG we must consider how best to use our allocated resources in the most efficient way
whilst maintaining the quality of care delivered.
We recognised that in order to make informed decisions about proposed changes, we
needed to move beyond our usual engagement activity and undertake a number of formal
consultations. This means publishing proposals and following a structured process and
completing stakeholder engagement and consultation.
We have integrated statutory guidance into our formal consultation processes. In addition
to complying with the recommended 60 or 90 consultation period we have also developed
a robust pre consultation and engagement framework which is adopted as part of any
formal consultation we conduct. This includes informal engagement with clinicians, patient
representatives and other stakeholders including Healthwatch Wirral.
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This gives us an opportunity to seek views on our initial proposals and amend them if
necessary prior to starting a formal consultation period.
We also undertake initial Quality and Equality Assessments so we can understand the
impact of any proposals from a clinical quality perspective and on individuals or groups with
‘protected characteristics’ such as disability, gender or age. These assessments are further
reviewed following the consultation period so our Governing Body can reach decisions whilst
having the full range of available information.

Service Review Policy Consultation
NHS Wirral CCG has historically adopted the Cheshire and Merseyside Commissioning
Policy for ‘Procedures of Lower Clinical Priority’. This policy sets out a number of procedures
that are either not routinely commissioned or require a set threshold to be met prior to a
referral or procedure being undertaken.
We undertook a process to review the current policy with local healthcare professionals
against evidence of best practice, clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness. Following
this, a list of procedures to be potentially added or amended within the policy were identified.
A final list was agreed for public consultation and shared with NHS England, the procedures
were categorised into the following clinical specialties:
• Cosmetic procedures
• Dermatology
• Ear, Nose and Throat
• Fertility treatments (including sterilisation)
• Trauma and Orthopaedics as well as Musculoskeletal
• Urology and Urogynaecology
This consultation was done in partnership with our neighbouring CCG’s in Cheshire to
ensure that we had a consistent approach to our proposals. We also sought to maximise
public awareness by using media channels such as local radio and regional TV to increase
participation. BBC North West Tonight featured NHS Wirral CCG on one of its programmes,
which included recording interviews with a local GP and patients and a live interview with the
CCG’s Chair, Dr Sue Wells. This interview was followed by a Facebook live feature which
reached over 9000 people and increased participation in the consultation.
We also completed a series of public meetings, one of these was held in partnership with
the Wirral Multicultural Organisation. We recognised that people with different cultural
backgrounds or religious beliefs may be specifically impacted by some of the proposals in
the consultation. We ensured that alternative formats were made available throughout the
consultation period.
Following the consultation, an engagement report which summarised the feedback received
enabled an informed discussion between Governing Body members which considered the
evidence for each clinical area as well as the views gathered from the public, stakeholders
and clinical colleagues during consultation. Whilst this resulted in decisions to stop the routine
commissioning of some services, the CCG was also responsive to feedback. Following
discussion some services remained unchanged or decisions were made to introduce further
thresholds that were not as restrictive as originally proposed.
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It is important that the CCG ‘closes the loop’ when completing this kind of review by feeding
back the decisions and changes to those who contributed to the consultation and we did
this by publishing a Consultation Outcome Report, which summarises the feedback and
decisions taken.

Prescribing Policies Consultation
The prescribing of medicines is one of the biggest costs in the NHS and we developed
proposals to review our prescribing policies in relation to the following:
• Over the counter medications – this included whether we should continue to prescribe
products such as simple pain killers for minor conditions (paracetamol and ibuprofen)
that are freely available in supermarkets and pharmacies at a low cost.
• Gluten free products – this proposal involved placing further restrictions on the
prescribing of gluten free foods, recognising that over time more of these products were
widely available in supermarkets.
• Products of Limited Clinical Value – as with over the counter medications, this proposal
included whether we should continue to prescribe products such as sunscreen.
As with our other consultations, we completed public events and communicated our proposals
via the NHS Wirral CCG website, local media and via social media (Facebook and Twitter).
We also received feedback and representations from national bodies including the Coeliac
Society and British Society of Gastroenterologists in relation to the prescribing of gluten free
products.
Following this consultation, our Medical Director, Dr Paula Cowan took part in the Radio 4
‘Inside Health’ programme which focussed on the prescribing of over the counter medications.
This enabled us to demonstrate how we reached our decisions and discuss the general
themes gathered during the consultation period.
We also completed a consultation on the proposed decommissioning of Homeopathy and
Isacdor services on Wirral, this involved direct engagement with patients, the public and
stakeholders including representative groups with varied views on the service. The resulting
decision to decommission the service by the Governing Body was taken after careful
consideration of the feedback received and other evidence.
The CCG recognises the role that Healthwatch Wirral has in acting as the consumer champion
for health and social care locally and we welcome the attendance and contribution that
Healthwatch Wirral brings to our Governing Body meetings. Regular meetings are held with
Healthwatch representatives and their participation is sought both informally and formally.
Throughout 2017/18 the CCG will continue to develop our engagement activity which will not
only ensure that the CCG meets its statutory duties to involve, consult and engage but also
to progress a conversation with our local community and stakeholders aligned to the three
aims of the NHS Five Year Forward View which are;
1. Better Health
2. Better Care
3. Better Value
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We will commit to having open, honest and transparent communications and engagement
activity so people understand how services will develop and change and have the opportunity
to tell us their views.
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Reducing Health Inequality
We will continue to strive to reduce health inequality, and there will be a core level of services
available to all Wirral patients. However, we work with our Local Authority Colleagues to take
into account the needs of patients in each of the Wirral constituencies, to make sure that we
put the right services in place where they are really needed. This means that services are
reflective of any local variations and inequalities within Wirral.
We cannot achieve this vision alone; through the Healthy Wirral Programme, we will seek
to enable and empower our Wirral public to assume a greater responsibility for their own
health, and for each in turn to encourage friends, family and others to do the same.
To this end, NHS Wirral CCG has continued to promote self-care and community based
support through the integrated care hubs that have been established that are locally sensitive
to health need variations. The CCG is using the Right Care approach to understand where
variation is most prominent so as to plan service provision to address this. In the first tranche
of work, the CCG will focus on Cardiovascular Disease, Gastroenterology and Neurology. It
is anticipated that the programme of work will take place and have an impact in the 2017/18
financial year.
Wirral has a diverse population that is characterised by social demographic extremes, ranging
from some of the most affluent electoral wards in the country to some of the most deprived.
One in four of all children in Wirral live in poverty, but in specific areas (e.g. Bidston & St
James ward), this is as high as 50%. Wirral also has the largest inequalities in ‘Disability
Free Life Expectancy’ (years spent free from illness and disease) of all local authorities in
England. The impact of this across a wide range of health and social outcomes is evident,
resulting in an unacceptable 10 year difference in life expectancy (74 years in Rock Ferry
compared to 84 years in Heswall). Lifestyle choices such as smoking and drinking too much
alcohol, as well as obesity, contribute to health inequalities, and these behaviours are also
most prevalent in Wirral’s most deprived areas (e.g. the prevalence of smoking in the most
deprived areas of Wirral is around 50% higher than the national average).
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NHS Wirral CCG is striving to reduce
these significant inequalities and aspires
to eliminate them entirely in the future.
Achievement of this ambitious aim will
need a multi faced approach due to
the complex nature of the issues and a
number of strategies are already in place,
examples of which include:
• Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
(JSNA) used to inform service
development and joint commissioning
• Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy
in place and being implemented
across Wirral Health and Social Care
system
• Enhanced services in primary care
aimed at the early identification and
treatment of disease
• Collaborative working with Wirral
Council (in particular Public Health
and the Department of Adult Social
Services) in a number of areas relating
to reducing health inequalities,
including the on-going development
of the Better Care Fund and regular
strategic
joint
commissioning
meetings
• Impact assessment of all CCG
commissioning to ensure equitable
service provision in order to prevent
further widening of the inequality gap
• The adoption by Wirral CCG of a
new ‘Vision’ which states “People will
have the opportunity to leave longer
healthy lives regardless of where they
live on Wirral”
• The development of a ‘Healthy Wirral’
plan which is built on the 3 principles
of Better Health, Better Care and
Better Value
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Health and Wellbeing Strategy
The Accountable Officer and Chair of the CCG are both members of the Health and Wellbeing
Board and have attended the quarterly meetings throughout 2016/17 which are chaired by
the Leader of the Council. The Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory committee of Wirral
Council which was set up in line with the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The Health and
Wellbeing Board has a core membership but also operates a wider constituency to ‘promise’
the health and wellbeing in Wirral.
The member organisations of the Health and Wellbeing Board, which includes Wirral CCG,
are committed to working together at every level to improve the quality of life and wellbeing
of the residents of Wirral.
Members of the Committee have agreed to work together actively to achieve the vision and
mission of the Wirral Health and Wellbeing Board on the basis of the following values, which
are reflected in Board members behaviours and decision making framework:
• Putting local people first in everything we do, putting the needs of local people and
communities before organisational boundaries
• Valuing excellence and professionalism wherever it is found
• Mutual trust and respect – valuing each person as an individual, taking what others
have to say seriously
• Being honest about our point of view and what we can and cannot do
• Creative and innovative solutions to problems
• Removal of barriers to equality of access and opportunity
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has worked closely with the Local Authority to
both contribute to and develop a joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in line with section
116b(1)(b) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.
There have also been updates to the Health and Wellbeing Board with regards to the
development of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan across both the Wirral system
and the wider footprint of Cheshire and Merseyside.
At a local level, NHS Wirral CCG has worked collaboratively with Wirral Council and NHS
Providers to agree an approach known as ‘Healthy Wirral’, which supports the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy by outlining work streams that support the triple aim of Better Health,
Better Care and Better Value. This is illustrated in the diagram ‘3 circles’ above and includes
areas such as reducing variation, population health management, improving life expectancy
and Wirral residents living healthier lives.
It is intended that once the Annual Report has been reviewed by the CCG’s External Auditors
and that this would be shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board. In addition, two members
of the Health and Wellbeing Board are attendees of the CCG’s Governing Body and hence
engaged in the development of the CCG’s Annual Report.
Furthermore, the CCG and the Commissioning functions of the Local Authority are currently
working closely to integrate where there is benefit to patients and clients from a health and
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Key Strategic Developments
Primary Care Development
In response to the General Practice Forward View the CCG has developed its own Primary
Care Transformational Plan which will be delivered during 2016-2020. The plan has four
main areas for delivery which include:
1. Care Redesign: To undertake a major primary care ‘Care Redesign’ programme to
ensure the CCG is in the top quartile of our NHS ‘Right Care’ comparator CCGs
2. Workforce: To have a detailed understanding of the “out of hospital” workforce, in order
that the CCG can plan and deploy workforce and educational investment into primary
care
3. Workload: To establish sustainable development programmes of practice support and
development which enables continuing practice capability to meet demand for patient
services
4. Infrastructure: To enable transformational programmes delivery by 2020 facilitated
through state of the art primary care estate; digital innovation and whole system
commissioning responsibility.

Primary Care in Year Developments
A Primary Care Quality Scheme 2016/17 was offered to member GP Practices (£1 million
investment) with the emphasis on addressing variance in GP hospital referrals (8% reduction)
admissions for ambulatory care sensitive admissions (15% reduction), use of E-Referral (13%
increase), experience of accessing GP services and antibiotic prescribing (2% increase).
Two new GP Federations have been formed by Wirral GP Practices to support providing
new ‘at scale’ universal primary care services across Wirral and joint working on areas like
group buying. (Primary Care Wirral Ltd / Wirral GP Provider (GPW Fed) Ltd).
Plans have been approved for a new GP service that will allow all GP registered patients
to access GP services in weekday evening between 18:30-20:00 and 10:00 – 14:00 on a
Saturday. Both Wirral GP Federations have been awarded contracts to run the service from
2017/18 for up to 3 years. A successful bid was made to NHS England’s Estates Technology
and Transformation Fund (ETTF) for IT systems that will allow patient medical records to be
accessed for all patients who choose to attend the service.
A number of bids to the ETTF fund were made by member GP Practices for premises
developments that are currently progressing through the approval process with NHS England.
The CCG continued to invest in a number of locally commissioned services from primary
care; these included anti-coagulation monitoring, dementia diagnosis and Near Patient
Testing. The Think Pharmacy Scheme was again commissioned from a number of local
pharmacies to support patients to be treated with a range of Minor Ailments instead of going
to their GP practice. Furthermore, the Blood Pressure Action Board has been created which
is supporting establishing new ways of working for practices to screen patients for high blood
pressure who may be at risk of a stroke.
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The CCG has been working with NHS England, other local CCGs and a range of third sector
organisations to support the resettlement of refugees. This includes ensuring individuals and
their families were able to register with local GP practices.
The CCG has been jointly commissioned primary care services in conjunction with NHS
England. Continued member engagement is being undertaken to support a potential future
application to NHS England for fully delegated commissioning of primary care services by
the CCG.
Primary Care needs to continually update its clinical knowledge as improvements to
medicines, new research studies and other innovations in healthcare, offer opportunity to
improve health outcomes for patients. The CCG continues to invest in Protected Learning
Time events for GPs and Practice Nurses throughout the year with 4 half day events, each
with a dedicated clinical topic and supported by expert speakers. Attendance at these events
has exceeded 150 clinicians on each occasion.
The CCG has been undertaking GP Practice visit meetings with the vast majority of member
practices. These are opportunities for members to discuss their own issues as well as
receiving key updates from CCG Officers.

Transforming Care Programme for people
with Learning Disabilities (LD) and/or Autism

The Government and leading organisations across the health and care system are committed
to transforming care for people with learning disabilities and/or autism who have a mental
illness or whose behaviour challenges services.
Wirral is part of the Cheshire and Mersey Plan and as such is demonstrating that through
co-production commissioners, stakeholders and system partners will implement the national
service model by March 2019 and close inpatient beds, starting with the national planning
assumptions set out in Building the Right Support. These planning assumptions are that
no area should need more inpatient capacity than is necessary at any one time to cater to1:
• 10-15 inpatients in CCG-commissioned beds (such as those in assessment and
treatment units) per million population
• 20-25 inpatients in NHS England-commissioned beds (such as those in low-, mediumor high-secure units) per million population
The CCG is part of and working within the Cheshire footprint as a whole system approach
regarding the reduction in the use of these beds. This is in line with our TCP Cheshire and
Mersey Plan.
The plans focus on a shift in power to ensure people with a learning disability and/or autism
are citizens with rights, who should expect to lead active lives in the community and live in
their own homes just as other citizens expect to. The CCG will build the right community
based services to support them to lead those lives, thereby enabling us to close all but the
essential inpatient provision. The CCG has led a bid for additional funding to support the
delivery of an intensive support service. As part of the Cheshire & Wirral footprint the CCG
has been successful in attracting nearly £1.5 million pounds in total to aid work on supported
living, as well as the intensive care support service.
1The rates per population will be based on GP registered population aged 18 and over as at 2014/15
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Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs)

CTRs have been developed as part of NHS England’s commitment to improving the care
of people with learning disabilities with the aim of reducing admissions and unnecessary
lengths of stays in hospitals and reducing the health inequalities.
In 2016 the CCG undertook 12 inpatient CTRs in order to facilitate discharges and 10 urgent
CTRs which resulted in 8 people not being admitted to hospital. As part of the TCP the CCG
is working together, with our colleagues across Cheshire and Mersey, to maximise resource
and standardise process in this area.
Recently the local TCP infrastructure to deliver this programme has changed and as of April
2017 we will have a TCP Board, an Operational Board and task and finish groups. Wirral
CCG has strong lead representation at all of these levels.
All commissioned Learning Disabilities services from the main mental health provider
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CWP) for Wirral now operate under
one specification.
The CCG continues to improve its number of Annual Health Checks and Health Passports.
In 2015/16 the CCG achieved 63% for health checks; the CCG is aiming for 80% for 16/17.
For Health Passports in 15/16 the CCG tasked our main mental health provider with a target
of 60% of service users known to their service, required to have a Health Passport. The CCG
comfortably exceeded this target by achieving 86%.
As part of our learning disabilities work the CCG has developed a Joint All Age Learning
Disabilities Strategy with our local authority. This strategy aims to address inequalities in
society that are often faced by people with learning disabilities and identified following reviews
conducted by MENCAP in 2007 and 2012 and learning from the Winterbourne View review.
Finally the Equality and Inclusion report for 2016 formally recognised the CCG’s work on the
Joint All Age Strategy.

Mental Health - Service Developments
Within 2016/17 the CCG has established an Accountable Care for Mental Health Programme,
working with a co-ordinating provider to review mental health spend across clinical pathways,
Adult Mental Health, Children’s Mental Health and Dementia. Reviewing pathways for
access and treatment, outcomes delivered and overall spend to deliver improved pathways
for patients, collaborative work across service providers and commissioners.
The Future in Mind Plan has continually developed with the implementation of peer support
workers across schools and the new primary care mental health workers which has
contributed towards a reduction in crisis attendance at A&E from children and young people.
Collaborative work is on-going with colleagues in public health and the local authority to
develop joint commissioning plans to ensure the needs of Wirral children and young people
are met.
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We are continuing to support the CCG’s primary care Mental Health provider to deliver
therapy services in line with constitutional standards to improve access and waiting times
for therapy.
Development of a new local community Eating Disorder service for Children and young
people received positive feedback from families and young people regarding the specialist
and timely support received to accelerate recovery.

Developments in Urgent Care 2016/2017

The delivery of urgent and emergency care is never far from either local or national headlines,
with pressures on the Emergency departments being highlighted on an almost daily basis.
Wirral CCG has been very pro-active in the past 12 months, working with partners to improve
the delivery of urgent care across all organisations. Instead of focusing on the Emergency
Departments, we have taken a system wide approach, following the patient journey from the
beginning and focusing not only on secondary care but also on the delivery of care in the
community.
Through both the Urgent Care Recovery and Care Navigation Groups we have worked with
Primary Care, Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Wirral Community
NHS Foundation Trust (WCFT), Local Pharmacy Committee, Cheshire and Wirral Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust, North West Ambulance Services (NWAS) Local Authority and Public
Health to focus on patient pathways, delivering care in the most appropriate setting and
reducing variation and duplication.
The creation of a Single Gateway (Single point of access) with WCFT, co-locating services,
aimed at helping to navigate health care professionals to the service which is most appropriate
to their patients’ clinical needs has helped to streamline care. The further development of
more community based services including Outpatient Antimicrobial Therapy (OPAT: delivery
of IV antibiotics in the community), Rapid community Services and Integrated care coordination Hubs, has helped to reduce secondary care admissions and also facilitate earlier
discharges.
Data demonstrates that admissions avoided using both the ICCH and RCS as well as the
OPAT service are 17.18% and 60.17% respectively.
BCF1

Number of admissions avoided by
ICCT & Community Rapid Response
YTD

Dec-16

17.18%

BCF3

Number of admissions avoided by
OPAT Service YTD

Nov-16

60.71%

Next day appointments on the Ambulatory care Unit and Community clinics for respiratory
and diabetes have also meant that patients are managed quickly without the need for hospital
admission.
Use of these services in reducing admission are supported also by data indicating that Non
Elective admissions by GPs were 1.88% lower than 2015-16.
39

The CCG has also been proactive in encouraging use of local Pharmacies, through the
Think Pharmacy Scheme and also the introduction of the Over the Counter Policy has held
to encourage self-care, allowing patients to take control and ownership of their health.
The CCG continues to work with North West Ambulance Service (NWAS) in the development
of the Trauma and medical Pathfinder sites. Currently patients with minor trauma and injuries
can be conveyed to Victoria Central Hospital for review, assessment (including radiology)
and management.
For some time Wirral CCG has been encouraging the concept of the Emergency Department
Single Front Door for streaming and redirecting patients to the most appropriate service
to meet their needs. The CCG continues to work with partner organisations on this and
encourage further development in this area.
Over the course of 2016-17, the CCG has actively engaged with member Practices to keep
them up to date on all developments and has encouraged dialogue and feedback. The CCG
has developed support material to help clinically reduce conditions and again encouraging
management of patients without the need for admission.
In December 2016, Dr Paula Cowan the Clinical Lead for Urgent Care was elected to the
role of Wirral CCG Medical Director. Since then the CCG has appointed Dr Helen Downs as
Clinical Lead for Urgent Care.
The vision for urgent care in Wirral is to “ensure that patients are seen in the right place at
the right time”. The CCG will continue to strive to achieve this vision in 2017/18.

Primary Care 2016/2017
Over the last year our planned care programme has focussed on 3 main priorities:
1. Improving the patient journey
2. Right care first time
3. Commissioning for Right Care (including improved value for money)
Service re-design and innovation includes:
Consultant Connect is an initiative scheme which facilitates direct clinician to clinician
discussions between primary and secondary care to facilitate right care first time for patients.
The outcome data shows that 57.1% of calls are resulting in the avoidance of the need of a
first outpatient appointment and a 3% admission avoidance rate. March saw an increase of
35 calls compared with February whilst maintaining the same good level of connection rate
of circa 64%.
Key to improving this service is bringing on new specialties and the CCG is working with GPs
and hospital clinicians to facilitate this. One of our lead clinicians for this scheme was runner
up Innovation Champion at the North West Coast Research and Innovation Awards 2017.
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A review of Musculoskeletal referral and provision has been undertaken and the CCG
will be implementing a multi-disciplinary Integrated MSK triage, pain, rheumatology and
podiatry service during 2017 / 18 that will streamline the referral of patients, directing them
quickly to the most appropriate care.
The focus of the service will be in providing patients with timely assessment and
management of MSK triage conditions, community based access to key services including
physiotherapy, pain management, rheumatology and podiatry, prompt referral to wider
services, delivery of advice, therapeutic management, education and support, enabling the
individual to achieve and maintain independence and well-being.
Cancer
• The Macmillan Cancer Information Centre promotes health and well-being activities
and provides information as to where patients can engage in activities
• Regular Health & Well-being Events provide support for patients to access health and
well-being activities
• Holistic needs assessments have been introduced within the clinical setting to support
patients to assess their priorities including their health and well-being
• Wirral CCG is working with leisure services to introduce Lifestyle HNAs in the
community setting
• Staff at Wirral Leisure centres and a private gyms have been trained through
Macmillan funding on the Wright Foundation Cancer Module
• Communication plan to amplify locally national campaigns to raise awareness of
cancer and cancer screening
• The Macmillan Cancer Information Centre is now established at Arrowe Park Hospital
and Clatterbridge Cancer Centre
• Health & Well-being Events are in place for patients diagnosed with cancer
• Holistic needs assessments have been introduced within the clinical setting to support
patients to assess their priorities including their health and well-being
• All patients have access to a named Clinical Nurse Specialist
• A directory containing new email and phone hotlines is in place for GPs and partners
to support early diagnosis
• Regular communications are provided to GPs in respect of early diagnosis of cancer
• Wirral CCG is, on the whole, attaining the target for 2 weeks from referral to first
appointment, this has been supported by revised referral guidance and updated
referral forms
• 18 practices have engaged with CRUK to undertake the Cancer Self Assessment
framework
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There has been significant work on the Right Care programme in gastroenterology,
neurology, cardiovascular. This includes Egton Medical Information Systems (EMIS)
templates to allow more appropriate management for patients with atrial fibrillation at risk of
stroke and education regarding pathway guidance for secondary and primary care colleagues.
A Local Enhanced Service (LES) for anticoagulation was approved, with the aim to identify
new patients at risk of stroke and facilitate appropriate management.
The referral form for endoscopy has been refreshed to include lifestyle advice.
Hot clinics have been developed for patients with exacerbating heart failure and atrial
fibrillation and will be available in the next few months.
A falls app has been developed and is to be deployed in care homes reducing the number
of falls in the elderly.
A headache pathway has been jointly developed and will be rolled out shortly to facilitate
Right Care first time and reduce the number of short stay admissions to hospital.
There is on-going work in intermediate sexual health, dermatology and ophthalmology.

Long Term Conditions 2016/2017
Diabetes
Working in collaboration with WUTH and WCFT the diabetic community service has continued
to deliver care for diabetic patients.
The CCG successfully bid with other CCGs across Cheshire to deliver the National Diabetes
Prevention Programme, which aims at providing intensive education and support for patients
with ‘pre-diabetes’.
We hope that this programme will reduce the number of patients with pre-diabetes becoming
diabetic in the future.
Respiratory
NHS Wirral CCG has facilitated the development of the community respiratory service, which
has now started delivering community based clinics with urgent ‘hot slot’ appointments for
patients who may previously have been admitted to hospital with exacerbations of their
respiratory illness.
There is an enhanced level of pulmonary rehabilitation, increased capacity in the Chronic
Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) service and an extended early supportive discharge
service, enabling earlier discharge from hospital for patients with some respiratory conditions.
Elderly
There have been a series of Value Stream Analysis events over the last year looking at
the delivery of care for Frail Older People on Wirral and at how this can be improved. The
outcome of these events has been the development of a service for GP practices to provide
an enhanced level of care to care home patients. Other areas highlighted by the review
include the falls prevention service and dementia crisis care. Work is on-going looking at
how these areas can be improved upon.
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3. Accountability Reports
Principles for Remedy
Gaining the views of patients regarding the quality of services that have been commissioned
on their behalf is of paramount importance to the CCG.
A Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALs) is commissioned by Wirral Clinical Commissioning
Group to support patients with concerns relating to General Practice, Dentistry, Ophthalmology
and Pharmacy.
The Purpose of the service is to provide on the spot help wherever possible, with the power
to negotiate immediate or speedy resolutions (within 48 hours).
In some cases, the PALs service will refer patients to independent advice and advocacy
support from local and national sources, including Healthwatch.
Ensuring good handling of complaints is one way in which the CCG can help to improve
quality of care for patients and learning from complaints enables organisations to continually
improve the services they provide and the experience for all patients.
Wirral CCG ensures that complaints are managed in accordance with the strategic goals
and objectives and ensure that all complaints are managed promptly and efficiently, in line
with the Health Act 2009 and NHS Constitution.
It also ensures that they are adequately investigated and that complainants are treated with
dignity and respect.
Patient’s verbal comments, concerns, complaints and compliments are received via the
CCG’s public facing website, via post, email and by telephone.
Lessons learnt from complaints are an important tool to assist quality and responsiveness.
Where appropriate, lessons learnt from complaints are reported on a bi-monthly basis to the
Quality and Performance Committee and the Governing Body. A further aggregated report,
including data from provider organisations, is also presented to the Quality and Performance
Committee.
In 2016/17 the CCG received 154 formal complaints. It is through patient feedback that
we were able to learn from complaints to monitor and improve services where required, to
ensure we meet the needs of our patients in the future. As Commissioners of local health
services we monitored the complaints received for trends and took appropriate action to
reduce the risk of identified trends happening again and to share learning.
Knowing when patients have had a good experience is as important as knowing when things
have not gone well. A record of compliments is held and feedback is provided to the service
in question.
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group encourages a positive, open and honest approach
to receiving and responding to complaints as complaints provide a valuable feedback and
patients experiences.
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Complaints made to the CCG were managed by the Corporate Affairs Team.
All complaints are managed in accordance with the Complaints (England) Regulations 2009,
The NHS Constitution and principles published by the Health Service Ombudsman (Getting it
right; being customer focussed; being open and accountable; acting fairly and proportionately;
putting things right; and seeking continuous improvement) and the CCG’s Complaints Policy.
This supports us to ensure the good handling of complaints and to improve the quality of
services for patients.
The CCG handles complaints about services we commission, on behalf of our population,
from providers or about the exercise of any of our functions.
We also investigate more complex complaints where one or more organisations are involved,
including NHS England or other service providers or commissioners.
Ensuring all complaints are handled with the patient / complainant at the centre of the
response and co-ordinating the provision of a single response is a priority for us.
Governance processes have been established by the CCG to ensure the sign off and learning
from complaints is built into the CCG complaints handling processes.
Every complaint is entered on to an Integrated Risk Management system (Datix) alongside
MP letters, patient enquiries and incidents to enable the monitoring of trends and patterns in
complaints and concerns raised by patients and healthcare professionals. This helps us to
detect systematic problems early by highlighting areas for improvement and development.
This information is reported to the CCGs Quality and Performance Committee on a bimonthly basis and a quarterly aggregated report is also provided, which provides an analysis
of the information and considers any action required, driving improvements to the quality of
services commissioned by the CCG and sharing lessons learned.
This information is also reported to the Governing Body on a bi-monthly basis.

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and
Response (EPRR)
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) commissioned Midlands & Lancashire
Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) to undertake various elements of work relating to
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR).
Clinical Commissioning Groups are Category 2 responders under the Civil Contingencies
Act 2004 and EPRR responsibility consisted of one distinct role:
• The statutory duties as per the Category 2 Responders under the Civil Contingencies
Act (2004), and those responsibilities for Clinical Commissioning Groups are outlined in
The NHS Emergency Planning Guidance 2005 and its supporting guidance
The Department of Health however has indicated an expectation that CCG’s also undertake
the duties assigned to Category 1 responders; which required production of Emergency
Plans, Business Continuity Plans, and Assessment of Risk and ensuring that there are
arrangements for informing and warming the public.
This will allow CCGs to be part of the overall planning processed within both the Local
Resilience Forum and the Local Health Resilience Partnership.
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Under the guidance issued by NHS England, CCG’s are required to have a system in place
to allow their commissioned services to contact them on a 24/7 basis.
This 24/7 access will additionally allow the NHS England Area Team to make contact in
emergencies, allowing CCG’s to work with the Area Team in support of the wider NHS
responses to any incident.
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group is also responsible for maintaining an effective
response to emergencies / adviser incidents and as such the Director of Corporate Affairs
maintained an on call rota, for members of the Senior Management / on call team.
CCG’s are required to ensure they have a Business Continuity and Incident Response
Plan in place which complies with the NHS Core Standards for Emergency Preparedness,
Resilience and Response (EPRR) and are also required to assure themselves that their
commissioned services have plans in place to respond and recover from emergencies.
The guidance focuses on planning for emergencies / major incidents and the ability of the
NHS to respond to such incidents (i.e. for those incidents that only affect the NHS and those
which affect all multi-agency partners). Selected tasks include:
• Training those senior managers who will be members of on call rotas to a national core
standard (which is provided by NHS England)
• Establishing new on call rotas to strategically manage the response of the NHS
• Development of plans including a Business Continuity Plan which also included a
validation exercise of this plan
These three areas have been complied with and the CCG has a Business Continuity Plan
in place that has been tested with staff members and a robust on call rota is in place. In
addition, on call staff have attended training courses and exercises including:
• NHS Core Standards for EPRR and the National Occupational Standards for Emergency
Response
• Tactical Training and Awareness
• Business Continuity and Incident Response plan
• Flood Exercise (Exercise Flounder)
Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit has provided Wirral CCG
representation at the following groups:
• Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership
• Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership Practitioners Group
• Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership Business
• Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership Pandemic Flu Group
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Practitioners Group
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Capabilities Group
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Risks and Hazards Group
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Training and Exercising Group
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Public Warning and Informing Group
• Local Authority Resilience and Safety Advisory Groups
A monthly brief is also prepared by the Senior Resilience Manager (CSU) which outlines to
the CCG the current events in the area, issues arising from any of the above groups, any
additional meetings attended, industrial action updates, exercises being held and training
available.
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Serious Incidents
A Serious Incident Review Group is held on a monthly basis within the CCG to review all Root Cause
Analysis (RCA) reports and action plans, and monthly updates are also provided to the Quality
and Performance Committee; a sub-committee of the Governing Body. Each incident and report is
scrutinised by the group members which is made up of clinicians and managers. This group also
enables Wirral CCG to monitor and ensure that all serious incidents and/or never events are
managed appropriately and within a timely manner, whilst also ensuring that root causes and
lessons learned are shared across organisations with a view to prevent similar incidents occurring
again.
Local organisations that are providers of NHS funded care are required to report serious incidents or
never events to Wirral CCG’s Corporate Team, within a maximum of 2 working days from the time the
incident is known, by using the Strategic Executive Information System (StEIS).The StEIS system
enables electronic logging, planner tracking and reporting of serious incidents which is monitored by
NHS Wirral CCG, NHS England and provider organisations.
There were 348 serious incidents reported in 2016/17, which is a 36% increase on previous
reporting year. During the same reporting period 7 incidents were never events. All serious
incidents including never events are scrutinised and investigated fully as per the NHS England
Serious Incident Framework, appropriate action taken, and outcomes reviewed via the CCG Serious
Incident management process. The Quality and Performance Committee have oversight of all
Serious Incidents.
The chart below details the number of serious incidents reported on to the Strategic Information
Executive System (StEIS) within the period of 1st April 2016 – 31st March 2017, which is split by
each reporting provider organisation:

Incidents reported on StIES for the period of 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017
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I certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has complied with the statutory duties laid

down in the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health & Social Care Act 2012).

Simon Banks
Accountable Officer

23/05/2017
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4. Corporate Governance
Report
Members Report

The Governing Body is responsible for preparing an Annual Governance Statement which
sets out how the Governing Body discharged its responsibilities. This statement is provided
from page 60 of this report and also provides details of other committees, which are subcommittees of the Governing Body.
The Governing Body comprises of the following:
• Five GP Executive Leads:
◦◦ GP Executive Lead – Long Term Conditions (Dr S Stokes)
◦◦ GP Executive Lead – Urgent Care Are safe and sustainable, (Dr P Cowan until
13/02/2017 Dr H Downs from 14/02/2017)
◦◦ GP Executive Lead – Primary Care, (Dr S Delaney)
◦◦ GP Executive – Planned Care, (Dr L Ariaraj)
◦◦ Medical Director who also acts as the Assistance Clinical Chair of the Governing
Body (Dr S Wells prior to Dr P Cowan)
• Three Lay Members:
◦◦ Lay Member – Audit and Governance who also acts as the Deputy Chair of the
Governing Body, (A Whittle)
◦◦ Lay Member – Patient Champion (J Kay 31/01/2017 prior to S Cheater)
◦◦ Lay Member – Quality and Outcomes, (A Cannon/L Roberts)
• Director of Quality and Patient Safety (L Quigley)
• Membership Council Representative (Dr J Sowery)
• Registered Nurse (L Doherty)
• Director of Corporate Affairs (P Edwards)
• Director of Commissioning (N Hawker)
• Secondary Care Doctor (Dr R Sturgess)
• Accountable Officer, (J Develing until 2/4/2017 and S Banks from 3/4/2017)
• Chair (Dr S Wells)
• Chief Financial Officer (M Treharne)
The Governing Body membership differs from predecessor organisations in that there is a
significantly higher proportion of GPs. This reflects the fact that, as a membership organisation
of general practices, front line clinicians are integral to the commissioning decisions of the
CCG. In addition, a secondary care clinician is present to represent a wider clinical view and
the Governing Body also invites other person(s) to attend all or any of its meetings, in order
to assist its decision-making and in its duties as it sees fit. These individuals are listed below:
• Public Health Representative (F Johnstone)
• Local Authority Representative (G Hodkinson)
• Healthwatch Representative (K Prior)
• Local Medical Committee Representative
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A register of declared interests by members of the Governing Body can be found within Appendix A
of this report.

Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the report is approved
confirms:
So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the clinical
commissioning group’s external auditors is unaware; and, that the member has taken all the
steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to make them self-aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the clinical commissioning group’s auditor is
aware of that information.

Governing Body Member Profiles
Further information relating to the profiles of Governing Body members can be found within
Appendix B of this report.

Member Practices
Wirral has formed one Clinical Commissioning
member of this (as detailed below):
• TG Medical Centre
• Civic Medical Centre
• Commonfield Road Surgery
• Townfield Health Centre
• Devaney Medical Centre
• Cavendish Medical Centre
• The Villa Medical Centre
• Holmlands Medical Centre
• St Hilary Group Practice
• Moreton Cross Group Practice
• Sunlight Group Practice
• Moreton Health Centre
• Hoylake Road Medical Centre
• Moreton Medical Centre
• Grove Road Surgery
• Field Road Health Centre
• Kings Lane Medical Practice
• Teehey Lane Medical Centre
• Silverdale Medical Centre
• Earlston & Seabank Medical Centre
• Miriam Medical Centre
• Church Road Medical Practice
• Prenton Medical Centre
• Hoylake and Meols Medical Centre
• Liscard Group Practice

Group and each GP Practice on Wirral is a
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Blackheath Medical Centre
Woodchurch Medical Centre
Leasowe Medical Practice
Marine Lake Medical Practice
Allport Surgery
Eastham Group Practice
Heswall & Pensby Group Practice
West Wirral Group Practice
St Georges Medical Centre
Upton Group Practice
Riverside Surgery
Whetstone Medical Centre
St Catherine’s Surgery
Hamilton Medical Centre
Manor Health Centre
Somerville Medical Centre
Central Park Medical Centre
Gladstone Medical Centre
Greasby Group Practice
Heatherlands Medical Centre
Paxton Medical Centre
The Orchard Surgery
The Village Medical Centre
Egremont Medical Centre
Spital Surgery
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Compostition of Governing Body

The Governing Body comprises of the following:
• Five GP Executive Leads:
◦◦ GP Executive Lead – Long Term Conditions (Dr S Stokes)
◦◦ GP Executive Lead – Urgent Care (Dr P Cowan until 13/02/2017 Dr H Downs from
14/02/2017)
◦◦ GP Executive Lead – Primary Care, (Dr S Delaney)
◦◦ GP Executive – Planned Care, (Dr L Ariaraj)
◦◦ Medical Director who also acts as the Assistance Clinical Chair of the Governing
Body (Dr S Wells prior to Dr P Cowan)
• Three Lay Members:
◦◦ Lay Member – Audit and Governance who also acts as the Deputy Chair of the
Governing Body, (A Whittle)
◦◦ Lay Member – Patient Champion (J Kay 31/01/2017 prior to S Cheater)
◦◦ Lay Member – Quality and Outcomes, (L Roberts)
• Director of Quality and Patient Safety (L Quigley)
• Membership Council Representative (Dr J Sowery)
• Registered Nurse (L Doherty)
• Director of Corporate Affairs (P Edwards)
• Director of Commissioning (N Hawker)
• Secondary Care Doctor (Dr A Guha/Dr R Sturgess)
• Accountable Officer, (J Develing until 2/4/2017 and S Banks from 3/4/2017)
• Chair (Dr S Wells)
• Chief Financial Officer (M Treharne)
At an overall level, responsibility for governance is held with the Governing Body.
The Governing Body is accountable for ensuring that the right culture, systems and procedures
are in place to enable appropriate governance, including establishing committees of the
Governing Body, as required.
The Governing Body has retained responsibility of its Scheme of Reservation and Delegation
through this, and approving the terms of reference for Board reporting committees, maintains
overall responsibility for the statutory functions of the CCG and has clarified the information
it required to be assured that all functions are appropriately discharged.
The Governing Body has conducted structured informal sessions, held alongside main
Governing Body meetings, in areas such as Governing Body team development.

Committees
The formal committees of the Governing Body have been designed to provide assurance on
delivery of the CCG’s strategic aims and objectives, an outline of the CCG’s committees can
be found below:

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is accountable to the Governing Body and provides the Governing
Body with an independent and objective view of the Group’s financial systems, financial
information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the Group in so
far as they relate to finance. The Governing Body has approved and keeps under review the
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terms of reference for the audit committee, which includes information on the membership
of the audit committee. The Audit Committee is established in accordance with NHS Wirral
Clinical Commissioning Group’s Constitution, Standing Orders and Scheme of Delegation:
The Audit Committee comprises:
• Voting Members:

◦◦
◦◦
◦◦

Lay Member responsible for Governance and Audit, (A Whittle)
Lay Member responsible for Quality and Outcomes, (L Roberts)
3 Audit Lay Members (B Halley, S Cheater, Vacancy)

• Attendees:
◦◦ Chief Financial Officer, (M Treharne)
◦◦ Mersey Internal Audit Agency Manager / Clinical Lead, (AM Harrop)
◦◦ External Audit Manager, (R Baker)
◦◦ Director of Corporate Affairs, (P Edwards)
◦◦ Local Counter Fraud Specialist, (K McCardle)
◦◦ Minute Taker
The Audit Committee has met on quarterly basis and has an annual work programme. Formal
minutes were produced and an action log maintained of open and closed actions. Its formal minutes
were provided to the Governing Body Committee.
The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member (who is responsible for governance and audit). It
makes arrangements for its meetings to be regularly attended by the Chief Financial Officer, other
members of the senior management team and the CCG’s Internal auditors (Mersey Internal Audit
Agency) and external auditors (Grant Thornton).
Its role is to review, on behalf of the Governing Body:
• Integrated Governance, Risk Management and Internal
• Financial Reporting
• Internal Audit
• Counter Fraud
• Policy and best practice
As part of an integrated committee structure, the Audit Committee is pivotal in advising the Governing
Body on the effectiveness of the system of internal control. Any significant internal control issues
would be reported to the Governing Body via the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is informed
by reports on the CCG’s systems and processes prepared by both internal and external auditors.
During 2016/17 items received by the committee included:
• Counter Fraud updates
• Information Governance updates
• Internal Audit progress reports
• External Audit progress reports
• Financial Management Risks and Controls
• Audit Tracker
• Assurance Framework
• Review of Risk Management System
• Business of other Committees and Inter Relationships
• Clinical Audit progress reports
• Financial Accounts / Annual Report (including Governance Statement)
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee, which is accountable to the Governing Body and makes
recommendations to the Governing Body on determinations about the remuneration, fees
and other allowances for employees and for people who provide services to the CCG on
determinations about allowances under any pension scheme that the CCG may establish as
an alternative to the NHS pension scheme. The Governing Body has approved and keeps
under review the terms of reference for the remuneration committee.
In addition, the Governing Body has conferred or delegated the following functions, connected
with the Governing Body’s main function, to its remuneration committee:
• Determining the remuneration and conditions of service of the senior team not covered
by Agenda for Change on the recommendations of the Accountable Officer
• Determining the remuneration and the conditions of service of the Accountable Officer
• Reviewing the performance of the Accountable Officer and other senior team members
and determining annual salary awards
• Approving the severance payments of the Accountable Officer and usually other senior
staff
The committee met four times in 2016/17.
The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member (who is responsible for Audit and Governance)
and its membership comprises of:
• Three Lay Members (A Whittle, L Roberts, J Kay/S Cheater)
• Secondary Care Doctor (Dr R Sturgess)
• Chair of the Governing Body (Dr S Wells)
Other individuals, such as the Accountable Officer and a Human Resources representative
from Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit, may be invited when appropriate.

Quality and Performance Committee
The Quality and Performance Committee is accountable to the Group’s Governing Body.
The functions of this committee are:
• To seek assurance that the commissioning strategy for the Clinical Commissioning
Group reflects all elements of quality
• Provide assurance that the services that are commissioned are being delivered in a
high quality and safe manner across the Clinical Commissioning Group
• Be assured that effective management of risk in in place to manage and address clinical
governance issues
• Have oversight of compliance issues concerning serious incidents
• Seek assurance on performance of NHS organisations in terms of waiting times targets,
are Quality Commission and monitor
• Receive and scrutinise independent investigations relation to patient safety issues
The Governing Body has approved and keeps under review the terms of reference for the
Quality and Performance Committee which includes information on the membership of the
committee.
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The Quality and Performance Committee comprises:
• Chair of the Governing Body (Dr S Wells)
• Accountable Officer (J Develing until 2/4/2017 and S Banks from 3/4/2017)
• Chief Financial Officer (M Treharne)
• Director of Quality and Patient Safety (L Quigley)
• Director of Commissioning (N Hawker)
• Director of Corporate Affairs (P Edwards)
• Lay Member – Audit and Governance (A Whittle)
• Lay Member – Quality and Outcomes (L Roberts)
• Two GP Executive Leads from the Governing Body (Dr P Cowan or Dr L Ariaraj or Dr S
Delaney or Dr H Downs or Dr S Stokes)

Clinical Senate

The Clinical Senate is accountable to the Governing Body. The functions of the Clinical Senate are
to:
• Inform Commissioning Reform
• Influence Clinical Excellence
• Recommend
• Engage
The Clinical Senate comprises:
• Medical Director (Dr P Cowan)
• Director of Quality and Patient Safety (L Quigley)
• Four GP Executive Leads (Dr L Ariaraj, Dr S Delaney, Dr H Downs, Dr S Stokes)
• Other GPs co-opted with particular interest and expertise as appropriate to the work plan
varies depending on topic
• Secondary Care Doctor (Dr R Sturgess)
• Nursing Representative (G, Westray, L Doherty)
• Two therapist representatives (must be difference professional groups) varies depending on
topic
• Local Medical Committee representative (Dr R Williams, Dr A Adegoke)
• Pharmacist / medicines management representative (M Caroll, S Maire)
• 3 provider representatives (mental health, community, acute) varies depending on topic
• Public Health Representative (E Anwar)
In addition to this Senate, the CCG has established a further subgroup that will further strengthen
engagement specifically with member practices. This is called the Membership Council, a forum
whereby member practices can come together to discuss and inform key commissioning issues.
This is led by the Chair of the Membership Council and is held at least 8 times a year. The principles
behind the Membership Council meeting are:
• To work effectively with GPs, including sessional and locum GPs, with other practice staff, to
feed the practices views into commissioning decisions.
• To build positive relationships with Governing Body members and member practices
• To give voice to member practices by ensuring members are engaged, informed and empowered
to participate
• To seek advice and views of practice members of Wirral CCG
• To represent practices views and act on behalf of practices
• To facilitate communication between members and the CCG Governing Body and Clinical
Senate both ways
• To help shape the culture of Wirral CCG
• To drive forward improvements in the service for patients, carers and communities
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Primary Medical Care Co-Comissioning
Committee
The role of the Primary Medical Care Co-Commissioning Committee (PMCCC) is to carry
out the functions in relation to the commissioning of primary medical services under section
83 of the NHS Act, except those relating to individual GP performance management, which
have been reserved to NHS England. This includes the following activities:
• GMS, PMS and AOMS contracts (including the design of PMS and APMS contracts,
monitoring of contracts, taking contractual actions such as issuing breach/remedial
notices, and removing a contract);
• Newly designed enhanced services (“Local Enhanced Services” and “Directed Enhanced
Services”);
• Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality of Outcomes
Framework (QOF);
• Decision making on whether to establish new GP Practices in an area;
• Approving practice mergers; and
• Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g. returner / retainer schemes)
• Receiving updates from the Primary Care Operational Group on progress of the
transformation plan
In performing its role the PMCCC will exercise its management of the functions in accordance
with the agreement entered into between NHS England and Wirral CCG, which will sit
alongside the delegation and terms of reference.
The Primary Medical Care Co-Commissioning Committee comprises:
• Accountable Officer or Director of Commissioning (J Develing until 2/4/2017 and
S Banks from 3/4/2017 or N Hawker)
• Director of Finance (M Treharne)
• GP and Primary Care Lead (Dr S Delaney)
• GP and Members Council Chair (Dr J Sowery)
• Director of Quality and Patient Safety (L Quigley)
• Governing Body member and Lay Member – Patient Champion (S Cheater)
• Governing Body member and Lay Member – Audit & Governance (A Whittle)
• Governing Body member and Lay Member – Quality & Outcomes (L Roberts)
• Head of Primary Care - NHS England (G Coleman)
• NHS England (T Knight)

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee is a subcommittee of the Governing Body. The functions of the
Finance Committee are to:
• Report to the Governing Body on financial issues and performance
• To consider the assurance of actions for the delivery of the QIPP programme and agree
corrective action when required on behalf of these committees and to receive QIPP
reports from the CCG Operations Group
• Provide assurance that the CCG is meeting, or has plans to meet, all its relevant
obligations with regards to statutory financial duties
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• Review the CCG annual finance plan for incorporation with the operational plan and
recommend to the Governing Body for approval
The Finance Committee comprises:
• Registered Nurse Chair (L Doherty)
• Lay Member – Audit and Governance (A Whittle)
• Accountable Officer (J Develing until 2/4/2017 and S Banks from 3/4/2017)
• Chief Financial Officer (M Treharne)
• Director of Commissioning (N Hawker)
• Medical Director (Dr S Wells until Dr P Cowan)

Attendance at Governing Body and
Committees
Board / Committee
Governing Body
Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Quality & Performance Committee
Clinical Senate
Primary Medical Care Co-Commissioning
Committee
Finance Committee

Average Attendance of Members (%)
83%
82%
70%
64%
50%
78%
76%

Registers of Interest
A conflict of interest occurs were an individual’s ability to exercise judgement or act in a role,
is or could be impaired or otherwise influenced by his or her involvement in another role or
relationship.
In addition to complying with NHS England’s “Managing Conflicts of Interest: Revised Statutory
Guidance for CCG’s”, CCG’s are also required to adhere to relevant guidance issued by
professional bodies on conflicts of interest, including the British Medical Association (BMA)
the Royal College of General Practitioners and the General Medical Council (GMC), and to
procurement rules including The Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the National Health
Service (procurement, patient choice and competition) (no.2) regulations 2013, as well as
the Bribery Act 2010.
The CCG’s Conflicts of Interest Policy was updated in August 2016 in line with ‘NHS
England’s Managing Conflicts of Interest: Revised Statutory Guidance for CCG’s’ and this
was approved at the Quality and Performance Committee held on 30th August 2016.
The policy is available on the CCG’s website and declaration of interest / hospitality are
requested and monitored by the Director of Corporate Affairs and Corporate Affairs Manager.
http://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/1186/conflicts-of-interest-policy-august-2016-1.pdf
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A register of declared interests by members of the Governing Body can be found in Appendix
A of this report and this is also available on the CCG’s website:
http://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/about-us/whos-who/registers-of-interest/
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the report is approved
confirms:
So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the clinical
commissioning group’s external auditors and is unaware; and, that the member has taken
the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to make them self-aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the clinical commissioning group’s auditor is
aware of that information.

Personal Data Related Incidents
Further information relating to the profiles of Governing Body members can be found within
Appendix B of this report.
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets out the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances
to the Clinical Commissioning Group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
Information governance risks are assessed using the Information Governance Toolkit.
The CCG has a Senior Information Risk Owner (Chief Financial Officer) who reviews all
data protection issues in partnership with Information Governance Lead at Midlands and
Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU).
The CCG’s Information Governance status is reviewed and monitored by the Audit Committee
and the Governing Body. This has supported the CCG’s self-assessment of achieving level
2 against each of the Information Governance Toolkit requirements. As at the end of March
2017, the CCG achieved satisfactory compliance against the statutory and mandatory
training requirements for Information Governance.
The CCG has not had any lapses in data security for 2016/17.
The CCG place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. The
CCG also has information governance policies and procedures in line with the information
governance toolkit.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents
and regular briefing documents are issued to staff and published on the intranet in relation
to policies and procedures in place.
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Summary of personal data incidents 2016/17
Category

Nature of Incident

Total

I

Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or
paper documents from secured NHS premises

0

II

Loss of inadequately protected electronic, devices or paper
documents from outside secured NHS premises

0

III

Insecure disposal of inadequately protected electronic equipment,
devices or paper documents

0

IV

Unauthorised disclosure

0

V

Other

0

In summary, the CCG has had no Serious Incidents relating to data security breaches
and there have been no lapses in data security for 2016/17, therefore, there was nothing
reportable to the Information Commissioners Office for this period.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ report is approved
confirms:
• So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
• The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditors is aware of it

Modern Slavery Act
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) fully supports the Government’s objectives
to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement for the financial year ending 31 March 2016 will be published on the website.

Simon Banks
Accountable Officer

23/05/2017
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5. Statement of Accountable
Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Simon Banks to be the
Chief Officer of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable
• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to
ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction)
• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities)
• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money
• Ensuring the CCG exercises its function effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section 14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H TO 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis as set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accrual basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis
• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis
• State whether applicable accountancy standards as set out in the Group Accounting
Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and
explain any material departures in the financial statements
• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below (e.g.
directions issued, s30 letter issued by external auditors), I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing
Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment
Letter.
I also confirm that:
• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditor
are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps I ought to have
taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.
• that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the
judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable with
the exception of the CCG’s duty to comply with it’s financial duties under sections 223H
-223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Simon Banks
Accountable Officer

23/05/2017

59

6. Governance Statement
Introduction and Context

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate established by NHS England
on 1st April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services
for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to
arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2016, the CCG was not subject to any legal directions. However, largely as a result of
the CCG’s deteriorating financial position, the CCG received a letter in September 2016 from NHS
England indicating that legal directions would be applied. The formal letter was issued to the CCG
on 23rd February 2017 and indicated a number of actions required to be undertaken by the CCG:
• Full disclosure to NHS England of the Capacity and Capability Review (CCR) that the CCG has
commissioned together with the production of an Action Plan to deliver the recommendations
of the CCR
• A financial recovery plan that ensures that the CCG achieves an in-year deficit of no more
than £9m* (see footnote) in the financial year 2016/17 and that will enable it to operate within
its annual budget for the financial year 2017/18 and then remain in recurrent balance in
subsequent years
• The implementation of the recommendations of the Governance Review that was commissioned
as part of the CCR
*The £9m refers to the CCGs mid-year forecast position; the 2016/17 forecast was £12m as reported
to NHS England.
The CCG responded to NHS England on the 23rd March 2017 (as required by the letter) providing
documentation to comply with the requirements of the letter, including the Action Plan in response
to the Capacity and Capability Review (CCR) and the Financial Recovery Plan.
At the time of writing this report, the CCG is awaiting a response from NHS England as to the
approval of the submitted documents.
Further to being placed in formal directions, the CCG has monthly assurance meetings with NHS
England to ensure that we meet our statutory duties.
Throughout 2016/2017, Jonathan Develing was the CCG’s Accountable Officer. During that time,
Jonathan played an instrumental role in the development of Wirral’s part in the Cheshire and Wirral
Local Delivery System, a sub-area of Cheshire and Merseyside’s Sustainability and Transformation
Plan. As this work developed, Jonathan decided to pursue this on a full-time basis. He therefore
indicated that he would leave the CCG, but would remain it’s Accountable Officer until a replacement
could be appointed.
The CCG appointed a new Accountable Officer who began in post on 3rd April 2017. In the preparation
of this Governance Statement, the new Accountable Officer has been fully briefed by the former
Accountable Officer and the Executive Team to ensure that he was fully conversant with all key
issues and able to provide the narrative contained within the Governance Statement.
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Scope of Responsibility

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness
of the system of internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Croup as set out in this
governance statement.

Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically
and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant
to it.
Further information in relation to the CCG’s Committee Structure and Committee attendance
is included on pages 50-55 of this report.
As Accountable Officer, I am assured that both the Governing Body and its Sub-Committees
have reviewed their performance and effectiveness during 2016/17, through self-assessment
and annual reports.
The above committee structure supports the CCG’s approach to Integrated Governance
which is defined as ‘systems processes and behaviours by which the CCGs lead, direct
and control their functions in order to achieve organisational objectives, safety and quality
of service and in which they relate to patients and carers, the wider community and partner
organisations’. The CCG is committed to ensuring its continued high performance through
robust systems and processes. The CCG works continuously to deliver high quality safe
care and to minimise risk and improve quality at all levels and cross all services in the
organisation.

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon
best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we
consider to be relevant to the Clinical Commissioning Group and best practice.
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Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the
Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert legal input, to
ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters
reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislation
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Senior Manager.
All Directors have confirmed that their structure provides the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties.

Risk Management Arrangements and
Effectiveness
As Accountable Officer, I have overall responsibility for risk management within the CCG
and this is discharged through agreed delegation to the Senior Management Team, which
is documented within the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and Policy and as identified
below:

Lead Officer
Chief Financial Officer,
Michael Treharne

Director of Corporate Affairs,
Paul Edwards

Director of Quality and Patient
Safety,
Lorna Quigley

Director of Commissioning,
Nesta Hawker

Risk Area
Financial
Information Governance
Senior Information Risk Owner
Corporate Governance
Legal and statutory compliance
Communications
Patient and Public Engagement
Complaints management
Business Continuity, Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and
Response as Accountable Emergency Officer
HR, Workforce and Organisational Development
Quality Improvement
Clinical Policy
Incidents and Serious Incidents
Continuous Improvement process
Patient Safety
Safeguarding
Commissioning
Performance
Delivery
Contracting
System transformation
Service redesign
62

Medical Director,
Dr Paula Cowan

Caldicott Guardian
Leadership of the Clinical Senate and engagement with
the clinical community and Medical Directors in Provider
Organisations

The Governing Body reviewed and approved its Risk Management Strategy and Policy in
September 2015 and this is next due for review in September 2018. The key elements of the
Risk Management Strategy and Policy include:
• The Governing Body’s commitment to risk management
• A statement that identified the support for employees in providing services that are safe
for patients and recognises that risk management is everyone’s business, on behalf of
the Accountable Officer
• The corporate and strategic context for risk management
• The organisational arrangements and responsibilities
• The risk management accountability reporting structure
• The stages of the risk management process
• Description of the Corporate Risk Register
• Risk matrix
There is a systematic process for the identification of risk throughout the organisation which
is then documented in the corporate risk register and assurance framework. The risk register
is reviewed monthly at Quality and Performance Committee and bi-monthly at the Governing
Body Committee, to ensure risks are being managed effectively in accordance with the Risk
Management Strategy and Policy.
The risk evaluation model is based on a grading of impact and likelihood. Risks are then
scored against impact and likelihood and either managed locally or raised to the corporate
risk register and assurance framework, which is reviewed and monitored by the Quality and
Performance Committee and Governing Body Committee. This is maintained by the Director
of Corporate Affairs and the Corporate Affairs Manager.
The Governing Body received the assurance framework quarterly and the corporate risk
register monthly to discuss the strategic and principal risks and controls in place to mitigate
the risk. The Governing Body also receive integrated performance reports which provide data
in respect of financial, clinical and national targets and objectives. Any areas of risk are then
highlighted through the use of a Red, Amber or Green (RAG) rating system. The following
provides guidance as to the actions taken based on the risk assessment and outlines who
has authority to act:
Risk Score

Authority to Act

Very Low and Low risks (1 – 8)

To be escalated and appropriate actions to be taken by
members of the Quality and Performance Committee

Moderate risks (9 – 14)

To be escalated and appropriate actions to be taken by
Commissioning Managers and Senior Finance Managers
and reviewed by Quality and Performance Committee and
Governing Body members

High risks (15+)

To be escalated and appropriate actions to be taken by
members of the Governing Body.
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Capacity to Handle Risk
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group.
The Assurance Framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage the risks to the CCG achieving its principle objectives have been reviewed. The
system of internal control is designed to manage risks to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risks of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to:
1. Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives
of Wirral CCG, and
2. Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised the impact should they be realised,
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

Risk Assessment
Using the processes as described above to identify and assess risk, together with appropriate
mechanisms for mitigation, some of the key risks for NHS Wirral CCG are detailed within this
section of the report.
NHS Wirral CCG’s Assurance Framework sets out the strategic and principal risks which
could impact on the delivery of the organisations objectives. The strategic risks were identified
in 2016/17 have included areas such as:
• Reducing financial resource available across health and social care and failure to agree
financial arrangements
The CCG has a number of key controls and systems in place to manage this risk. These
include:
◦◦ The development of robust QIPP Strategy and Plans that are actively monitored
through the CCG’s Programme Management Office (PMO)
◦◦ A robust Section 75 arrangement supporting the Better Care Fund (BCF) and
governed by a BCF Board.
◦◦ The Director of Health and Care from Wirral Council sits on the CCG’s Governing Body
and is actively involved in the closer integration of CCG and Council commissioning
functions
◦◦ Active participation in the Health and Wellbeing Board
◦◦ The establishment of a new Finance Committee to oversee finance and QIPP delivery
◦◦ Increasingly integrated planning processes with Wirral Council
◦◦ Development and monitoring of Financial Recovery Plan
◦◦ Turn Around Group now established to oversee system recovery across Wirral
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• Inability to manage rising demand and reducing capacity in a constrained financial
environment
Summary of key controls / systems the CCG has in place to manage the risk:
◦◦ Development of robust CCG Strategic and Operational Plans with clear activity
trajectories that are closely monitored
◦◦ Establishment of Activity Management Group
◦◦ The development of robust QIPP Strategy and Plans that are actively monitored
through the CCG’s Programme Management Office (PMO)
◦◦ Quality and Performance Committee monitoring
◦◦ Primary Care Quality Scheme introduced
◦◦ Turn Around Group now established to oversee system recovery across Wirral
◦◦ Quality Surveillance Group and CQUIN monitoring ensure quality is maintained
where there is rising demand or reduced capacity
◦◦ Development and monitoring of Financial Recovery Plan
◦◦ Programme Management Office and Finance Committee established
• Failure to deliver QIPP
Summary of key controls / systems the CCG has in place to manage the risk:
◦◦ Quality and Performance Committee monitoring
◦◦ Development and monitoring of Financial Recovery Plan
◦◦ The development of robust QIPP Strategy and Plans that are actively monitored
through the CCG’s Programme Management Office (PMO)
◦◦ Programme Management Office and Finance Committee established
◦◦ Turn Around Group now established to oversee system recovery across Wirral
In addition to regular reviews by the Governing Body of both the corporate risk register and
assurance framework, NHS Wirral CCG also has a ‘Performance pack’ to allow greater
degree of oversight of performance which is also aligned to the CCG strategic objectives.
At the time of writing it has become evident that one of the most significant risks to the NHS
is its vulnerability to cyber-attacks. Following a large scale attack on the NHS in May 2017,
whilst NHS Wirral CCG was not significantly affected, it will be working closely with NHS
England and its Information Technology provider to mitigate and safeguard against future
attacks should they occur.

Other Sources of Assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
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Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interests for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an internal audit of conflicts of interest management.
To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit
framework.
The annual return was submitted to NHS England in April 2017 and the CCG met all the
requirements, with the exception of that in relation to Conflicts of Interests mandatory training
as the CCG is currently awaiting further training information and this aspect is not due to be
reported on until April 2018.
Data Quality
Within 2016/17, the CCG reviewed its provision of information to the Governing Body to
improve the quality and responsiveness of data. The Business Intelligence team has further
worked to improve reporting and has works to combine this information with other finance,
performance and contracting data to create a new performance dashboard. Additionally,
together with the Assurance Framework, this ensures that all key considerations have
sufficient information to allow the Governing Body to make informed decisions.
Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable
information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an information
governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical
commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
Business Critical Models
Within the CCG we have a number of business models which are used to support the
delivery of our statutory functions. In line with the Macpherson Report these models have an
underpinning framework that ensure each model has a responsible owner within the CCG,
who ensures the quality assurance process is compliant and appropriate, that model risks,
limitations and major assumptions are understood by users of the model, and the use of the
model outputs is appropriate.
Third party assurances
The CCG purchases some services via Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support
Unit. This contract is monitored via a robust set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and
monthly contract review meetings.
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Control Issues
Largely as a result of the CCG’s deteriorating financial position, the CCG received a letter
in September 2016 from NHS England indicating that legal directions would be applied.
The formal letter was issued to the CCG on 23rd February 2017 and indicated a number of
actions required to be undertaken by the CCG:
• Full disclosure to NHS England of the Capacity and Capability Review (CCR) that the
CCG has commissioned together with the production of an Action Plan to deliver the
recommendations of the CCR
• A financial recovery plan that ensures that the CCG achieves an in-year deficit of no
more than £9m* (see footnote) in the financial year 2016/17 and that will enable it
to operate within its annual budget for the financial year 2017/18 and then remain in
recurrent balance in subsequent years
• The implementation of the recommendations of the Governance Review that was
commissioned as part of the CCR
* The £9m refers to the CCGs mid-year forecast position; the 2016/17 forecast is £12m as reported to NHS
England.

The CCG responded to NHS England on the 23rd March 2017 (as required by the letter)
providing documentation to comply with the requirements of the letter, including the Action
Plan in response to the Capacity and Capability Review (CCR) and the Financial Recovery
Plan.
At the time of writing this report, the CCG is awaiting a response from NHS England as to
the approval of the submitted documents. That said, however, the CCG has actively sought
to address the issues highlighted in the September 2016 letter and has been proactively
seeking to implement the findings of the Capacity and Capability review and has sought,
and received, approval to amend its constitution to strengthen financial governance and
control by formally creating a Finance Committee that actively oversees the delivery of both
the CCG QIPP Plan and its Financial Recovery Plan. This has been further strengthened by
the appointment of an Interim Recovery Director whose sole purpose is to provide intensive
support to the CCG’s recovery. The CCG also has monthly assurance meetings with NHS
England to ensure close scrutiny on delivery of the programmes enquired to deliver the
CCG’s statutory duties.

Review of Economy, Efficiency and
Effectiveness of the use of Resources

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has a Quality and Performance Committee
which meets monthly and regularly assesses the effective use of resources. It does this by
reviewing performance and activity data to ensure this is closely scrutinised by internal staff
and Lay Members. Reports from the Quality and Performance Committee are also received
regularly by the Governing Body.
In light of the deteriorating financial position in 2016/17, the CCG made a formal application
to NHS England to amend its constitution to create a new sub-committee of the Governing
Body that focussed wholly on financial performance. This new ‘Finance Committee’, following
NHS England approval, has now been formally established and meets on a monthly basis.
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As a result, finance issues that were previously discussed as part of the Quality and
Performance Committee now have a dedicated meeting to allow sufficient grip and scrutiny.
The formation of this new Finance Committee also supported in improving the issues around
financial governance that led to the CCG’s amber rating under the ‘Well-Led’ My NHS
assessment at Quarter 2 2016/17 (it should be noted that the year-end results for the Quality
of leadership Indicator will be available from July 2017 at
www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175).
In addition, the revision of the CCG’s Constitution addresses the required strengthened
financial stewardship as part of the CCGs legal directions.
Finally, the CCG receives an opinion from the Head of Internal Audit on use of resources and
value for money, together with additional views via the External Audit Opinion.

Delegation of Functions

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) delegates some of its support functions to
a Commissioning Support Unit (CSU), Midlands and Lancashire CSU.
In 2016/17, the CCG has regular Key Performance Indicator (KPI) reports and contract
performance / monitoring meetings to ensure effective and efficient services.
The Audit Committee will receive a Service Auditor Reports at year end, which provide an
independent assessment of the control systems employed by the CSU, on the CCG’s behalf.

Counter Fraud Arrangements

All commissioners and providers of NHS Services are required to put in place arrangements
to tackle fraud, bribery and corruption, and this is undertaken by NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group’s (CCG) nominated Anti-Fraud Specialist (AFS), together with the
Anti-Fraud team at Mersey Internal Audit Agency. The CCG’s Chief Finance Officer overseas
these arrangements for the CCG.
The Chief Finance Officer and the Audit Committee receive a counter fraud update at each
of its meeting and assurance to satisfy itself that the CCG has adequate arrangements in
place for countering fraud and has reviewed the outcomes of counter fraud work. The Audit
Committee approve the arrangements for counter fraud and associated work programme.
The annual work plan takes a risk-based approach utilising MIAA‘s fraud risk assessment
tool (FRAT) and ensuring compliance against NHS Protects Standards for Commissioners.
This provides information on current fraud enquiries and any other related issues. The
AFS undertakes any mandatory risk measurement exercises as instructed and required
by NHS Protect, using the (FRAT) to assess areas at increased risk of exploitation. This
ensures adequate resources are always readily available to address emerging areas of risk
should the need arise. An annual report is presented to the Audit Committee highlighting the
outcomes of the anti-fraud work undertaken during the financial year against NHS Protects
Standards for Commissioners.
During the financial year 2016-17, the AFS completed a wide range of work across the main
key areas of activity as outlined by NHS Protects Standards for Commissioners and agreed
within the work plan by the Audit Committee. The plan was delivered in full. The CCG has
not been subject to an NHS Protect quality assurance inspection during 2016/17.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year 2016/17 for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit will issue an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The opinion received on
31st March 2017 is:
Significant Assurance, can be given that there is a generally sound system of internal
control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally
being applied consistently.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit

Assurance Given

Finance Shared Service

Significant Assurance

Financial Systems
Contract Management
Information Governance
Primary Care Quality Scheme Review
Cost Improvement Plan (CIP)/ Quality,
Innovation, Prevention and Productivity (QIPP)

Significant Assurance
Significant Assurance
Significant Assurance
Significant Assurance
Limited Assurance

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning
group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other
reports.
Our Assurance Framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have
been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:
• The Board
• The Audit Committee
• The Quality and Performance Committee
• Internal audit
• Other explicit review / assurance mechanisms
The role and conclusions of each were that I was assured that the CCG has robust
governance, risk management and internal control mechanisms in place that allow for
effective risk management and clear decision making processes.
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Review of the effectiveness of
Governance, Risk Management
and Internal Control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning
group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other
reports.
Our Assurance Framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have
been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:
• The Board
• The Audit Committee
• The Quality and Performance Committee
• Internal audit
• Other explicit review / assurance mechanisms
The role and conclusions of each were that I was assured that the CCG has robust governance,
risk management and internal control mechanisms in place that allow for effective risk
management and clear decision making processes.
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Conclusion
As Accountable Officer I recognise that there have been, and continue to be, significant
challenges facing the CCG and the wider Wirral health and care system. This has resulted in
the CCG not meeting one of its key statutory financial duties in 2016/17 and led to the CCG
being placed in formal legal directions.
As one of the requirements of these directions, the CCG has had an independent Capability
and Capacity Review undertaken and this has led to the production of an Improvement Plan
which addresses strengthening financial governance arrangements and wider organisational
development.
In addition, the CCG has also produced a Financial Recovery Plan that seeks to ensure the
CCG meets its financial duties in 2017/18.
I am confident that, by implementing the Improvement Plan and the Financial Recovery
Plan, coupled with the improved governance already introduced, the CCG can return to a
position of having legal directions removed by the end of 2017/18.
In preparation of this document I would like to express my personal thanks to the senior
management of the CCG and all staff for their support through the year.

Simon Banks
Accountable Officer

23/05/2017
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7. Remuneration and Staff
Report

Remuneration Report
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee provides advice to the Governing Body on such remuneration
including all aspects of salary, provisions of other benefits including pensions and cars as well
as arrangements for termination of employment and other contractual terms. The Committee
has full authority to commission any reports or surveys it deems necessary to help fulfil its
obligations.
The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member (who is responsible for Governance & Audit)
and its membership comprises of:
• Three Lay Members
• Secondary Care Doctor
• Chair of the Governing Body
During the 2016/17 financial year, the Remuneration Committee of NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group met four times in 2016/17 and provided minutes and assurance to
the Governing Body.
Further details relating to the attendance and frequency at meetings can be found within
pages 50-55 of this report.
Independent HR advice and guidance is provided by Human Resources from Midlands
and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit. Advice is on legislative employee matters
and benchmarking of NHS salaries. The role is part of a wider contractual agreement for
Commissioning Support services. The CCG and Remuneration Committee have been
satisfied with the advice and guidance provided.
The Remuneration Committee is established in accordance with NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group’s Constitution, standing orders and Scheme of Delegation.

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers and very senior managers

The majority of staff within the CCG hold contracts that are based on national NHS Terms
and Conditions of Service (Agenda for Change) and as such notice periods and
termination payments are in line with those nationally agreed terms and conditions. For
other appointments such as the Chief Officer, Chair, Medical Director, Executive Directors
and GP Leads, local agreements have been reached based on robust independent human
resources advice as cited above.
The remuneration for both the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Officer are based on the
national guidance provided by NHS England “Remuneration Guidance for Chief Officers and
Chief Finance Officer”. All contracts and/or terms and conditions of employment for staff not
governed by the national NHS Terms and Conditions of employment, where required, have
been approved by the CCG’s Remuneration Committee. In addition the remuneration for all
senior managers within the organisation adheres to the exceptions outlined in the recent
correspondence from the Secretary of State.
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Salaries and allowances for salaries and allowances for senior employees of
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (from 1st April 2016 to 31st March
2017)
Applicable Governing Body members may receive taxable benefits from the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s lease car scheme as part of their remuneration.

Name

Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)
£000"

Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100*
£

Performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000

Total
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Dr P Naylor Chair *1

75 - 80

0

0

0

0

75 - 80

Dr S Wells Chair

85 - 90

0

0

0

17.5 - 20

105 - 110

Mr J Develing
Accountable Officer

135 - 140

24

0

0

35 - 37.5

175 - 180

Mr M Treharne
Chief Financial
Officer

100 - 105

0

0

0

0 - 2.5

100 - 105

Mrs L Quigley
Director of Quality &
Patient Safety

80 - 85

0

0

0

35 - 37.5

115 - 120

Mr P Edwards
Director of Corporate
Affairs

80 - 85

0

0

0

15 - 17.5

95 - 100

Mrs N Hawker
Director of
Commissioning

80 - 85

3

0

0

122.5 - 125

205 - 210

Dr P Cowan Medical
Director *2

55 - 60

0

0

0

0

55 - 60

Dr L Ariaraj GP Lead
Planned Care

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

Dr S Stokes GP
Lead Long Term
Conditions

40 - 45

0

0

0

202.5 - 205

245 - 250

Dr S Delaney GP
Lead Primary Care

30 - 35

2

0

0

0

30 - 35

Dr H Downs GP Lead
Unplanned Care
(with effect from 14
February 2017) *3

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

0-5

Mr A Cannon
Lay Member
Quality & Outcomes
(until 14/10/16)

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

Ms L Roberts
Lay Member
Quality & Outcomes

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

Mr A Whittle
Lay Member
Governance & Audit

10 - 15

0

0

0

0

10 - 15

Mr J Kay
Lay Member
Patient Champion &
Public Involvement
(Until 31/1/17)

5 - 10

6

0

0

0

5 - 10

Mrs L Doherty
Registered Nurse

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

(AUDITED)
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Salaries & Allowances for Senior Employees of Wirral Clinical Commissioning
Group (from 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016)
Name

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
Benefits

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(Rounded to
the nearest
£100)

Dr P Naylor Chair

80 - 85

Mr J Develing
Accountable Officer

Annual
Performance
Related
Bonuses

Long-term
Performance
Related
Bonuses

All Pension
Related
Benefits

(bands of £2,500)
£000

Total

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(bands of £5,000)
£000

(bands of £5,000)
£000

9

0

0

0

120 - 125

11

0

0

17.5 - 20

Mr J Wicks
Interim Accountable Officer

10 - 15

0

0

0

0

10 - 15

Mr Mark Bakewell
Chief Financial Officer

90 - 95

4

0

0

0

90 - 95

Mr M Treharne
Chief Financial Officer

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

Mrs L Quigley
Director of Quality & Patient
Safety

70 - 75

0

0

0

2.5 - 5

75 - 80

Mr P Edwards
Director of Corporate Affairs

70 - 75

0

0

0

5 - 7.5

80 - 85

Mrs N Hawker
Director of Commissioning

45 - 50

3

0

0

35 - 37.5

85 - 90

Dr S Wells
Medical Director

75 - 80

0

0

0

210 - 212.5

285 290

Dr L Ariaraj
GP Lead Planned Care

30 - 35

0

0

0

237.5 - 240

265 270

30 - 35

0

0

0

2.5 - 5

30 - 35

Dr S Delaney
GP Lead Primary Care

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

Dr P Cowan
GP Lead Unplanned Care

45 - 50

0

0

0

10 - 12.5

55 - 60

Mr A Cannon
Lay Member
Quality & Outcomes

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Mr A Whittle
Lay Member
Governance & Audit

10 - 15

0

0

0

0

10 - 15

5 - 10

2

0

0

0

5 - 10

Mr S Wagener
Lay Member
Patient Champion

0-5

1

0

0

0

0-5

Mrs L Doherty
Registered Nurse

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

(until 30 September 2015)

55 - 60

0

0

0

0

55 - 60

Dr M Green
Consortia Chair

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Dr J Oates
Consortia Chair

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

(to 5 May 2015) (*2)

(until 31 January 2016) (*3)

(from 1 February 2016) (*3)

(from 20 July 2015)

(from 1 May 2015) (*4)

Dr S Stokes
GP Lead Long Term
Conditions
(from 1 May 2015) (*4)

(from 1 May 2015) (*4)

(from 1 May 2015) (*4)

80 - 85
140 145

(from 1 June 2015)

(from 1 June 2015)

Mr J Kay
Lay Member
Patient Champion & Public
Involvement

(until 30 June 2015)

(from 1 October 2015)

Mr P Jennings

(until 30 April 2015)

(until 30 April 2015)

(AUDITED)
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Notes to the 2016/17 Salaries and Allowance Table:
*1 The role of CCG Chair
Dr Pete Naylor left the CCG on ill health on 1st February 2016 and Dr Sue Wells acted up to the CCG
Chair role during his period of sick/notice and has since been elected as the Chair of Wirral CCG with
effect from October 2016. This is in line with the CCG’s Constitution.
*2 The role of Medical Director
In 2016/17 Dr Paula Cowan was elected as Medical Director of the CCG. Prior to this, Dr Cowan was the
GP Lead for Unplanned Care until 13th February 2017.
*3 The role of GP Leads
Dr Helen Downs was appointed on 14th February 2017 as GP Lead for Unplanned Care to replace Dr
Cowan, as above.
*Additional note – All Pension Related Benefits

Pension Benefits for Senior Employees of Wirral Clinical Commissioning
Group (from 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017):

Name

Real
Real
Total
Lump sum
increase
increase
accrued
at pension
(decrease) (decrease) pension at age related
in pension in pension
pension
to accrued
at pension lump sum
age as
pension at
age
at pension 31/03/2017
31/03/17
(bands of age (bands (bands of
(bands of
£2,500)
of £2,500)
£5,000)
£5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value as at
31/03/2016

Real
increase
(decrease)
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value as at
31/03/2017

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000
Dr P Naylor
Chair *1

0

2.5 - 5

15 - 20

50 - 55

257

21

278

0

Dr S Wells
Chair

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5

15 - 20

50 - 55

327

49

376

0

Mr J Develing
Accountable
Officer

0 - 2.5

5 - 7.5

45 - 50

135 - 140

920

81

1,000

0

Mr M Treharne
Chief Financial
Officer

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

35 - 40

110 - 115

744

34

778

0

Mrs L Quigley
Director of
Quality &
Patient Safety

0 - 2.5

7.5 - 10

25 - 30

80 - 85

425

55

480

0

Mr P Edwards
Director of
Corporate
Affairs

0 - 2.5

5 - 7.5

20 - 25

60 - 65

289

32

322

0

Mrs N Hawker
Director of
Commissioning

5 - 7.5

17.5 - 20

25 - 30

85 - 90

398

121

519

0

Dr P Cowan
Medical
Director *2

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

0-5

5 - 10

49

2

51

0

Dr L Ariaraj
GP Lead
Planned Care

0

0 - 2.5

10 - 15

40 - 45

180

10

191

0

Dr S Stokes
GP Lead
Long Term
Conditions

7.5 - 10

27.5 - 30

10 - 15

40 - 45

96

129

226

0

Dr S Delaney
GP Lead
Primary Care

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Dr H Downs
GP Lead
Unplanned
Care (with
effect from 14
February 2017)
*3

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(AUDITED)
*Dr Delaney was not a member of the NHS Pension Scheme (Source: NHS Pensions Agency)
Mr Kay, Ms Roberts , Mr Cannon and Mr Whittle are lay members and do not contribute to the NHS pension scheme
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (CETV)

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time, The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits
in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses
to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to
both benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of
the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosing applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits
in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as result
of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute of
Faculty of Actuaries.

Real Increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the
value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common
market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of service

There has been no compensation on early retirement or for loss of office.
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Payment to past members

No awards have been made to past senior managers.

Pay Multiples (AUDITED)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director on the Governing Body in Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group in the financial year 2016/17 was £135-140k (2015-16 £135k-£140k).
This was 4.1 times (2015-16 3.5 times) the median remuneration of the workforce which was
£33,560 (2015-16 £34,846). Remuneration ranged from £8k - £140k (2015 - £10k - £140k),
(The increase in pay multiple is expected in line with an increase in senior manager costs
due to staff being brought back in house from the CSU).
In 2016/17, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid members of
the Governing Body.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
The calculation is based on the full-time equivalent of the Clinical Commissioning Group at
the reporting period end date on an annualized basis.

Staff Report
Sickness absence data

The CCG has a robust Attendance Management Policy and procedure in place designed to establish a positive attendance culture and support its managers and staff with attendance issues by
ensuring that these are managed consistently in a fair and equitable way.
The CCG pro-actively managed both short-term and long-term sickness absence in line with this
policy, with sickness absence being monitored and reported to the Quality and Performance Committee on a quarterly basis, which is a sub-committee of the Governing Body.
Sickness absence levels for the CCG as at the end of March 2017 stood at 3.51%. The rolling absence for the March 2017 period was 2.76%. The number of working time equivalent (WTE) day’s
absence in the 12 month period was 807 giving an average of 10.09 wte day’s absence per employee. The figures disclosed are based on the ESR Absence Time Line Analysis report.
Staff policies
The following HR related policies are in use at the CCG:
• Attendance Management Policy
• Annual Leave Policy
• Disciplinary Policy
• Grievance and Disputes Policy and Procedure
• Capability Policy
• Career Break Policy
• Equality & Diversity Policy
• Family Leave Policy (includes: maternity, paternity, adoption and parental leave)
• Harassment & Bullying Policy
• Learning & Development Policy
• Recruitment & Selection Policy
• Retirement Policy
• Secondment Policy
• Special Leave Policy
• Travel & Expenses Policy
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Whistleblowing Policy
Work Experience Policy
Professional Registration Policy
Management of Organisational Change Policy
Pay Protection Policy
Shared Parental Leave Policy
Agenda for Change Re-banding Policy

All staff policies are shared with staff members and are also available on the Staff Intranet.

Disabled employees

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group is committed to equality of opportunity for all employees
and is committed to employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no employee,
or potential employee receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of gender, race, colour,
ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion of belief, age, trade union
membership, disability, offending background, domestic circumstances, social and employment
status, HIV status, gender reassignment, political affiliation or any other person characteristic as
outlined in the Equality Act (2010) and any other status covered by the Human Rights Act (1998).
Diversity will be viewed positive and in recognising that everyone is different, the unique contribution
that each individuals experience, knowledge and skills can make is valued equally.

Personal Development Reviews

NHS Wirral CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all of its employees in order to manage
the performance and development of its staff. NHS Wirral CCG has adopted the stance that the
current organisation’s objectives and appraisal system are the method by which performance and
achievement of corporate objectives would be measured.
NHS Wirral CCG are working closely with the Human Resources Team of Midlands and Lancashire
Commissioning Support Unit, to introduce a new online PDR process for all staff.

Staff Support

During the year the CCG continues to remain fully committed to the health and positive wellbeing
of its employees and understands that the health and wellbeing of the workforce is crucial to the
delivery of the improvements in patient care, as outlines in Wirral CCG’s Strategic Commissioning
Plan. All staff have access to a comprehensive Occupational Health Service including support for
Visual Display Unit (VDU) and confidential counselling services.
Managers are supported by the Human Resources Team to make appropriate referrals to support
any health concerns raised by an employee in a bid to ensure health and wellbeing remains a
priority for the organisation.

Number of senior managers
Staff

Female

Male

Total

Governing Body Members

5

2

7

Very Senior Management

2

3

5

Grand Total

7

5

12
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Staff numbers
Wirral CCG
Pay Band

WTE

%

Headcount

%

Band 2

0.68

0.91%

1

1.18%

Band 3

6.20

8.38%

7

8.24%

Band 4

11.00

14.87%

11

12.94%

Band 5

2.00

2.70%

2

2.35%

Band 6

9.00

12.16%

9

10.59%

Band 7

17.23

23.29%

18

21.18%

Band 8A

6.00

8.11%

6

7.06%

Band 8B

8.85

11.97%

9

10.59%

Band 8C

6.00

8.11%

6

7.06%

Lay

0.27

0.37%

5

5.88%

Medical

1.76

2.37%

6

7.06%

VSM

5.00

6.76%

5

5.88%

Grand Total

73.99

100.00%

85

100.00%

(AUDITED)
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Staff costs 2016/2017
2016/2017

Total		
Total

Admin

Permanent
Other
Employees

Total

Permanent
Employees

Programme
Other Total

Permanent
Other
Employees

£’000
Employee
Benefits
Salaries and
wages
Social security
costs
Employer
Contributions
to NHS
Pension
scheme
Other pension
costs
Other postemployment
benefits
Other
employment
benefits
Termination
benefits
Gross
employee
benefits
expenditure
Total - Net
admin
employee
benefits
including
capitalised
costs
Net employee
benefits
excluding
capitalised
costs

3,557

3,435

122

3,098

2,978

120

459

458

1

357

357

0

309

309

0

47

47

0

410

410

0

352

352

0

58

58

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

7

7

0

0

0

0

7

7

0

4,331

4,209

122

3,760

3,639

120

571

570

1

4,331

4,209

122

3,760

3,639

120

571

570

1

4,331

4,209

122

3,760

3,639

120

571

570

1

(AUDITED)
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Staff costs 2015/2016
2015/2016

Total		
Total

Admin

Permanent Other Total
Employees

Programme
Permanent
Employees

Other Total Permanent Other
Employees

£’000
Employee
Benefits
Salaries and
wages
Social security
costs
Employer
Contributions
to NHS
Pension
scheme
Other pension
costs
Other postemployment
benefits
Other
employment
benefits
Termination
benefits
Gross
employee
benefits
expenditure
Total - Net
admin
employee
benefits
including
capitalised
costs
Net employee
benefits
excluding
capitalised
costs

2,843 2,780

63

2,299 2,250

50

543

530

13

249

249

0

209

209

0

40

40

0

366

366

0

311

311

0

55

55

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

7

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,458 3,395

63

2,820 2,770

50

638

625

13

3,458 3,395

63

2,820 2,770

50

638

625

13

3,458 3,395

63

2,820 2,770

50

638

625

13

(AUDITED)

81

Staff Composition
As at the end of March 2017 the CCG had 85 staff. The table below includes the gender
analysis of staff employed by the CCG in detail.
Wirral CCG Gender Analysis

Female

Male

Total

58

27

85

Full Time
Female

43

Part Time
Female

15

17.6%

Full Time Male

22

25.9%

Part Time
Male

50.6%
68.24%

31.76%
5

5.9%
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Equality and Inclusion
The CCG is working pro-actively towards meeting its requirements to show due regard under
the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as defined by the Equality Act 2010 and reporting
on its progress in this area.
Wirral CCG has to show that they are considering the needs of protected Characteristic
groups throughout their functions as a CCG. These include:
• Commissioning processes
• Consultation and engagement
• Procurement functions
• Contract specifications
• Quality contract and performance schedules
• Governance systems
We will continue to work internally, and in partnership with our providers, community
and voluntary sector and other key organisations, to ensure that we advance equality of
opportunity and meet the requirements of the Equality Act.
Wirral CCG has to show that they are considering the needs of protected Characteristic
groups throughout their functions as a CCG. These include:
• Commissioning processes
• Consultation and engagement
• Procurement functions
• Contract specifications
• Quality contract and performance schedules
• Governance systems
We will continue to work internally, and in partnership with our providers, community
and voluntary sector and other key organisations, to ensure that we advance equality of
opportunity and meet the requirements of the Equality Act.
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We will continue to work internally, and in partnership with our providers, community
and voluntary sector and other key organisations, to ensure that we advance equality of
opportunity and meet the requirements of the Equality Act.
We engage with local groups to identify any adverse impacts upon those groups from the key
changes in healthcare that CCG are considering and to consider mitigation on any feedback
received. Engagement with patients, families, carers and stakeholder groups, helps the CCG
to shape fair, accessible services that take account of individual needs.
It is a key challenge across all CCGs to identify and address health inequalities, specifically
for local protected characteristic groups and Inclusion Health groups. The local JSNA
represents a summary of detailed work that has been undertaken. It is underpinned by a
core data set defined in statutory guidance, and by needs assessments which have been
undertaken in relation to various client groups and localities. Our use of the JSNA and other
key intelligence sources will continually inform our planning, our priority setting and our
commissioning.
Through the adoption and implementation of the NHS Equality Delivery system (EDS2) the
CCG aims to demonstrate to the people we serve how we are delivering on our Public Sector
Equality Duty.
This covers the following protected characteristics:
• Age (including children and young people)
• Disability
• Gender re-assignment
• Marriage and civil partnership
• Pregnancy and maternity
• Race including nationality and ethnic origin
• Religion or belief
• Sex
• Sexual orientation
EDS2 can also be readily applied to people from other disadvantaged groups, including
people who fall into “Inclusion Health” groups, who experience difficulties in accessing, and
benefiting from, the NHS.
These other disadvantaged groups typically include but are not restricted to:
• People who are homeless
• People who live in poverty
• People who are long-term unemployed
• People in stigmatised occupations (such as women and men involved in prostitution)
• People who misuse drugs
• People with limited family or social networks
• People who are geographically isolated
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As with the protected groups, the CCG may assess and grade how well other disadvantaged
groups fare compared with people overall, with a view to improving NHS performance, where
there is local evidence that indicates the need to do so.
For some of the above groups there are significant overlaps with people whose characteristics
are protected by the Equality Act. These links are borne in mind when work on either protected
or other disadvantaged groups is taken forward.

Equality Objectives

We are required to prepare and publish Equality Objectives to meet our Specific Duty as
outlined in the Equality Act.
Our plan is specific and measurable, and is updated on an annual basis.
The CCG understands that at some times in our lives we may face barriers in relation to
accessing health services or experience different outcomes. The CCG wants to reduce the
health differences across our diverse communities and our Equality Objectives will support
us to do this.
Our Equality Objectives are to:
• Make fair and transparent commissioning decisions
• Improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience
disadvantage
• Improve the equality performance of our providers through robust procurement and
monitoring practice
• Empower and engage our workforce
This year 2017, Wirral CCG will be required to developing a new equality and inclusion
strategy and equality objectives. Consultation from stakeholders will be sought and comments
from the 2016 EDS2 grading event will inform the development of the strategy.

Assessing and monitoring the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2)

The EDS2 process generates evidence of the CCG’s compliance with the PSED and this
evidence is then reviewed by local people and stakeholders against the goals. EDS2 provides
the local stakeholder group representatives and the CCG Governing Body with an assurance
mechanism for compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and links our equality objectives with
users of services, to ensure improvements in patient experience.
The four EDS2 goals are:
1. Better health outcomes for all
2. Improved patient access and experience
3. Empowered, engaged and included staff
4. Inclusive leadership at all levels
A grading event to assess the CCG’s performance was undertaken in December 2016. The
focus of the event was Goal 1 – Better Health Outcomes. Representatives from protected
groups where invited to assess the evidence provided by the CCG.
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The EDS2 findings identified a range of actions for CCGs’ Equality Objective Plan and fair
EDS 2 grading. This process also informed the preparation of our EDS2 Summary Submission
to NHS England for 2015/16, which explains some of our processes.

Provider performance

All our key NHS providers have undertaken the EDS2 assessment and have set equality
objectives in accordance with their requirements.
We are working closely with our providers to improve equality performance and access and
outcomes for protected groups through robust contract monitoring, via the quality contract
schedule.
All our commissioned NHS Providers have to undertake a number of actions which are part of
the monitored Quality contract schedule. This includes: Equality Diversity and Human rights
governance structure, engagement with stakeholder groups, staff surveys, Workforce Race
Equality Scheme report, EDS2, Equality Impact Analysis on any changes which are being
undertaken, annual report, data collection and human rights analysis. With smaller providers
the plan is to identify and spot check a percentage of these organisations each year and
implement SMART action plans where necessary. This will be a risk based framework based
on contract value and activity.

Achievements in 2016/17
Workforce
The CCG has commissioned Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (CSU)
Human Resources and Equality and Inclusion Team who support the CCG in ensuring that
it has in place fair and equitable employment and recruitment practices in place. The CCG
aims to fully understand the diversity of the workforce to ensure non-discriminatory practice,
working with staff and staff representatives to identify and eliminate barriers and discrimination
in line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, Equality Act 2010 and the Employment Statutory
Code of Practice.
The CCG has a small workforce and as such is not required under the Specific Equality Duty
to publish its workforce data, however the CCG reviews its data on a quarterly basis through
the Quality and Performance committee and promotes transparency in all of its work aims
to carry out regular reviews and analysis of the workforce profile in line with best practice.
Training
Staff working within the CCGs undertake annual equality and diversity training. The training
is designed as an introduction to diversity and cultural awareness, and as a practical guide to
making organisational culture an inclusive one. Staff training uptake is monitored by Electronic
Staff Records. Equality and Diversity Training is mandatory for all CCG employees every
three years.
Programme/Commissioning leads within the CCG who are responsible for transforming
health services have received one to one coaching on undertaking Equality Impact and Risk
Assessments.
NB. At March 2017, 98% of CCG employees had undergone Equality and Diversity training.
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Communicating with People
In June 2016, the Governing Body approved the CCG’s Communications and Engagement
strategy. The approach adopted within the strategy ensures that the CCG is meeting its
obligations in relation to the Public Sector Equality Duty
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
The WRES report sets out the CCG performance information profile and Board composition,
by ethnicity, The CCG submits its WRES return to NHSE as required.
Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES)
It has been recommended that a Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES) should be
mandated via the NHS Standard Contract in England from April 2018, with a preparatory
year from 2017-18. NHS England has agreed to do so. The EDC has also agreed to support
a programme of work to support this
Showing ‘Due Regard’ to the Public Sector Equality Duty
In order to deliver high quality inclusive health services, the CCG aims to ensure that protected
groups have the same access, experiences and outcomes as the general population. A
way of achieving this is through Equality Impact and Risk Assessments; in order to support
the transformational and QIPP programme, The CCG has adopted an Equality Impact and
Risk Assessment (EIRA). This enables the CCG to show ‘due regard’ to the Public Sector
Equality Duty by ensuring that all requirements around equality, human rights and privacy
are given advanced consideration prior to any policy decisions that the CCG’s Governing
Body or Senior Managers make that may be affected by these issues. CCG Commissioners
continue to ensure that the EIRA is integral to the decision making process.
Whilst EAs are not a means for ensuring or delivering legal compliance, they are a receptacle
for capturing all the considerations made and evidence during key activities such as:
• Policy development and review
• Budget planning and allocation
• Service planning, review and re design
• Projects and work programmes
• Commissioning and procurement
22 EIA’s have been carried out in 2016-17
Next steps
A large number of work has commenced and been achieved in 2016/17, however a number
of priorities have been identified in for 2017/18.
• To focus on areas within the EDS2 where it is “developing” with the aim to moving to
“achieving” level
• To strengthen communications and engagement as outlined in the approved CCG
communications and engagement strategy
• To develop robust mechanisms to ensure that NHS commissioned services comply with
EDS2 and any non-compliance is reported and acted upon
• To ensure Equality and Inclusion is embedded within the values of the CCG through
the implementation of the CCG improvement plan via the new Equalities and inclusion
strategy
• To support the implementation of the all age Learning Disability strategy
• Continuation of pathway development in Mental Health services that are inclusive and
achieve the constitutional standard
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Expenditure on Consultancy
The total expenditure on consultancy for the CCG was £8,000 in relation to internal audit
fees.

Off-Payroll Engagements
The CCGs off payroll engagements are tabled below:
Table 1
Number of existing arrangements as of 31st March 2017
Of which the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting
for between one and two years at the time of reporting
for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting
for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting
for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

Number
1

Table 2

Number

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six
months in duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017

0

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving NHS Wirral CCG the right to request assurance in
relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

1

Of which:

0

assurance has been received

0

assurance has not been received
engagement is terminated as a result of assurance not being
received

0

Table 3
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/
or senior officers with significant financial responsibility during
the year
Number of individuals that have been deemed “board
members, and/or senior officers with significant financial
responsibility” during the financial year. This figure includes
both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

Number

1
0
0
0
0

0

0

16
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Exit Packages
There were no exit packages in 2016/17.

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit
Report

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is not required to produce a
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities,
losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are includes as notes in the
Financial Statements of this report from page 106-139.

Simon Banks
Accountable Officer

23/05/2017
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Appendix A
Declaration of Interests
A copy of the declaration of interests is available on the CCG’s website and is also included below:
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/about-us/whos-who/registers-of-interest/
Name

Current
position(s)

Albanese,
Carmelo

Employee

Interests
to
Declare

Date CoI
Form
received

20/09/2016

Governing
Body
Member

05/01/2017

04/04/2017
Governing
Body
Member

Financial
Interest

GP
Claughton
Medical
Centre

Financial
Interest

Employed
by WUTH in
Gastroenterology

Financial
Interest

Own the practice premises
& host organisations who
provide health
& social care.
The organisations are
sometimes
discussed at
meetings

Financial

GP Practice
is a member
of Primary
Care Wirral
Federation

Indirect
Interest

Partner is an
employee of
Halton CCG

Yes
20/09/2016

Banks,
Simon

Description
of Interest

Date of
interest
from

Date of
interest
to

Direct
or indirect?

Actions to
be taken
to
mitigate
risk

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy

No interests declared.

20/09/2016

Ariaraj,
Laxman

Type of
Interest
to declare

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

04/04/2017

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Yes
04/04/2017

Direct
Interest

Chief Officer
Halton CCG

01/02/2013

Barber,
Christopher

Employee

No interests declared.

Borrington,
Susan

Employee

No interests declared.

Boyd-Short,
Sarah

Employee

No interests declared.

Ongoing
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Bradburn,
Joanne

Employee

No interests declared.

Burgess,
Kim

Employee

No interests declared.

10/10/2016
Burgess,
Richard

Employee

Indirect
Financial
Interest

Spouse is
employed by
University of
Liverpool as
a research
fellow within
the Institute
of Infection
and Global
Health.

Indirect
Financial
Interest

Honoria for
consultancy work, to
assist in the
training of
pharmaceutical staff

Yes

02/03/2017

Sep-16

Mar-17

Present

Mar-17

Indirect

University
has strict
ethical
protocols
in place
when
receiving
research
grants.
Risk of
there being
a cross
interest is
minimal.

Direct

Non-direct
interest
declared
in line with
policy

Indirect

None

Chantler,
Michael

Employee

No interests declared.

Cheater,
Sylvia

Employee

No interests declared.

Employee

Indirect
Interest

Mother Employee
at Earlston
& Seabank
Medical
Centre

10/10/2016

Indirect
Interest

Husband
is an
employee
of Liverpool
CCG

Ongoing

Ongoing

Indirect

Maintain
professional
boundaries

10/10/2016

Indirect
Interest

Board
Member of
Sefton Carers Centre

Ongoing

Nov-16

Indirect

Resignation
Tendered

Indirect
Interest

Wife is the
Named
Nurse for
Safeguarding Children
with
Cheshire
and Wirral
Partnership
Trust – Wirral CCG has
a contract
with this organisation

Indirect

Refrain
from direct
individual
decision
making that
may be of
benefit or
detriment to
the trust

Indirect
Interest

Brother is
the Acting
Director
of Operations at St.
Helens and
Knowsley
Hospital
Trust – Wirral CCG has
a contract
with this organisation

Indirect

Refrain
from direct
individual
decision
making
that may
be of
benefit or
detriment
to the trust

Clarke, Julie

Clitheroe,
Patricia

Employee

Yes

03/03/2017

Yes

17/03/2017

Cooper,
Andrew

Employee

Yes

17/03/2017

Ongoing

Current

Current

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing
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17/03/2017

Cooper,
Andrew

Employee

21/09/2016

Governing
Body
Member

Non-Financial
Personal
Interests

Parent
Governor
at Wirral
Grammar
School for
Girls (on
Board of
Directors as
school is an
Academy)

Financial
Interest

GP Partner
Eastham
Group
Practice

Indirect
Interest

Husband Consultant
in Critical
Care, Wirral
University
Teaching
Hospital

Yes

17/03/2017

Cowan,
Paula

"Non-Financial
Personal
Interests"

Member
of Royden
Revolve
Rotary Club
which raises
funds for
charitable
organisations some
of which
receive
income from
Wirral CCG

Yes
21/09/2016

Current

Current

Feb-03

Apr-02

Coyle, Anna

Employee

No interests declared.

Cunningham,
Michael

Employee

No interests declared.

Currie,
Norma

Employee

No interests declared.

Dakin,
Tracey

Daniels,
Deborah

Delaney,
Simon

Employee

Employee

Governing
Body Member

Yes

Yes

Yes

Financial
Interest

Secondary
employment
at Wirral
Community NHS
Foundation
Trust

Indirect

Daughter Employee
at Alder Hey
Childrens
Hospital

08/09/2016

Financial
Interest

GP - Sunlight group
Practice

08/09/2016

"Non-Financial
Professional
Interests"

GP Appraiser - NHS
England
Post

Indirect
Interest

Wife - A
ward sister
at WUTH

09/09/2016

06/03/2017

08/09/2016

23/11/2015

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Present

Present

Present

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Indirect

Refrain
from
involvement
in activities
in the club
that may
result in
a conflict
with work
responsibilities

Indirect

Refrain
from
involvement
in activities at the
school that
may result
in a conflict
with work
responsbilities

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.
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Delaney,
Simon

Governing
Body Member

Denny,
Angela

Employee

Develing,
Jonathan

Governing
Body Member

Doherty,
Lesley

Governing
Body
Member

Downs,
Helen Dr

Governing
Body
Member

Yes

08/09/2016

Indirect
Interest

Wife - A
ward sister
at WUTH

Ongoing

Yes

05/10/2016

Indirect
Interest

Wife is
a school
nurse
working for
Wirral Community NHS
Foundation
Trust

Ongoing

Yes

17/02/2017

Financial
Interest

GP Partner
Civic Medical Centre
Bebington

Member of
GPW
Federation

1996

2016

No interests declared.

Dunton,
Barbara

Employee

No interests declared.

Edwards,
Emma

Employee

No interests declared.

Fletcher,
Anita

Employee

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Present

Indirect

Required
role as
part of FT
process
and
nominated
by CCG
Chief
Officer

Ongoing

Indirect

Maintain
confidentiality.

Ongoing

No interests declared.

Employee

Edwards,
Paul

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Ongoing

No interests declared.

Duckworth,
Karen

Governing
Body Member

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Yes

08/09/2016

"Non-Financial
Professional
Interests"

Appointed CCG
Governor
on Wirral
Community
Foundation
Trust's
Council of
Governers

May-16

Ongoing

Ongoing

No interests declared.

Gillett,
Carole

Employee

Gilmore,
Matthew

Employee

No interests declared.

Halley,
Bernard

Employee

No interests declared.

Hammersely, Debbie

Employee

No interests declared.

Hankinson,
Lesley

Employee

No interests declared.

Harrington,
Heather

Employee

No interests declared.

Yes

15/03/2017

Indirect
Interest

Daughter
Staff Nurse
at Wirral
Community NHS
Foundation
Trust

Ongoing
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Husband is
Accountable
Officer at
Eastern
Cheshire
CCG

Hawker,
Nesta

Governing
Body Member

Hayes,
Allison

Employee

No interests declared.

Heeley,
Helen

Employee

No interests declared.

Hegarty,
Ashley

Employee

No interests declared.

Hennell,
Sheena

Employee

Yes

Yes

28/09/2016

Indirect
Interest

Ongoing

Financial

Honoraria
Pfizer,
Novartis,
Lilley

Apr-16

Mar-17

Indirect

14/09/2016

Financial

NHS Professionals

Sep-16

Mar-17

Indirect

02/03/2017

Indirect

Boehringer

Jan-17

Ongoing

Indirect

13/04/2017

Financial

Novo
Nordisk UK

Apr-17

Ongoing

Direct

Employee

No interests declared.

Huang, Ying

Employee

No interests declared.

Hughes,
John

Employee

No interests declared.

Jones, Amy

Employee

No interests declared.

Employee

Kent,
Martyn

Employee

Lane,
Jordan

Employee

Yes

Indirect

14/09/2016

Hogan,
Kerry

Kelly, Sarah

Ongoing

06/03/2017

Indirect
Interest

Relative
works for
WCFT
within the
Corporate
Affairs Team

Ongoing

Ongoing

Shared in
meetings
as necessary.

“Declaration of
interest to
CCG
Code of
conduct”

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

No interests declared.

Yes

27/09/2016

Indirect
Interest

Close
friend/
relative
works for
CWP who
provides
NHS Wirral
CCG’s
Occupational Health
service.

Indirect
Interest

Sister is
employee
of Wirral
Council Department
of Adult
Social Services

Jan-16

Lynch,
Sarah

Employee

Marchant,
Paul

Employee

No interests declared.

McGovern,
Paul

Employee

No interests declared.

Moore, Gail

Employee

No interests declared.

Morris,
Louise

Employee

No interests declared.

Yes

09/03/2017

Jun-16

Current

Present
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Morgan,
Lucy

Employee

No interests declared.

Owen,
Christine

Employee

No interests declared.

Partridge,
Jessica

Employee

No interests declared.

Pearce,
Simon

Employee

No interests declared.

Phillips,
Nicola

Employee

No interests declared.

Parry,
Kathryn

Employee

No interests declared.

Price-Jones,
Grace

Puig,
Santiago

Quigley,
Lorna

Employee

Employee

Governing
Body Member

Yes

Yes

Financial
Interest

Secondary
employment
at Wirral
Community NHS
Foundation
Trust

Financial
Interest

GP Partner
- West Wirral Group
Practice

2005

21/10/2016

Indirect
Interest

Husband
works in
Aintree
Hospitals
in Clinical
Governance

21/10/2016

Indirect
Interest

Supporter of
the Labour
Party

16/09/2016

22/09/2016

Yes

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Present

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Ongoing

Ongoing

Indirect

Ongoing

Ongoing

Indirect

Current

Indirect

None

Indirect

No action
required
as roles
not directly related.

Indirect

No action
required
as roles
not directly related.

Nov-12

Rand, Ian

Employee

No interests declared.

Rigby, Anna

Employee

No interests declared.

Roberts,
Linda

Employee

No interests declared.

Salter,
Annabel

Employee

No interests declared.

Sampson,
David

Employee

No interests declared.

Scullion,
Alison

Employee

Yes

02/03/2017

26/09/2016

Shelley,
Clare

Employee

Indirect
Interest

Close family member
works in the
Maternity
Ward at
Wirral
University
Teaching
Hospital

Indirect
Interest

Sister
works as
a Student
Nurse which
includes
placements
at various
Trusts
including
WUTH,
CWP &
WCT.

Indirect
Interest

Sister in
law works
at WUTH
as a senior
manager.

Yes

26/09/2016

Current

Current

Current

Present

Current

Current

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.
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Sheppard,
Emma

Employee

Smith,
Susan

Employee

Yes

Stokes,
Sian

Employee

Governing
Body
Member

Indirect

Ongoing

Direct

Financial

26/09/2016

"Non-Financial
Professional
Interests"

Appraiser
NHS England

01/08/2016

Ongoing

Indirect

Yes

26/09/2016

"Non-Financial
Professional
Interests"

Member of
the British
Medical
Association

01/08/2005

Ongoing

Indirect

Yes

26/09/2016

Indirect
Interest

Wife salaried GP
at Wirral
practice

26/09/2016

Ongoing

Indirect

Indirect
Interest

Spouse
is Head
of Contracting at
WUTH

Indirect
Interest

Father Assistant
Director
of Commissioning
(Primary
Care) at
NHS Wirral
CCG

02/03/2017

Indirect
Interest

Mother Head of
Contracting
at Wirral
University
Teaching
Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

26/01/2017

13/09/2016

Financial
Interest

GP Partner - The
Village Medical Centre

2008

Financial
Interest

Director
of Limited
Company
which provides orthopaedic and
medicolegal
services

2010

Ongoing

Indirect

Indirect
Interest

Spouse is
Consultant
Orthopaedic
Surgeon
working at
WUTH and
Spire Murrayfield

2006

Ongoing

Indirect

Yes

04/10/2016

02/03/2017

Stewart,
Oliver

Ongoing

26/09/2016

Chair of
members
council

Employee

Jul-15

GP Partner
- Egremont
Medical
Centre

Yes

Stewart,
Iain

Mother is
Practice
Manager
within South
Sefton CCG

Declared
in line with
policy.

No interests declared.
Yes

Sowery,
James

01/03/2017

Indirect
Interest

Yes

13/09/2016

Yes

13/09/2016

01/01/2013

Ongoing

26/01/2017

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Indirect

Exclude
self from
WUTH
contract
related
meetings.

Indirect

Decalred
in line with
conflicts of
interests
policy.

Ongoing

Indirect

Decalred
in line with
conflicts of
interests
policy.

Ongoing

Direct

Ongoing

Ongoing

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.
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Stokes,
Sian

Governing
Body Member

Yes

17/02/2017

Financial

Niece is
employed
by Wirral
Christian
Centre
Residential
Home.

Ongoing

Tarbath,
Valerie

Employee

Treharne,
Michael

Governing
Body
Member

No interests declared.

Tsang,
Darren

Employee

No interests declared.

Ward,
Hannah

Employee

No interests declared.

Waring,
Janet

Employee

No interests declared.

Watts Jo

Employee
(secondment)

Yes

Yes

02/03/2017

01/03/2017

22/09/2016

Wells,
Susan

Governing
Body
Member

Indirect
Interest

GP Practice
is a member
of Primary
Care Wirral
Federation

Other

Financial

Substantive
employment
held with
Cheshire
and Wirral
Partnership
NHS Foundaion Trust,
currently on
secondment
to Wirral
CCG

GP Partner
- Marine
Lake Medical Practice

20/02/2017

13/02/2017

1987

Ongoing

Ongoing

13/05/2017

Ongoing

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy

Indirect

Will not be
involved in
any future
safegiarding investigations or
quality improvement
work for
this home,
whilst family
member is
in employment.

Direct

Will declare
interest as
required in
meetings
with CWP
as main MH
provider.
Will discuss
with line
manager any
mitigation
required as
identified
through
course of
secondment
position.

Direct

Relinquish
chair to lay
member for
any item
regarding
GP as
appropriate
and take
guidance
from them
as to level
of involvement with
the item
appropriate

Yes

22/09/2016

Financial

Senior
medical
officer at
West Kirby
residential
school

Ongoing

Ongoing

Indirect

Relinquish
chair to lay
member for
any item
regarding
GP as
appropriate
and take
guidance
from them
as to level
of involvement with
the item
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appropriate

22/09/2016

Wells,
Susan

Governing
Body
Member

Employee

Yes

Yes

Whittle,
Alan

Member
BMA
Fellow
RCGP

Financial

GP Practice
is a member
of Primary
Care Wirral
Federation

Indirect
Interest

Father is
employee
of Royal
Liverpool
University
Hospital

Indirect
Interest

Partner is
Assistant
Chief Nurse
(Safeguarding) for
the Royal
Liverpool &
Boradgreen
NHS Trust

Yes
05/01/2017

Wentworth,
Laura

Non financial professional

05/04/2017

11.10.16

Governing
Body
Member

Yes

11/10/2016

Financial
Interest

Occassionally asked
to provide
paid management
consultancy
services to
NHS Organisations

Ongoing

Ongoing

Current

Sep-15

Jun-15

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy

Indirect

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy

Indirect

Withdraw
from any
relevant
commissioning
decisions
regarding
NHS organisation

Direct

Avoid
taking any
assignments with
NHS organisations
that have
a commissioning
relationship
with NHS
Wirral CCG
"CCG and
DASS
aware.

Williams,
Jennifer

Employee

Williams,
Richard

Governing
Body
Member

Wood, Barry

Employee

Woodall,
Nicola

Employee
(Secondment)

Yes

Yes

27/09/2016

30/09/2016

Indirect
Interests

"Non Financial
Professional Interest"

Sister works
on a casual
basis at
Mayflower
Residential
Home as a
Health Care
Assistant

Wirral Local
Medical
Committee
Chair

Ongoing

Ongoing

Indirect

No involvement in
individual
concerns
relating to
this provider.
Aware of
responsibilities to NMC
Code."

Ongoing

Ongoing

Direct

Declared
in line with
conflicts
of interest
policy.

Direct

Declared
in line wth
conflicts
of interest
policy.

No interests declared.

Yes

01/03/2017

Other

Substantive
employment
held with
Cheshire
and Wirral
Partnership
NHS Foundaion Trust,
currently on
secondment
to Wirral
CCG

Dec-16

Dec-17
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Wormald,
Paul

Employee

Worthington,
Chelsea

Employee

Yes

22/09/2016

Indirect
Interest

Wife is the
Designated
Nurse
Adult Safeguarding for
NHS West
Cheshire
Clinical
Commissioning
Group
NHS Vale
Royal Clinical Commissioning
Group

Jun-14

Present

Indirect

Would
inform Manager of any
conflicting
interests

No interests declared.
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Appendix B
Position

Name

Start Date with
Wirral CCG

Sex

Accountable Officer

Simon Banks

03/05/2017

Male

Chair

Dr Sue Wells

01/04/2013

Female

Mike Treharne

01/02/2016

Male

Lorna Quigley

01/04/2013

Female

Paul Edwards

01/05/2013

Male

Nesta Hawker

20/07/2015

Female

Dr Paula Cowan

01/05/2015

Female

Dr Simon Delaney

01/05/2015

Male

Dr Laxman Ariaraj

01/05/2015

Male

Dr Sian Stokes

01/05/2015

Female

Dr Helen Downs

14/02/2017

Female

Lesley Doherty

01/10/2015

Female

Linda Roberts

10/10/2016

Female

Alan Whittle

01/06/2015

Male

Sylvia Cheater MBE

13/11/2013

Female

Graham Hodkinson

01/04/2013

Male

Fiona Johnstone

01/04/2013

Female

Chief Financial
Officer
Director of Quality &
Patient Safety
Director of Corporate
Affairs
Director of
Commissioning
Medical Director
GP Primary Care
Lead
GP Lead Planned
Care
GP Lead Long Term
Conditions
GP Lead Urgent
Care
Registered Nurse
Lay Member Quality
& Outcomes
Lay Member Audit &
Governance
Lay Member Patient
Champion
Director of Social
Services (Local
Authority)
Director of Public
Health (Local
Authority)
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Simon Banks – Accountable Officer

Simon Banks joined NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) in April 2017 as Chief
Officer. He is also the Senior Responsible Officer for the Cheshire and Merseyside Women’s
and Children’s Services Partnership.
Simon has worked in health and care in either the voluntary sector or the NHS for his whole
career.
Simon’s experience in the voluntary sector came through working as a Patient Advocate
with the Citizens’ Advice Bureau in Ashworth Hospital. He then worked for Age Concern
Cheshire in roles that encompassed information and advice, lobbying and campaigning.
Simon joined the NHS in July 2000 as Chief Officer, Warrington Community Health Council
before moving to work in Warrington Community Healthcare NHS Trust and 5 Boroughs
Partnership NHS Trust, which were NHS provider organisations and in which he held roles
that supported the Trust Board and Executive Team.
Simon has also worked in commissioning in specialised services, NHS Halton and St Helens
Primary Care Trust (PCT) and as Chief Officer of NHS Halton CCG.

Dr Sue Wells – Chair

Dr Wells started life in the Midlands, graduated from Cambridge in 1982 and progressed by
completing Vocational Training for General Practice in Chester.
Sue moved to Wirral in 1987 to become a GP principal in a practice in West Kirby where she
continues to undertake clinical work as a GP.
In her early years as a GP Sue was involved with activities for the Royal College of GPs in
Mersey Faculty and nationally over 9 years. She developed an interest in Diabetes, working
as a Clinical Assistant in Diabetes in Wirral University Teaching Hospital for 13 years. She
also developed an interest in education becoming a GP trainer facilitating the education of
doctors who wish to become GPs.
Sue took on a management role when she was elected to the Board of Wirral Health
Commissioning Consortium in 2011 and a GP executive on the Wirral CCG Governing Body.
She became deputy chair of WHCC.
She was elected as Medical Director of Wirral CCG in February 2015.
She was elected Chair of Wirral CCG in October 2016.

Mike Treharne – Chief Financial Officer

Mike Treharne is a finance professional with some 32 years’ experience in the NHS.
He has been a Director of Finance within the North West for some 17 years, and has worked
extensively across the NHS at a very senior finance level in PCTs, District Health Authorities,
University Teaching Hospitals, DGH’s and community trusts/FT in Wales, West Suffolk, West
Cumbria, St Helens & Knowsley, and Wigan.
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He has completed the NHS Leadership Centre and Kings Fund Executive Director
Development Programme: undertaken applied study tours to Berkeley and Harvard
Universities; and visited Melbourne Australia to compare health services in the Victoria State.

Lorna Quigley – Director of Quality & Patient Safety

Lorna commenced her NHS career 28 years ago whilst training as a Nurse at Walton and
Fazakerley Hospitals. Lorna then went on to various other roles within the voluntary sector
and NHS within general management, acute hospital trusts, primary care trust and now NHS
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group.
Lorna’s previous roles have included Assistant Director of Service Development, Lead Nurse
and other performance related roles.
Lorna’s current role at the CCG is Director of Quality & Patient Safety and this involves
monitoring the quality of services that are commissioned by the CCG against agreed
standards, responsibility as Executive Lead for Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults
and is also the lead for infection, prevention and control.

Paul Edwards - Director of Corporate Affairs

Paul has worked in the NHS since 1993 in variety of roles, including management positions
in Business Development, Primary Care Contacting, Commissioning and clinical services
provision. He holds an Honours degree, post graduate qualifications in Health Economics
and a Masters in Business Administration.
Paul’s current role as ‘Director of Corporate Affairs’ involves leading on all aspects of
corporate governance and ensuring that the CCG’s business is undertaken to the highest
standards of probity and according to statutory and regulatory requirements. He is the CCG’s
lead for Emergency Planning and Business Continuity, Workforce, Communications and
Engagement, Risk Management and the CCG’s Compliance Team.

Nesta Hawker – Director of Commissioning

Nesta joined the NHS 27 years ago as a student mental health nurse in North Wales. Since
completing her nurse training Nesta has had a variety of roles within the NHS including
various nursing roles, general management with a multi-agency substance misuse team and
commissioning both on a regional and national basis. She completed her Masters in Health
Service Management in South Wales in 2007. Most recently, Nesta’s role was involved in
commissioning of specialised services on a national basis.
As Director of Commissioning her current responsibilities include leading on the development
of the strategic plan of the Clinical Commissioning Group by reviewing the needs of the
people of Wirral and by working with partners to deliver the health services to meet these
needs. She is involved in the planning, delivery, agreement and monitoring of the majority of
the health services and their outcomes received by the population of the Wirral.

Dr Paula Cowan – Medical Director

Having qualified in 1995 from the Royal College of Surgeons, Dublin, Dr Cowan practised in
Internal Medicine, Critical Care, and Anaesthesia within Ireland.
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In 2001, she embarked on a career in Primary care and completed General Practice training
through the Mersey Deanery. Dr Cowan has been a GP partner at the Eastham Group
Practice since 2003.
Dr Cowan has been involved in Wirral CCG activity since 2010, as Executive Board member
for Wirral Health Commissioning Consortium, and also as Urgent Care lead for Wirral Health
Commissioning Consortium from 2012-2015.
She was an active Wirral LMC committee member and held the position of vice chair from
2007-2013.
In April 2015 Dr Cowan was appointed to the role of Clinical Lead for Urgent Care at Wirral CCG
which she held until November 2016. This role involved leading on key projects, encouraging
integrated working across partner organisations aiming to facilitate transformational change
in the delivery of urgent care.
In November 2016, she was elected as Medical Director of Wirral CCG.
Dr Cowan is also our nominated Caldicott Guardian.

Dr Simon Delaney – GP Primary Care Lead

Dr Delaney grew up on Wirral. He was an undergraduate at Nottingham University before
returning to Wirral for his GP training.
He has been a partner at Sunlight Group Practice for 11 years. He is also a GP trainer and
appraiser.
Outside of medicine, he is a keen golfer, cricketer and Evertonian.

Dr Laxman Ariaraj – GP Lead Planned Care

Dr Laxman Ariaraj trained at the University of Sheffield Medical School and, after working
in hospital specialities in Sheffield, Warrington and in Queensland, Australia, he returned to
complete GP training in Liverpool. He became a member of the Royal College of General
Practitioners and then joined the team at Claughton Medical Centre in Birkenhead, where he
is a GP partner providing General Medical Care, Minor Surgery and Family Planning advice.
He is a GP trainer and the practice lead for Child Health. He also works as an Upper
Gastrointestinal Endoscopist at Arrowe Park Hospital.
In May 2015, Dr Ariaraj took up the post as Wirral CCG Clinical Lead for Planned Care. He
sits on the Governing Body and Systems Resilience Group and works closely with colleagues
in several areas of health care.

Dr Sian Stokes – GP Lead Long Term Conditions

Dr Stokes graduated from St George’s Hospital Medical School, London in 1998. She moved
to Manchester in 2000 to complete her vocational training in General Practice. In 2007, Sian
moved to the Wirral and took up a partnership at Grove Medical Centre in Wallasey, which
has recently merged to become The Village Medical Centre.
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In addition to her work as a practising GP, Sian has an interest in GP education and works
as a GP trainer. In 2012 she was elected to the Board of Wirral Health Commissioning
Consortium. During this role she undertook work with the GP training forum as well as
chairing the Wallasey ‘cluster’ group of GP’s.
In 2015 Sian was appointed as the Clinical Lead for Long Term Conditions for Wirral CCG.
Dr Helen Downs – GP Lead Urgent Care
Dr Downs trained at Birmingham University and qualified in 1990. She moved to the Wirral
the same year and completed GP vocational training at the end of 1995.
She joined Civic Medical Centre, Bebington in January 1996 and is senior partner at the
practice. Dr Downs has served on the LMC and was prescribing lead for Bebington and
West Wirral PCT and is also co-opted non-voting member of the GPW Fed board.
Dr Downs has an interest in diabetes having completed the certificate in diabetic care in
2006, she also holds the DRCOG and DFFP. She is also a GP trainer and involved in the
education of University of Liverpool medical students.
Lesley Doherty – Registered Nurse
Lesley qualified as an RN in 1979 and RM in 1980. She became a Director of Nursing in
1998 and undertook a secondment to the DH leading on nursing recruitment and retention.
Moving to Bolton Hospitals NHS Trust as Director of Nursing in 2003 she became CEO in
2010 developing a national and internal reputation for lean in healthcare.
Lesley has held national roles as Chair of the Neonatal Nursing Association, regional lead
for the National Leadership Programme, a member of the DH’s National HCAI Prevention
Advisory Group 2006/9 and one of the Clinical Advisors on the NHS Constitution. Lesley
now works in consultancy and coaching support and is the Lay Member / Registered Nurse
for Wirral CCG.
Dr Richard Sturgess – Secondary Care Doctor
Dr Sturgess is a Consultant Hepatologist at Aintree Hospital NHS Trust. He qualified from
The Middlesex Hospital Medical School, London in 1984. He trained in gastroenterology
and hepatology in London and Liverpool. He was appointed as a consultant in 1995. He
has extensive experience in clinical leadership and is currently Deputy Medical Director of
his trust, having previously been Director of Digestive Disease. His clinical interests include
hepatology and hepatobiliary disease.
His previous roles outside of his Trust include Merseyside Modernisation Lead for Endoscopy
and Director of the Cheshire and Merseyside Bowel Cancer Screening Program.
Linda Roberts – Lay Member Quality & Outcomes
Linda Roberts has worked in the Public, Private and Voluntary Sectors during her working
life. Most recently Linda was the CEO of a large disability charity that worked primarily in
the areas of Health, Social Care & Education across 11 Local Authority Areas and 8 Health
organisations.
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Linda has a B.A. Hons degree in Politics and an NVQ Level V in strategic management. She
has a particular interest in the provision of high-quality public services.
Linda has lived in Wirral since birth and is passionate about improving the life chances of all
but notably those who are disadvantaged in any way.
Alan Whittle – Lay Member Audit & Governance
Alan’s professional background is in finance, and he has been a member of the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) since 1977. He has spent his entire
career in the public services, beginning with 16 years in a variety of finance roles in Local
Authorities, before moving to the NHS in 1988.
He retired from the position of Chief Executive at an NHS Foundation Trust in Essex in 2013.
His key skills and interests are in financial management, corporate governance, business
strategy, board development and regulatory compliance.
Alan has 23 years’ experience at Board level in NHS acute hospitals, 13 as Finance
Director and 10 as CEO, and includes in his achievements the successful leadership of the
application to become a first wave Foundation Trust in 2004, and overseeing the delivery of
statutory financial duties for 23 consecutive years. Alan has led on all aspects of NHS service
developments including the establishment of the £60 million regional Essex Cardiothoracic
Centre in 2007.
Alan has family roots in Liverpool and moved to Merseyside from Essex in 2015. He was
appointed as Lay Member (Audit and Governance) for Wirral CCG in June 2015.
Sylvia Cheater MBE – Lay Member Patient Champion
Sylvia has a background working in public health and dental public health, at both local
and regional levels. Her previous roles include Regional Food and Nutrition Lead for the
Department of Health NW, where she was responsible for the implementation and evaluation
of public health programmes to reduce inequalities.
Some of her achievements include the leadership of ‘Best Start for Life’ (guidance for
food, nutrition, play and physical activity for early years childcare), which was implemented
regionally through a local authority and primary care partnership network.
She worked in partnership with Government Office North West (Children and Learners)
on health in the school setting. She was responsible for the delivery of the School Fruit
and Vegetable Scheme working with schools, distributors and growers across the region.
Her particular interests are in reducing inequalities, food and nutrition, oral health and early
years. She is a Charitable Trustee of Henry www.henry.org.uk and the Institute of Health
Promotion and Education www.IHPE.org.uk.
She was awarded the MBE in 2016 for voluntary work with women and communities in
Cheshire.
Sylvia joined the Audit Committee as Lay Member in 2013 and the Governing Body as
Patient Champion in April 2017.
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Graham Hodkinson – Director of Social Services (Local Authority)
Graham was born and educated in Wirral. He moved away in 1990 to pursue a career in
Social Work. He moved back to Wirral with his family in 2012 to take on the role of Director
of Adult Social Services. He has considerable experience of working at the interface
between health and social care in both acute and community focused services.
Graham has been leading the Transformation of social care and the integration work
stream of Vision 2018.
Fiona Johnstone – Director of Public Health (Local Authority)
Fiona Johnstone has been a Director of Public Health since May 2002, coming to post in
Wirral at the end of September 2010.
She is responsible for monitoring and improving the health status of local people, advising
on strategies to reduce inequalities, identifying health needs, developing programmes
to reduce risk and the provision of public health evidence and expertise to support
commissioning of services.
She has a particular interest in health inequalities, having conducted one of the first equity
audits in the country, as well as considerable experience of working in primary care and
Local Authority settings, as well as in the academic sector.
Fiona has worked jointly between the local authority and the NHS on Wirral since
September 2010. NHS reform means that she is now jointly appointed by the local
authority and Public Health England.
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
for the year ended 31st March 2017
2016-2017

2015-2016

Note

£'000

£’000

Income from sale of goods and services

2

(118)

(96)

Other operating income

2

(340)

(728)

(458)

(824)

Total operating income
Staff costs

4

4,331

3,458

Purchase of goods and services

5

495,519

488,892

Depreciation and impairment charges

5

0

0

Provision expense

5

54

102

Other Operating Expenditure

5

200

206

Total operating expenditure

500,104

492,658

Net Operating Expenditure

499,646

491,834

0

0

499,646

491,834

0

0

499,646

491,834

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE

0

0

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Intangibles

0

0

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Financial Assets

0

0

Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

499,646

491,834

Finance income
Finance expense

10

Net expenditure for the year
Net Gain/(Loss) on Transfer by Absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the year
Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Items which will not be reclassified to net
operating costs

Impairments and reversals taken to Revaluation
Reserve
Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating
Costs
Net gain/loss on revaluation of available for sale
financial assets
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available
for sale financial assets
Sub total
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2017
The notes on pages 113 to 139 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31st
March 2017
2016-2017

2015-2016

Note

£'000

£’000

Property, plant and equipment

13

0

0

Intangible assets

14

0

0

Investment property

15

0

0

Trade and other receivables

17

0

0

Other financial assets

18

0

0

0

0

Non-current assets

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories

16

0

0

Trade and other receivables

17

3,657

3,853

Other financial assets

18

0

0

Other current assets

19

0

0

Cash and cash equivalents

20

16

7

3,673

3,860

0

0

Total current assets

3,673

3,860

Total assets

3,673

3,860

Total current assets
Non-current assets held for sale

21

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

23

(26,753)

(25,954)

Other financial liabilities

24

0

0

Other liabilities

25

0

0

Borrowings

26

0

0

Provisions

30

(104)

(162)

Total current liabilities

(26,857)

(26,116)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

(23,184)

(22,256)

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

23

0

0

Other financial liabilities

24

0

0

Other liabilities

25

0

0

Borrowings

26

0

0

Provisions

30

0

0

0

0

(23,184)

(22,256)

(23,184)

(22,256)

Revaluation reserve

0

0

Other reserves

0

0

Charitable Reserves

0

0

Total non-current liabilities
Assets less Liabilities
Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund

Total taxpayers' equity
(23,184)
(22,256)
The notes on pages 113 to 139 form part of this statement.
The financial statements on pages 107 to 139 were approved by the Governing Body on 23/05/2017 and signed on its behalf by:
Simon Banks, Accountable Officer
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity
for the year ended 31st March 2017
General fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other reserves

Total reserves

£’000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 01 April 2016
Transfer between reserves in respect of
assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group balance at 31 March 2017

(22,256)

0

0

(22,256)

0

0

0

0

(22,256)

0

0

(22,256)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating expenditure for the financial
year

(499,646)

(499,646)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment

0

0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible
assets

0

0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial
assets

0

0

Total revaluations against revaluation
reserve

0

0

0

0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial
assets

0

0

0

0

Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held
for sale

0

0

0

0

Impairments and reversals

0

0

0

0

Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions

0

0

0

0

Movements in other reserves

0

0

0

0

Transfers between reserves

0

0

0

0

Release of reserves to the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure

0

0

0

0

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of
available for sale financial assets

0

0

0

0

Transfers by absorption to (from) other
bodies

0

0

0

0

Reserves eliminated on dissolution

0

0

0

0

(499,646)

0

0

(499,646)

0

0

0

0

Net Recognised NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group Expenditure for
the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2017

498,718
(23,184)

498,718
(23,184)
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General fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£’000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Balance at 01 April 2015
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed
NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013
transition
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group balance at 31 March 2016

(18,838)

0

0

(18,838)

0

0

0

0

(18,838)

0

0

(18,838)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating expenditure for the financial
year

(491,834)

(491,834)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment

0

0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible
assets

0

0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial
assets

0

0

Total revaluations against revaluation
reserve

0

0

0

0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial
assets

0

0

0

0

Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held
for sale

0

0

0

0

Impairments and reversals

0

0

0

0

Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions

0

0

0

0

Movements in other reserves

0

0

0

0

Transfers between reserves

0

0

0

0

Release of reserves to the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure

0

0

0

0

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of
available for sale financial assets

0

0

0

0

Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies

0

0

0

0

Reserves eliminated on dissolution

0

0

0

0

(491,834)

0

0

(491,834)

0

0

0

0

Net Recognised NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group Expenditure for the
Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2016

488,416
(22,256)

The notes on pages 113 to 139 form part of this statement.

488,416
(22,256)
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Statement of Cash Flows for year ended 31st
March 2017
Note

2016-17

2015-16

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

£’000

Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals

(499,646)
0
0

(491,834)
0
0

Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption

0

0

Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange

0

0

Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash

0

0

Government granted assets received credited to revenue but
non-cash

0

0

Interest paid

0

0

Release of PFI deferred credit

0

0

Other Gains & Losses

0

0

Finance Costs

0

0

Unwinding of Discounts

0

0

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

0

0

195

143

0

0

800

3,161

0

0

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables

17

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables

23

Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised

30

(112)

0

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

30

54

102

(498,709)

(488,429)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

0

0

Interest received

0

0

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment

0

0

(Payments) for intangible assets

0

0

(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health

0

0

(Payments) for other financial assets

0

0

(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)

0

0

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant
and equipment

0

0

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets

0

0

Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of
Health

0

0

Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets

0

0

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)

0

0

Loans made in respect of LIFT

0

0

Loans repaid in respect of LIFT

0

0

Rental revenue

0

0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
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Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing

(498,709)

(488,429)

498,718
0
0

488,416
0
0

0

0

0
0
498,718

0
0
488,416

9

(13)

7

20

0

0

16

8

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on
Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial
Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and
cash equivalents held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the
End of the Financial Year

20

The notes on pages 113 to 139 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1.
Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department
of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting
Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined
by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been
selected. The particular policies adopted by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They have
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1
Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis (despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State
for Health under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014).
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future
is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue 		
to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the 			
concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the		
financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
1.2
Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.3
Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered
to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one
public sector body to another.
1.4
Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government
Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require
retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not
been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they
took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where assets
and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and
is disclosed separately from operating costs. Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health
Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
1.5
Charitable Funds
Under the provisions of IAS 27: Consolidated & Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under
common control with NHS bodies are consolidated within the entities’ accounts.
1.6
Pooled Budgets
Where NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of
the National Health Service Act 2006 NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets,
liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget,identified in accordance with the
pooled budget agreement.
If NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, NHS Wirral Clinical 			
Commissioning Group recognises:
• The assets NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group controls;
• The liabilities NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group incurs;
• The expenses NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group incurs; and,
• NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition 		
to the above, NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group recognises:
• NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the
nature of the assets);
• NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and
• NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.
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1.7
Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
1.7.1 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group made no critical judgements , apart from those involving estimations (see
below) that management has made in the process of applying NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
1.7.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
• Primary Care practice prescribing information is received by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group
approximately 6 weeks following the end of each reporting period. Management have estimated the year-end
prescribing expenditure accrual, £9.22 million (2015/16 circa £9.2 million, based on 2 months estimate) based on
an analysis of the forecast provided by the Prescription Pricing Division of the NHS Business Services Authority
and NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s internal model. This forecast is based on 10 months actual
prescribing data. Analysis of previous years data would suggest that there is no reason for this forecast to be
materially different to actual year-end prescribing results.
• Following a ruling by the Parliamentary and Healthcare Ombudsman, NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group
is potentially liable for continuing healthcare restitution payments from Wirral residents who have previously been
unsuccessful in obtaining continuing healthcare funding. Management have calculated a provision to reflect
the likely cost of all known restitution claims received during the financial year, following both IAS37, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets’ and the NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policy (note
1.21).
1.8
Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured
at the fair value of the consideration receivable. Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in
the following year, that income is deferred.
1.9

Employee Benefits

1.9.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from
employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken. The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the
end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward
leave into the following period.
1.9.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction
of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as
if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme
is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 		
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time NHS 			
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
1.10
Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They
are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised
when NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when all of
the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
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1.11

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.11.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250,
where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated
to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the
components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.11.2 Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring
or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s services or for administrative purposes are
stated in the statement of financial position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation
less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from
those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent
assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be
valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment
loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as
allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are
brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from
current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the
same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential
is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve
for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit
are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive
income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.11.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is
capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised
and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
1.12

Intangible Assets

1.12.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the
rest of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They
are recognised only:
• When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, NHS Wirral
Clinical Commissioning Group;
• Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating
of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and
equipment.
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Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible
asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
• The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
• The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
• How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or
use it; and,
• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
1.12.2 Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the
expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active
market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower of depreciated replacement cost or the value in use where the
asset is income generating . Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of
increases in development costs and technological advances.
1.13
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment
and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the
consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period
over which NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the
asset. This is specific to NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset
itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised
on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group checks whether there is any indication that any
of its tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment
loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount.
Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and,
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been
no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
1.14
Donated Assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to Income. They are valued,
depreciated and impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, impairments and
sales are as described above for purchased assets. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to
the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.
1.15
Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is
recognised only where conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.
1.16
Non-current Assets Held For Sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met when:
• The sale is highly probable;
• The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition; and,
• Management is committed to the sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification.
Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell. Fair value is open market value including alternative uses.
The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount
and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. On disposal, the balance for the asset on the
revaluation reserve is transferred to the general reserve.
Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for sale.
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Instead, it is retained as an operational asset and its economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when it is
scrapped or demolished.
1.17
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.17.1 NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair
value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation
to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in
calculating NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives
are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as
to whether they are operating or finance leases.
1.17.2 NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
1.18
Private Finance Initiative Transactions
HM Treasury has determined that government bodies shall account for infrastructure Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
schemes where the government body controls the use of the infrastructure and the residual interest in the infrastructure
at the end of the arrangement as service concession arrangements, following the principles of the requirements of
IFRIC 12. NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group therefore recognises the PFI asset as an item of property, plant
and equipment together with a liability to pay for it. The services received under the contract are recorded as operating
expenses.
The annual unitary payment is separated into the following component parts, using appropriate estimation techniques
where necessary:
• Payment for the fair value of services received;
• Payment for the PFI asset, including finance costs; and,
• Payment for the replacement of components of the asset during the contract ‘lifecycle replacement’.
1.18.1 Services Received
The fair value of services received in the year is recorded under the relevant expenditure headings within ‘operating
expenses’.
1.18.2 PFI Asset
The PFI assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, when they come into use. The assets are measured
initially at fair value in accordance with the principles of IAS17. Subsequently, the assets are measured at fair value,
which is kept up to date in accordance with NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s approach for each relevant
class of asset in accordance with the principles of IAS 16.
1.18.3 PFI Liability
A PFI liability is recognised at the same time as the PFI assets are recognised. It is measured initially at the same amount
as the fair value of the PFI assets and is subsequently measured as a finance lease liability in accordance with IAS 17.
An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening lease liability for the
period, and is charged to ‘finance costs’ within the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
The element of the annual unitary payment that is allocated as a finance lease rental is applied to meet the annual
finance cost and to repay the lease liability over the contract term.
An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. In
accordance with IAS 17, this amount is not included in the minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as contingent
rent and is expensed as incurred. In substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of the liability and the expense
is presented as a contingent finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
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1.18.4 Lifecycle Replacement
Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised where
they meet NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time
they are provided by the operator and are measured initially at their fair value.
The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of the
contract from the operator’s planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is provided
earlier or later than expected, a short-term finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively.
Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined in the contract, the difference is
recognised as an expense when the replacement is provided. If the fair value is greater than the amount determined
in the contract, the difference is treated as a ‘free’ asset and a deferred income balance is recognised. The deferred
income is released to the operating income over the shorter of the remaining contract period or the useful economic life
of the replacement component.
1.18.5 	 Assets Contributed by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group to the Operator For Use in the Scheme
Assets contributed for use in the scheme continue to be recognised as items of property, plant and equipment in NHS
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s Statement of Financial Position.
1.18.6  	Other Assets Contributed by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group to the Operator
Assets contributed (e.g. cash payments, surplus property) by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group to the operator
before the asset is brought into use, which are intended to defray the operator’s capital costs, are recognised initially
as prepayments during the construction phase of the contract. Subsequently, when the asset is made available to NHS
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group, the prepayment is treated as an initial payment towards the finance lease liability
and is set against the carrying value of the liability.
1.19
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
1.20
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24
hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash
and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash management.
1.21  	 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event, it is probable that NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is
the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account
the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
• Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (previously: minus 1.55%)
• Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (previously: minus 1.%)
• Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (previously: minus 0.80%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of
the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has developed a detailed formal
plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by
starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring
provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.
1.22  	 Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group
pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The
contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical
negligence cases the legal liability remains with NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group.
1.23  	 Non-clinical Risk Pooling
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The
annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.
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1.24
Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior
to 31 March 2013. Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used
to settle the claims.
1.25
Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme
Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible assets
if they are not expected to be realised within twelve months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are valued at
open market value. As NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an
offsetting transfer from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender of the allowances. The asset, provision
and deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
1.26
Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of NHS
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a
payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably.
A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
1.27
Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial
instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial
assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
• Held to maturity investments;
• Available for sale financial assets; and,
• Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.
1.27.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded
derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned on the
financial asset.
1.27.2 Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity,
and there is a positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
1.27.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do
not fall within any of the other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value
taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to
surplus/deficit on de-recognition.
1.27.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in
an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group assesses whether any financial assets,
other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment
losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
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For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a
provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
1.28 	 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods
or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is,
the liability has been paid or has expired.
1.28.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
• The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
• The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
1.28.2 	 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded
derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning
Group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.
1.28.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial
liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
1.29 	 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general,
output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant
expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input
VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.30
Foreign Currencies
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions
denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot
exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in NHS Wirral
Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.
1.31
Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has no beneficial interest in them.
1.32 	 Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to
special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which
govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning
Group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.33
Subsidiaries
Material entities over which NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has the power to exercise control so as to obtain
economic or other benefits are classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their income and expenses; gains and
losses; assets, liabilities and reserves; and cash flows are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement
lines. Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s accounting policies are not aligned
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with NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group or where the subsidiary’s accounting date is not co-terminus.
Subsidiaries that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less
costs to sell’.
1.34 Associates
Material entities over which NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has the power to exercise significant influence
so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as associates and are recognised in NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group’s accounts using the equity method. The investment is recognised initially at cost and is adjusted
subsequently to reflect NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the entity’s profit/loss and other gains/
losses. It is also reduced when any distribution is received by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group from the entity.
Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less
costs to sell’.
1.35  	 Joint Ventures
Material entities over which NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has joint control with one or more other parties
so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method.
Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less
costs to sell’.
1.36 	 Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group in conjunction with one or more
other parties but which are not performed through a separate entity. NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group records
its share of the income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.
1.37
Research & Development
Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as development
expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure
so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit from the project. It should be re-valued on the
basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation.
1.38
Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied
in 2016-17, all of which are subject to consultation:
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts ( not applicable to DH groups bodies)
• IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016-17, were they
applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue
2016-17
Total

2016-17
Admin

2016-17
Programme

2015-16
Total

£'000
Education, training and research

52

0

52

60

Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

66
340
458

0
50
50

66
290
408

36
728
824

Revenue in this note does not include resource allocation from NHS England, which is drawn directly into the
bank account of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group and credited to the General fund.
Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare
services.
					

3. Revenue
2016-17
Total

2016-17
Admin

2016-17
Programme

2015-16
Total

408
0
408

824
0
824

£'000
From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

458
0
458

50
0
50
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4. Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2016-17
Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

£'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
(note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including
capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised
costs
4.1.1 Employee benefits

3,557
357

3,435
357

122
0

410

410

0

7

7

0

4,331

4,209

122

0

0

0

4,331

4,209

122

0

0

0

4,331

4,209

122

Permanent
Employees

Other

2015-16
Total

£'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Gross employee benefits expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
(note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including
capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised
costs

2,843
249

2,780
249

63
0

366

366

0

3,458

3,395

63

0

0

0

3,458

3,395

63

0

0

0

3,458

3,395

63

"Re-charged costs of £22k have been included in the above table relating to redundancy payments as a
result of the decision, following a consultation process, to relocate the Financial Services (Treasury and
Systems Team) function and associated staff from Bevan House, Liverpool to the 1829 Building, Countess
of Chester Health Park. The total costs of £66k have been split equally between NHS West Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Warrington Clinical
Commissioning Group."					
4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not receive any recoveries in respect of employee benefits
during the year ended 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).
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4.2 Average number of people
employed

2016-2017

82

Permanently
employed
Number
80

0

0

Total
Number
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

2015-2016

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

Other
Number

Total
Number

2

73

0

0

2016-2017

2015-2016

Total Days Lost

Number
766

Number
549

Total Staff Years

82

63

Average working Days Lost

9

9

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

0

0

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year

£0

£0

4.4 Exit packages agreed in
the financial year

2015-2016

There were no exit packages paid in the year (2015-16 as disclosed below)
Compulsory
redundancies

Other agreed
departures

Total

Number

£

Number

£

Number

£

0

0

1

56,306

1

56,306

0

0

1

56,306

1

56,306

2016-2017

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early
retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the
service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment
Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval*
Total

2015-2016

Other agreed departures

Other agreed departures

Number

Number

£

£

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

56,306

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

56,306

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with
these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous period.						
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of
departure.											
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the
benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/
pensions.
The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other
bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not
designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to NHS Wirral
Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable
to the Scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. An outline of these follows:
4.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme
(taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid
by employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates
was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be
found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For 2016-17, employers’ contributions of £389,235 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2015-16:
£379,115) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s
actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published
on the Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1
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5. Operating Expenses
2016-17

2016-17

2016-17

2015-2016

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

£000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body
members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
Internal audit services
Other services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

3,410

2,839

571

2,673

921
4,331

921
3,760

0
571

785
3,458

3,800
326,871
25,325
1
74,448
163
561
8
502
15
536
0
81

496
8
38
0
0
163
60
8
279
12
316
0
81

3,304
326,863
25,287
1
74,448
0
501
0
223
3
220
0
0

4,817
279,415
67,762
1
68,468
203
736
74
640
11
603
3
82

0
0
60,347
129
97
1,933
313
197
54
355
37
495,773

0
0
0
0
0
0
215
49
0
0
0
1,725

0
0
60,347
129
97
1,933
98
148
54
355
37
494,048

0
0
60,491
126
79
4,293
342
66
102
887
0
489,200

500,104

5,485

494,619

492,658

Admin expenditure is not direct payments for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid
within target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2016-17

2016-17

2015-2016

2015-2016

Number

£000

Number

£000

10,336

78,126

9,953

76,718

10,169

77,540

9,722

76,038

98.38%

99.25%

97.68%

99.11%

2,843
2,826

359,394
359,033

2,975
2,943

350,905
350,028

99.40%

99.90%

98.92%

99.75%

6.1 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998					

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any interest on the late payment of commercial
debts during the year ending 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).						
												

7. Income Generation Activities

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any income generation activities in the
year ending 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).									
												

8. Investment revenue

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not generate any investment revenue during the year
ending 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).										
										

9. Other gains and losses

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any other gains or losses during the year
ending 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).										
											

10. Finance costs

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any finance costs during the year ending 31
March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).											
							

11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any gains or losses on transfer by absorption
during the year ending 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).
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12. Operating Lease
12.1 As lessee												
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group occupies property owned and managed by NHS
Property Services Ltd.												
Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating
leases, rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed . Consequently this note does not
include future minimum lease payments for the arrangements only.						
							
The increase in the building operating lease is due to void space charges being incurred since Wirral
Community Trust vacated the Old Market House in October 2015.
12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
2016-17

Payments
recognised as
an expense
Minimum lease
payments
Contingent
rents
Sub-lease
payments
Total

2015-16

Land

Buildings

Other

Total

Land

Buildings

Other

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

0

527

(1)

526

0

518

1

519

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

527

(1)

526

0

518

1

519

12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Land

2016-17
Buildings
Other

Total

Land

2015-16
Buildings
Other

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

0

0

0

0

0

-

-

0

0

0

0

0

0

-

-

0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

-

-

0
0

Payable
No later than
one year
Between one
and five years
After five years
Total

12.2 As Lessor
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group was not party to any agreements as a lessor during the
year ending 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

13. Property, Plant and Equipment

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group was not party to any agreements as a lessor during the
year ending 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).
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14. Intangible Non-Current Assets

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any intangible non-current assets as at 31
March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

15. Investment Property

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any investment property as at 31 March
2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

16. Inventories

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any inventory as at 31 March 2017 (2015/2016
- nil).

17. Trade and Other Receivables
Current

Non-current

Current

Non-current

2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

£'000
NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA
receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA
prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA
accrued income
Provision for the impairment
of receivables
VAT
Other receivables and
accruals
Total Trade & other
receivables
Total current and non
current
Included above:
Prepaid pensions
contributions

227
1,122
164

0
0
0

685
1,193
284

0
0
0

1,550

0

1,578

0

470

0

15

0

93

0

91

0

0

0

(4)

0

29

0

11

0

2

0

0

0

3,657

0

3,852

0

3,657

3,852

0

0

A significant amount of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to
provide funding to clinical commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring for this
organisation is considered necessary.

129

17.1 Receivables Past Their Due Date but Not Impaired
2016-17

2015-2016

£000

£000

By up to three months
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1,020

By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2
29
158

18
124
1,162

£56k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position
date.							
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding
as at 31 March 2017 (2015/16 - nil).							

17.2 Provision for Impairment of Receivables
2016-17

2015-2016

£000

£000

Balance at 01 April 2016

(4)

(2)

Amounts written off during the year

0

0

Amounts recovered during the year

4

2

0

(4)

0

(4)

(Increase) decrease in receivables
impaired
Balance at 31 March 2017

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding
as at 31 March 2017 (2015/16 - nil).
				

2016-17

2015-2016

NHS debt

0%

0%

NON NHS exc Government >60 Days

0% -50%

50%

NON NHS exc Government >120 Days

0% -100%

100%

Receivables are provided against at the following
rates:
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18. Other Financial Assets

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any Other Financial Assets as at 31 March
2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

19. Other Current Assets

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any Other Current Assets as at 31 March
2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

20. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Balance at 01 April 2016
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2017

2016-17
£000
7
9
16

2015-2016
£000
20
(13)
7

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service

16

7

Cash with Commercial banks

0

0

Cash in hand

0

0

Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of
financial position

0

0

16

7

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service

0

0

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks

0

0

Total bank overdrafts

0

0

Balance at 31 March 2017

16

7

Patients’ money held by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group, not included above

0

0

21. Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any non-current assets for sale as at 31
March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

22. Analysis of Impairments and Reversals

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any impairments or reversals during the
year ending 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).
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23. Trade and other payables
Current

Non-current

Current

Non-current

2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

£'000
NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA
payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA
accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA
deferred income
Social security costs

2,186
1,987

0
0

4,772
1,601

0
0

1,781

0

1,695

0

18,767

0

17,266

0

0

0

2

0

47

0

47

0

41

0

51

0

1,944

0

520

0

26,753

0

25,954

0

Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other
Payables

0

0

Total current and non26,753
25,954
current
Other payables include £56k (2015/16 - £66k) outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017.

24. Other Financial Liabilities

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any Other Financial Liabilities as at 31
March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

25. Other Liabilities

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any Other Liabilities as at 31 March 2017
(2015/2016 - nil).

26. Borrowings

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any borrowings during the year ended 31
March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

27. Private Finance Initiative, LIFT and other
Service Concession Arrangements

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has not entered into any PFI or NHS LIFT arrangements
during the year ended 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

28. Finance Lease Obligations

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has not entered into any finance lease arrangements
during the year ended 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil).

29. Finance Lease Receivables

As at 31 March 2017, NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has not entered into any finance
lease arrangements as a lessor.
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30. Provisions
Current

Non-current

Current

Non-current

2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

£'000
Continuing care

104

0

162

0

Total

104

0

162

0

Total current and non-current

104

162

Pensions
Relating
Pensions
to
Relating to Restructuring Redundancy
Former Other Staff
Directors

Legal
Claims

Continuing
Care

Other

Total

£’000
Balance at 01
April 2016

0

0

0

0

0

162

0

162

0

0

0

0

0

54

0

54

0

0

0

0

0

(112)

0

(112)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

104

0

104

Within one year

0

0

0

0

0

104

0

104

Between one
and five years

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

After five years

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Balance at 31
March 2017

0

0

0

0

0

104

0

104

Arising during
the year
Utilised during
the year
Reversed
unused
Unwinding of
discount
Change in
discount rate
Transfer (to)
from other public
sector body
Transfer (to)
from other public
sector body
under absorption
Balance at 31
March 2017
Expected timing
of cash flows:
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The above provision is in respect of the potential costs of restitution payments arising after 1 April
2013 resulting from the NHS Ombudsman/Parliamentary and Healthcare Ombudsman's ruling of
continuing healthcare. The provision has been calculated in line with the clinical commissioning
group's accounting policies (see note 1.7.2, key source of estimation uncertainty and provisions).
															
			
NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims
relating to periods of care before 1 April 2013, the date on which NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning
group was established. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted
for by NHS England on behalf of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning group at 31 March 2017 is
£842,151 (2015/2016 - £4,694,000). See note 1.24.								
											
Legal claims are calculated from the number of claims currently lodged with the NHS Litigation
Authority and the probabilities provided by them, there were no claims lodged against NHS Wirral
Clinical Commissioning Group during the year ended 31 March 2017 (2015/2016 - nil)

31. Contingencies

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has not agreed any contingencies as at 31 March 2017
(2015/2016 - nil).								

32. Capital Commitments

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any capital commitments as at 31 March
2017 (2015/2016 - nil).							

33. Financial Instruments
33.1 Financial Risk Management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have
had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
							
Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not
exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play
a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to
which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited
powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-today operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning
group in undertaking its activities.								
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters
defined formally within the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and
policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group and internal auditors.

33.1.1 Currency Risk
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great
majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and
therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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33.1.2 Interest Rates Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to
affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life
of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of
the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
							
33.1.3 Credit Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to
affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life
of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of
the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
							
33.1.4 Liquidity Risk
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits,
which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

33.2 Financial Assets
At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’

Loans and
Receivables

Available for
Sale

Total

2016-17

2016-17

2016-17

2016-17

£'000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
• NHS
• Non-NHS

0

0

0

0

0
0

390
1,643

0
0

390
1,643

Cash at bank and in hand

0

16

0

16

Other financial assets

0

3

0

3

Total at 31 March 2017

0

2,052

0

2,052

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’

Loans and
Receivables

Available for
Sale

Total

2015-16

2015-16

2015-16

2015-16

£'000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
• NHS
• Non-NHS

0

0

0

0

0
0

970
1,669

0
0

970
1,669

Cash at bank and in hand

0

7

0

7

Other financial assets

0

0

0

0

Total at 31 March 2016

0

2,646

0

2,646
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33.3 Financial Liabilities
At ‘fair value through
profit and loss’

Other

Total

2016-17

2016-17

2016-17

£'000
Embedded derivatives

0

0

0

• NHS

0

4,173

4,173

• Non-NHS

0

22,492

22,492

Private finance initiative, LIFT and
finance lease obligations

0

0

0

Other borrowings

0

0

0

Other financial liabilities

0

0

0

Total at 31 March 2017

0

26,665

26,665

At ‘fair value through
profit and loss’

Other

Total

2015-16

2015-16

2015-16

Payables:

£'000
Embedded derivatives

0

0

0

• NHS

0

6,373

6,373

• Non-NHS

0

19,480

19,480

Private finance initiative, LIFT and
finance lease obligations

0

0

0

Other borrowings

0

0

0

Other financial liabilities

0

0

0

Total at 31 March 2016

0

25,853

25,853

Payables:

34. Operating Segments

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) require financial performance to be analysed
across key decision making segments. NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group only have one
segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

35. Pooled Budgets

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group shares of the income and expenditure handled by the
pooled budget in the financial year were:
2015-16

2016-17
£000
Income
Expenditure

0

0

24,622

19,129
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In 2016-17 NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a s75 Agreement with the host
Wirral Council in line with the Government Initiative Better Care Fund. The above figure is NHS
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Groups contribution to the pooled fund. The total expenditure of the
joint pool is £29m (2015/16 - £27m).

36. NHS Lift Investments

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group had no LIFT investments as at 31 March 2017 (2015/2016
- nil).

37. Related Party Transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
Payments to
Related Party

Receipts
from Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related Party

Amounts due
from Related
Party

£’000
Dr Peter Naylor (Chair) - St
Georges Medical Centre
Dr Susan Wells (Medical
Director) - Marine Lake
Medical Centre
Dr Paula Cowan (Clinical
Lead) - Eastham Group
Practice
Dr Lax Ariaraj (Clinical Lead)
- Claughton Medical Centre
Dr Sian Stokes (Clinical
Lead) - The Village Medical
Centre
Dr Simon Delaney (Clinical
Lead) - Sunlight Group
Practice
Dr Helen Downs (Clinical
Lead) - Civic Medical Centre

542

0

8

0

180

0

12

0

192

0

16

0

564

0

11

0

85

0

4

0

116

0

5

0
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0

8

0

These transactions predominately relate to prescribing reimbursements and locally enhanced
services.					
The transactions do not include contractual income in relation to general or primary medical services
for GP's, these payments are the responsibility of NHS England.					
					
All locally enhanced service payments are subject to annual sign up from each practice, each
scheme is prior approved via the Clinical Commissioning Group approvals committee			
		
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning
group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department
is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are listed below:
NHS England;				
NHS Foundation Trusts;				
Aintree University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust				
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust
137

Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Cheshire And Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust
Greater Manchester West NHS Foundation Trust					
Liverpool Heart And Chest NHS Foundation Trust					
Liverpool Womens Hospital NHS Foundation Trust					
Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust					
South Staffordshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust					
The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust					
University Hospital Of South Manchester NHS Foundation Trust					
Warrington And Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust					
West Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust					
Wirral Community NHS FoundationTrust					
Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust					
Wrightington, Wigan & Leigh Hospital NHS Foundation Trust					
NHS Trusts; 				
Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust					
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust					
Royal Liverpool Broadgreen Hospitals NHS Trust					
St Helens And Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust					
NHS Litigation Authority; and,					
NHS Business Services Authority.					
NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit					
NHS Arden and Gem Commissioning Support Unit					
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other
government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions
have been with Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council in respect of joint funded packages of
care.

38. Events after the end of the Reporting
Period

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements
of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group or the consolidated group.

39. Third Party Assets

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any third party assets as at 31 March 2017
(2015/16 - nil).
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40. Financial Performance Targets

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act
2006 (as amended).
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2016-17

2016-17

Target

Performance

492,976

500,104

Capital resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions

0

0

Revenue resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions

492,518

499,646

Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

0

Revenue resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

Expenditure not to exceed income

Revenue administration resource
use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

Duty Met

2015-16

2015-16

Target

Performance

491,198

492,621

0

0

490,411

491,834

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

7,107

5,345

7,446

7,147

N

N

Y

Duty Met

N

N

Y

40.1 Financial out-turn position
2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

Target

Performance

Target

Performance

£000
Total Resource

492,518

492,518

490,411

490,411

Total Expenditure

492,124

499,646

485,588

491,834

(Surplus) / Deficit

(394)

7,128

(4,823)

1,423

41. Impact of IFRS

There was no IFRS impact on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2015/2016
- nil).

42. Analysis of Charitable Reserves

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group does not administer or hold any charitable funds/ reserves.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE
GOVERNING BODY OF NHS WIRRAL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Wirral CCG for the year ended
31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The
financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’
Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health Group Accounting
Manual 2016/17 (the “2016/17 GAM”) and the requirements of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012.
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Wirral
CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act and as set out in paragraph
43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published
by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the
CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the
Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities,
the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also
responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. Our
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice published by the
National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code
of Audit Practice”) and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical
Standards for Auditors. We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the
regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit
Practice as required by the Act.
As explained in the Governance Statement the Accountable Officer is responsible
for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use
of the CCG's resources. We are required under Section 21 (1)(c) of the Act to be
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report by exception
where we are not satisfied.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of
the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources are operating effectively

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the CCG’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
Accountable Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual
Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements
and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of
performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice,
having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller
and Auditor General in November 2016, as to whether the CCG had proper
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local
people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined these criteria as that
necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying
ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended
31 March 2017, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on
our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of NHS Wirral CCG as at 31 March 2017 and of its expenditure and
income for the year then ended; and
 the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by
the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the
requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
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Basis for qualified opinion on regularity
The CCG reported a deficit of £7.128 million in its financial statements for the year
ending 31 March 2017, thereby breaching its duty under the National Health
Service Act 2006, as amended by paragraph 223I of Section 27 of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012, to break even on its commissioning budget.
Qualified Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for
qualified opinion on regularity paragraph, in all material respects the expenditure
and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions in the financial
statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
 the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health Group
Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the requirements of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012; and
 the other information published together with the audited financial
statements in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the audited financial
statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if we refer a matter to the Secretary of State
under section 30 of the Act because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or
an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves
or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or
has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency.
On 8 February 2017 we referred a matter to the Secretary of State under section
30 of the Act in relation to NHS Wirral CCG planned breach of its revenue
resource limit for the year ending 31 March 2017.
We are required to report to you if we are not satisfied that the CCG has put in
place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources.
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Basis for qualified value for money conclusion
The CCG reported a deficit of £7.128 million in its financial statements for the year
ending 31 March 2017, which is a significant deterioration from the planned
£0.394 million surplus.
The deterioration in the CCG's financial position was due to the CCG delivering
£3.8million of efficiency savings compared to the £17.6 million savings target
agreed with NHS England. The CCG has not yet successfully addressed the
underlying deficit. The CCG is planning to breakeven in 2017/18 and the
challenge to achieve the required savings present a significant risk that the
planned position will not be achieved.
These issues are evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for planning
finances effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and
maintain statutory functions.
Qualified Value for Money Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller
& Auditor General in November 2016, except for the effects of the matter
described in the Basis for qualified value for money conclusion paragraph, we are
satisfied that, in all significant respects, NHS Wirral CCG has put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where we are
required to report by exception if:
 in our opinion the Governance Statement does not comply with the
guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board; or
 we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the
Act in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
 we have made a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of
the Act in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS
Wirral CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit
Practice.

Robin Baker
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS
26 May 2017
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